
























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































_ Omnicare approached Sandoz again in August, asking if Sandoz had enough supply
to meet the customer’s needs. The e-mail from Omnicare followed a flurry of phone calls
between Kellum and Hatosy of Greenstone only a few days prior, on August 14, 2014 (their first
calls since May 2014). After receiving the e-mail from Omnicare, CW-3 of Sandoz informed the
customer that Sandoz would not do anything that would disrupt the market.

iii. Latanoprost Drops

1353. Latanoprost, also known by the brand name Xalatan (manufactured by Defendant
Pfizer), is an ophthalmic solution, in the form of eye drops, used to treat high blood pressure
inside the eye due to glaucoma (open angle type) or other eye diseases including but not limited
to ocular hypertension. In 2013, the annual market for Latanoprost Drops in the United States
exceeded $100 million.

1354. As of March 2012, there were three generic manufacturers in the market for
Latanoprost Drops: Sandoz, Greenstone, and Valeant (sometimes referred to as Bausch & Lomb
(“B&L”)). Greenstone had the largest market share with 42%, followed by Valeant with 30%
and Sandoz with 19%. In April 2012, all three manufacturers raised their prices in direct
coordination with one another.

1355. In early April 2012, Greenstone informed its customers that it would be taking a
price increase on Latanoprost Drops. In the days and weeks leading up to the Greenstone price
increase notice, Robin Hatosy of Greenstone was coordinating with both Defendant Kellum of

Sandoz and B.P., a sales executive at Valeant, by phone and text message:

359



Date ﬂ Call Type Target Name ﬂ Dlrecﬂonn Contact Name ﬂ Time Duration i
3/1/2012 Voice Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Incoming  B.P. (Valeant) 12:35:30 0:00:00
3/1/2012 Voice Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Outgoing  B.P. (Valeant) 12:38:54 0:00:29
3/1/2012 Voice Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Outgoing  B.P. (Valeant) 12:39:39 0:00:46
3/5/2012 Voice Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Incoming  Kellum, Armando (Sandoz) 9:30:16 0:05:18

3/16/2012 Voice Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Outgoing  Kellum, Armando (Sandoz) 21:26:02 0:00:00

3/16/2012 Text Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Outgoing  Kellum, Armando (Sandoz) 21:27:11 0:00:00

3/17/2012 Text Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Outgoing  Kellum, Armando (Sandoz) 16:21:54 0:00:00

3/17/2012 Text Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Outgoing  Kellum, Armando (Sandoz) = 20:13:55 0:00:00

3/17/2012 Text Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Outgoing  Kellum, Armando (Sandoz) 21:08:36 0:00:00

3/30/2012 Text Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Outgoing  B.P. (Valeant) 11:07:59 0:00:00

3/30/2012 Text Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Outgoing  B.P. (Valeant) 12:03:57 0:00:00

3/30/2012 Text Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Outgoing  B.P. (Valeant) 12:07:02 0:00:00

3/30/2012 Text Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Outgoing  B.P. (Valeant) 12:11:17 0:00:00

3/30/2012 Text Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone)  Outgoing  B.P. (Valeant) 12:15:28 0:00:00

3/30/2012 Text Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Outgoing  B.P. (Valeant) 12:49:42 0:00:00

3/30/2012 Text Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Outgoing  B.P. (Valeant) 12:51:14 0:00:00

3/30/2012 Text Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) Outgoing  B.P. (Valeant} 12:52:14 0:00:00,

Hatosy consistently acted as the conduit, sharing information between Sandoz and Valeant in
order to secure an agreement from both to raise prices.

1356. On the day that Greenstone sent out the price increase notices, April 3, 2012, both
CVS and Walgreens approached Sandoz looking for a lower price on Latanoprost Drops. That

same day, Hatosy and Kellum exchanged five (5) text messages while Kellum replied internally

I cenine

Kellum instructed his sales team not to make any- for Latanoprost and to put the

product on _ Kellum also instructed S.G., one of his sales executives, to lie to

Walgreens about why Sandoz was unable to bid, instructing S.G. to -even though

Sandoz had plenty of supply.
1357. Sandoz immediately began preparing an increase of its own. On April 4, 2012,
Kellum called Hatosy but was unable to connect. He called her again on April 5, 2012, and the

two competitors spoke for nearly two (2) minutes.

360



1358. On April 6, 2012, Kellum requested a customer list from a colleague so that he

could begin calculating the financial impact of a Sandoz price increase. He also added the item

T ——————
_ After some quick calculations, Kellum determined that a Sandoz

increase on Latanoprost Drops could increase the company’s revenues by up to $14,900,000 per
year.
1359. In a presentation he created that same day to support the Latanoprost price

increase, Kellum was intentionally opaque about why Sandoz should take the increase, stating

o
_ But that was a lie. Kellum had first learned

of the Greenstone price increase directly from Hatosy, not a customer. In addition, the Valeant
price increase had not even happened yet. In fact, it would not be effective until April 24, 2012,
three weeks in the future; Kellum’s inside information instead came directly from his prior
conversations with his competitor, Greenstone.

1360. While he was in the midst of planning the Sandoz price increase on April 6, 2012,
Kellum also exchanged two (2) more text messages and had a nearly seven (7) minute call with

Hatosy of Greenstone. Hatosy, in turn, then called B.P. at Valeant and the two spoke for nearly

five (5) minutes. Later that evening, Kellum told colleagues: _

1361. Things moved quickly from there. On April 9, 2012, Defendant Kellum sent

around an agenda for the Pricing Committee meeting the next day. The agenda included

I ' : o calld Hatosy of Grccnstone b

was unable to reach her. Kellum quickly obtained approval for the Latanoprost price increase;
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customers were notified of the increase on April 11, 2012, and it became effective on April 13,
2012. As a result of this quick action, Sandoz’s price increase became effective even before
Greenstone’s.

1362. On April 12, 2012, a large retail pharmacy customer, Rite-Aid, sent Greenstone a
request for a bid on Latanoprost. Knowing that this was likely an indication that Sandoz had
followed Greenstone’s price increase, Hatosy (then using a different surname) forwarded the e-

mail directly to Kellum with an approving message:

1363. That same day, a different customer, Optisource, approached Sandoz — angry that

it was not notified in advance of Sandoz’s Latanoprost price increase. A Sandoz sales executive
told the customer that Sandoz was simply _ but Optisource
challenged that idea, saying that Valeant — which was also on a secondary contract with that
customer — had not raised its price. Questioning Defendant Kellum’s intel about the price

increases, a senior sales and pricing executive at Sandoz forwarded the e-mail string directly to

Defendant Kellum on Friday, April 13, 2012, asking: _ Kellum
immediately responded: _ Kellum’s understanding, of course — based on

his conversations with Hatosy — was that Valeant would be raising, or already had raised, its

price.
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1364. The following Monday, April 16, 2012, Kellum called Hatosy. She called him
back the next day, but they were unable to connect. On April 18 and 19, 2012, Hatosy and B.P.
of Valeant then communicated several times by phone and text message, including one call
lasting nearly fourteen (14) minutes.

1365. On April 24, 2012, Valeant raised its WAC pricing on Latanoprost to a point even
higher than Sandoz’s. That same day, B.P. of Valeant called Hatosy of Greenstone, likely to
report the news.

1366. Three price increases in the span of roughly three weeks caused a lot of customer
activity and confusion — which in turn required additional coordination among the three
manufacturers to make sure prices stayed high and the market remained stable. For the most
part, Sandoz tried to avoid taking any of its competitors’ customers after the price increases, but
it did want to pick up one customer to get closer to its “fair share” of the market.

1367. For example, on Friday May 4, 2012 — shortly after the Greenstone and Valeant
price increases became effective — Cardinal approached Sandoz with an opportunity to bid and
take the business with a lower price. Kellum called Hatosy that day, but they were unable to
connect. He called her again on Monday, and they spoke for more than six (6) minutes. They
spoke about Sandoz’s desire to obtain another customer, and which customer it should target.

Monday morning, before speaking to Hatosy, Kellum responded to the internal Sandoz e-mail

cayin.
_ The next day, after speaking to Hatosy, Kellum

followed up the e-mail, confirming that Sandoz should pass on Cardinal, stating_

i

363



agreement reached with Greenstone, Sandoz retained its secondary position with Cardinal,
instead of bidding for the primary position, and decided to wait until ABC put its Latanoprost
business out to bid and let Greenstone concede that customer instead.

1368. Around this same time, CW-1 started at Sandoz. He had previously worked with
Hatosy at a prior employer and thus had a pre-existing relationship with the Greenstone sales
executive. When some confusion arose later in May 2012 around the Cardinal business, Hatosy
communicated with both CW-1 and Defendant Kellum from Sandoz, as well as B.P. of Valeant,
in order to enforce the agreement already in place among the three manufacturers.

1369. For example, on the morning of May 31, 2012, B.P. of Valeant and Hatosy of
Greenstone exchanged one text message and had several phone calls of varying lengths. In the
midst of those communications with B.P., Hatosy was simultaneously communicating with CW-

1 of Sandoz using iPhone chat, resulting in the following message exchange:

As Hatosy explained to CW-1, Valeant (B&L) had the Cardinal business, not Greenstone, but
Cardinal was telling Valeant that Sandoz had a lower price in the market. Hatosy expressed the
need to call _[Kellum] because CW-1 had only recently started at Sandoz and thus did
not completely understand the scope of the prior collusive communications between Hatosy and
Defendant Kellum about the Latanoprost price increases.

1370. Immediately following this exchange, Hatosy did call Defendant Kellum, setting
off a flurry of calls between the three competitors that day, as set forth below:
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5/31/2012
5/31/2012
5/31/2012
5/31/2012
5/31/2012
5/31/2012
5/31/2012
5/31/2012
5/31/2012

Voice
Voice
Voice
Voice
Voice
Voice
Voice
Voice
Voice

Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone)
Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone)
Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone)
Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone)
Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone)
Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone)
Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone)
Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone)
Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone)

Outgoing
Outgoing
Outgoing
Outgoing
Incoming
Incoming
Outgoing
Outgoing
Outgoing

Kellum, Armando (Sandoz) 8:31:29
Kellum, Armando (Sandoz}  8:31:50

B.P. (Valeant) 8:34:24
B.P. (Valeant) 8:39:30
B.P. (Valeant) 8:43:46
B.P. (Valeant) 8:44:31
Kellum, Armando (Sandoz})  8:45:15
B.P. (Valeant) 9:17:22
B.P. (Valeant) 10:38:48

0:00:02
0:01:57
0:03:15
0:00:59
0:00:00
0:00:26
0:02:26
0:02:29
0:01:01,

1371. Over the next several weeks, Hatosy went to great lengths to make sure Sandoz

and Valeant lived up to their agreement to keep prices high across the board for Latanoprost. For

example, between June 26 and 28, 2012, Hatosy and B.P. of Valeant exchanged twelve (12) text

messages.

1372. After that series of communications, on June 29, 2012, Hatosy reached out again

to CW-1 via 1Phone chat:

At the exact same time that Hatosy was exchanging these iPhone chat messages with CW-1 at

Sandoz, she was also exchanging separate text messages with B.P. of Valeant.

1373. Those efforts were successful. On July 3, 2012, CW-1 followed up with Hatosy

via iPhone chat message confirming that Sandoz’s pricing for Latanoprost was not low at

Cardinal — or any other customer for that matter:
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Again, shortly after receiving this information from CW-1 about Sandoz’s pricing, Hatosy sent a

text message to B.P. at Valeant. They exchanged several other text messages that same day.

1374. Greenstone similarly lived up to its agreement to concede the ABC business to
Sandoz, allowing Sandoz to get closer to its “fair share” of the Latanoprost market. On June 22,
2012, ABC requested a bid from Sandoz on Latanoprost, as expected, due to the Greenstone
price increase. Consistent with the agreement, Greenstone quickly conceded the customer to
Sandoz, allowing Sandoz to obtain the business _

1375. As discussed above, this successful effort at price fixing convinced Kellum to
recommend further efforts at price fixing with Greenstone on various formulations of
Clindamycin beginning in August 2012, continuing through 2014. That history also paved the
way for yet another successful price fixing agreement between Sandoz and Greenstone on
Eplerenone Tablets, discussed below.

iv. Eplerenone Tablets

1376. Eplerenone, also known by the brand name Inspra, is an oral medication used
alone or in combination with other medicines to treat high blood pressure by blocking a chemical
(aldosterone) in your body which in turn lowers the amount of sodium and water the body

retains.
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1377. As of spring 2014, Sandoz and Greenstone were the only generic manufacturers
of Eplerenone Tablets.

1378. As discussed above, while Greenstone was coordinating with Sandoz in April
2014 to follow Sandoz’s price increases on various formulations of Clindamycin, it was also
coordinating to lead a price increase on Eplerenone Tablets.

1379. Originally, Greenstone planned its Eplerenone price increase to become effective
on May 1, 2014, but sometime in mid-April that increase was delayed. Shortly after the decision
was made to delay the Eplerenone price increase, on April 22, 2014, Nailor of Greenstone called
Defendant Kellum and left a message. They traded voicemails until they were able to speak the
next day for nearly fifteen (15) minutes.

1380. Greenstone planned its increases of Clindamycin and Eplerenone together, as it
was coordinating with Sandoz — and both increases ultimately became effective on June 2, 2014.
Shortly before the increases became effective, on May 29, 2014, Nailor of Greenstone called
Defendant Kellum of Sandoz, leaving him a twenty-six (26) second voicemail.

1381. Sandoz’s intent was always to follow Greenstone’s Eplerenone price increase,
rather than compete for market share. Sandoz began preparing to follow Greenstone’s
Eplerenone price increase in early July 2014. However, because of price protection terms with
several of Sandoz’s customers, the company decided to delay the roll-out of its Eplerenone price
increase (and several others) until it made more financial sense and Sandoz would be able to
limit any contractual penalties that would arise as a result of the increase.

1382. Ultimately, Sandoz followed Greenstone’s price increase on Eplerenone on
October 10, 2014. Sandoz increased its pricing by as much as 270% to certain customers.

During the time period after Greenstone’s price increase and before Sandoz could follow, the
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two competitors continued to coordinate by phone, including a number of calls between
Defendant Kellum and Hatosy of Greenstone in August 2014. Shortly after the Sandoz price
increase became effective, on October 15, 2014, Defendant Kellum and Nailor of Greenstone
also communicated briefly.

d. G&W And ItsOther Relationships

1383. Earlier Sections of this Complaint discuss in detail G&W’s collusion with several
competitors between 2010 and July 2012, when Sandoz acquired Fougera — including collusion
with Fougera, Perrigo, and Glenmark. Another Section focuses on collusion between Taro and
G&W in late 2015 and early 2016 on several products that G&W purchased from Teva.

1384. However, G&W’s illegal behavior goes well-beyond those examples. Indeed,
during the time period relevant to this Complaint, the vast majority of G&W’s business was
implicated by its anticompetitive conduct. Much of this collusion was spearheaded by
Defendants Orlofski and Vogel-Baylor. Both were prolific communicators that used their many
relationships with competitors to collude on overlap products.

1385. For example, between January 2011 and December 2016, when he left G&W,
Orlofski exchanged at least one thousand eight hundred and sixty-three (1,863) phone calls and
text messages with his contacts at Defendants Lupin, Aurobindo, Amneal, Wockhardt, Taro,
Glenmark, Perrigo, Fougera, Actavis, and Sandoz. These communications are detailed in the

chart below:
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Contact Name Ml Count [l Min Date Ml Max Date
Berthold, David (Lupin) 589  |4/4/2011 10/13/2016
Grauso, Jim (Aurobindo) 406 12/28/2011 1/20/2014
S.R.(1) (Amneal) 265  [8/29/2011 4/8/2016
M.C. (Wockhardt) 238 4/19/2011 12/27/2016
Perfetto, Mike (Taro) 136 1/25/2013 9/1/2016
Grauso, Jim (Glenmark) 66 2/12/2014 10/27/2016
S.K. (Perrigo) 56 1/20/2011 4/24/2012
Aprahamian, Ara (Taro) 45 7/24/2013 6/10/2016
Boothe, Douglas (Perrigo) 19 [1/25/2013 1/8/2015
K.K. (Wockhardt) 11 8/29/2011 8/30/2011
Taro Pharmaceuticals 11 3/22/2012 8/5/2014
Kaczmarek, Walt (Fougera) 4 2/8/2012 2/10/2012
Boyer, Andy (Actavis) 4 9/7/2012 7/22/2013
D.P. (Sandoz) 3 8/13/2013 8/13/2013
Wesolowski, John (Perrigo) 3 9/16/2014 9/16/2014
CW-6 (Aurobindo) 3 10/31/2012  |5/25/2013
CW-6 (Fo ugera) 2 2/1/2012 2/1/2012
B.S. (Taro) 1 4/24/2012 11/15/2012
C.V. (Perrigo) 1 6/1/2016 6/1/2016

1386. Similarly, between July 2011 and February 2017, Vogel-Baylor exchanged at
least nine thousand two hundred and seventy-four (9,274) phone calls and text messages with her
contacts at Defendants Aurobindo, Glenmark, Greenstone, Wockhardt, Actavis, Lupin, Amneal,
Perrigo, Fougera, Valeant, Taro, and Mylan. These communications are detailed in the chart

below:
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Contact Name Ml Count [l Min Date |l Max Date |
Grauso, Jim (Aurobindo) 2120 12/29/2011 1/30/2014
CW-5 (Glenmark) 2061 3/30/2012 2/21/2014
Hatosy, Robin (Greenstone) 1294 3/28/2012 4/22/2016
M.M. (Wockhardt) 1158 7/31/2011 10/22/2013
K.K. (Wockhardt) 868 7/29/2011 1/31/2014
Grauso, Jim (Glenmark) 692 2/4/2014 7/18/2016
Rogerson, Rick (Actavis) 438 8/8/2012 2/8/2017
Berthold, David (Lupin) 159 8/28/2011 4/16/2013
CW-6 (Aurobindo) 121 8/26/2012 5/3/2013
J.P. (Amneal) 113 3/26/2014 12/6/2016
T.P. (Perrigo) 94 7/8/2013|  4/29/2016
Brown, Jim (Glenmark) 56 5/7/2013 10/2/2015
S.R.(1) (Amneal) 24 5/15/2012|  5/16/2013
S.K. (Wockhardt) 16 9/14/2011 9/24/2012
M.C. (Wockhardt) 13 8/28/2011|  6/13/2012
CW-6 (Fougera) 12 5/18/2012 8/7/2012
B.P. (Valeant) 9 11/20/2013 11/25/2015
Aprahamian, Ara (Taro) 6 3/27/2014 9/24/2015
Aurobindo Pharma 6 1/17/2012 6/15/2012
J.K. (Aurobindo) 6 6/4/2013 7/17/2013
Glenmark Pharmaceuticals 2 3/14/2014 9/9/2015
D.l. (Glenmark) 2 3/3/2014 3/7/2014
Perfetto, Mike (Taro) 2 3/21/2014 3/21/2014
C.U. (Taro) 1 1/6/2016 1/6/2016
M.A. (Mylan) 1 5/20/2014]  5/20/2014]

of her competitive relationships.
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1387. At all relevant times herein, Defendant Vogel-Baylor was acting at the direction
of her supervisor, Defendant Orlofski. Orlofski was very much aware of her collusion with
competitors and encouraged her to do it. The Complaint is replete with examples of Vogel-
Baylor communicating with a competitor and then immediately calling Orlofski to report back

what she had learned. Indeed, Vogel-Baylor was evaluated, at least in part, based on the strength

1388. Vogel-Baylor also directed her subordinates to collude with competitors. For
example, in February 2014, G&W hired K.K., previously a sales executive at Defendant

Wockhardt. Immediately upon his arrival, K K. began colluding in earnest with his contact at



Sandoz, CW-3. Up to that point, no G&W employee had a relationship with anyone at Sandoz.
Although there had been a relationship with CW-6 of Fougera prior to the Sandoz acquisition,
his departure from the company left a gap. K.K.’s relationship with CW-3 filled this void.
1389. Although it was a smaller company, G&W celebrated the fact that it was selling
topical products, where it was able to form anticompetitive agreements with most of its primary
competitors. For example, in May 2013, Vogel-Baylor was asked to put together a report for
management regarding G&W’s sales goals for the coming year. After listing out a number of

G&W’s price increases from 2012 — all of which were the subject of collusion and are discussed

at various points throughout this Complaint — Vogel-Baylor concluded: _

1390. The following Sections focus on G&W'’s relationships with Defendants Perrigo,
Actavis, Glenmark, and Lupin, and discuss specific examples of how those anticompetitive
relationships manifested themselves with respect to particular products.

1) Collusion Between G& W And Perrigo

1391. As detailed above, after Sandoz’s acquisition of Fougera in July 2012, CW-6 left
Fougera and took a sales position at Defendant Aurobindo. Although Vogel-Baylor could no
longer use CW-6 to collude with regard to products on which G&W and Fougera overlapped, she
knew that CW-6 had a contact at another one of G&W’s key competitors — T.P. at Defendant
Perrigo. Over the next year, Vogel-Baylor and T.P. would use CW-6 as a conduit to pass
information between them and reach anticompetitive agreements with regard to a number of

products on which G&W and Perrigo overlapped.
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1392. This collusive relationship was critical because G&W overlapped with Perrigo on
more products than any other competitor during this time period.

1393. In May 2013, CW-6 suffered an illness and left the industry. With CW-6 no
longer available to serve as middleman, Defendant Vogel-Baylor had no choice but to collude
directly with T.P. of Perrigo. In July 2013, she placed her first calls ever to T.P. according to the
available phone records. Over the ensuing years, Vogel-Baylor and T.P. colluded on several
products that are discussed in detail below.

i. Halobetasol Propionate Cream and Ointment

1394. Halobetasol Propionate, also known by the brand name Ultravate, is a strong
corticosteroid used to treat a variety of skin conditions, including eczema, dermatitis, psoriasis,
and rash. Halobetasol comes in both cream and ointment form.

1395. As of June 2012, the market was split between Perrigo with 60% share and G&W
with 40%.

a) TheFirst Coordinated Price Increase
— September 2012

1396. On September 25, 2012, both G&W and Perrigo announced price increases for
Halobetasol Cream and Ointment. G&W’s price increases took effect on September 28, 2012
and Perrigo’s price increases took effect one month later on October 28, 2012.

1397. In the days leading up to the price increases, both Defendant Vogel-Baylor of
G&W and T.P. of Perrigo had numerous discussions with CW-6 of Aurobindo concerning
Halobetasol. Although Aurobindo did not manufacture either form of Halobetasol, Vogel-
Baylor and T.P. used CW-6 as a conduit to convey information between them about the price
increases. As discussed in detail above, CW-6 had formerly worked at Fougera and had

developed relationships with Vogel-Baylor and T.P. of Perrigo during his tenure there.
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1398. For instance, on September 19, 2012, less than one week before the price
increases, Vogel-Baylor exchanged three (3) text messages with CW-6. Then, CW-6 called
Vogel-Baylor, hung up, and immediately called T.P. After speaking with T.P., CW-6 hung up
and immediately called Vogel-Baylor back, relaying the information he had learned from T.P.
Indeed, within a twenty-minute period, CW-6 had exchanged at least eight calls with Vogel-

Baylor and T.P. These calls are detailed in the chart below:

Ml Target Name Ml Direction i Contact Name Ml Time | m
| 9/19/2012 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 10:16:11 0:00:00
| 9/19/2012 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 10:17:50 0:00:00/
9/19/2012 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 10:18:49 0:00:00
| 9/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 13:44:00 0:01:00/
9/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  13:45:00  0:04:00
9/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  T.P. (Perrigo) 13:48:00 0:04:00
9/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 13:52:00 0:03:00/
9/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  T.P. (Perrigo) 13:54:00 0:04:00
| 9/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 13:57:00 0:02:00
9/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Incoming  T.P. (Perrigo) 14:03:00 0:02:00/
| 9/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 14:04:00 0:02:00,

1399. After speaking with CW-6 for the final time on September 19, 2012, Vogel-
Baylor immediately called her boss, Defendant Orlofski and spoke to him for thirteen (13)
minutes. Similarly, T.P. also reported back to his boss, Defendant Wesolowski, a senior
executive at Perrigo, exchanging two calls with him totaling roughly six (6) minutes.

1400. Further, two days later, on September 21, 2012, and then again on September 27,
2012, the day before the G&W price increase went into effect, the same call pattern occurred.

These calls are detailed in the chart below:
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Call Typ _. Target Name : Contact Name

~9/21/2012  Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Incoming Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 6:30:00 0:03:00,
| 9/21/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  T.P. (Perrigo) _ 6:53:00  0:03:00|
~9/21/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 6:56:00 0:03:00,
| 9/21/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  T.P. (Perrigo) 6:58:00  0:01:00|
~9/21/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Qutgoing  T.P. (Perrigo) _ 7:04:00 0:02:00,
'_ 9/21/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 7:06:00 ommf
~ 9/21/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo)  Incoming  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 11:53:00 0:15:00,
| 9/27/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 4:02:00 0:04:005
~9/27/2012 Voice CW-6(Aurobindo) ~ Outgoing  T.P. (Perrigo) 4:06:00 0:01:00,
| 9/27/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Incoming  T.P. (Perrigo) _ 4:11:00  0:03:00|

9/27/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 4:16:00 0:03:00,

1401. In early November 2012, a customer reached out to G&W asking it to submit a
bid for Halobetasol Cream and Ointment because the customer believed its prices were
inconsistent with the market.

1402. After receiving the request, Vogel-Baylor had several calls with CW-6 who,
again, served as a conduit between Vogel-Baylor and T.P. to discuss Halobetasol. These calls

are detailed in the chart below:

_Date B caltypB  TargetName B DirectioBd contactNeme B Timeld puratiofd

11/6/2012  Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 6:03:00 0:03:00
11/6/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 6:05:00 0:05:00
11/6/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) _6:09:00 0:04:00
11/6/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 6:13:00 0:01:00
11/6/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 6:38:00 0:02:00
11/6/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Incoming T.P. (Perrigo) 6:41:00 0:01:00
11/6/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 6:42:00 0:03:00,

1403. After this call exchange, Vogel-Baylor sent the following directive to C.M., a
sales executive at G&W, instructing him to submit a cover bid to the customer in order to create

a false appearance of competition between G&W and Perrigo:
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b) The Second Coordinated Price Increase —
March/April 2013

1404. The competitors colluded to raise the price of Halobetasol again in 2013. This
time, there were multiple channels of communication between the competitors. For example, on
March 26, 2013, Defendant Boothe of Perrigo called Defendant Orlofski of G&W directly and
they spoke for seven (7) minutes. That same day, T.P. of Perrigo once again called CW-6. The
call lasted two (2) minutes. Right after that call, CW-6 called Vogel-Baylor. That call lasted one
(1) minute.

1405. The next day, on March 27, 2013, Perrigo increased its WAC pricing for
Halobetasol Cream and Ointment by over 250%.

1406. Roughly two (2) weeks later, on April 11, 2013, G&W also increased its contract
and WAC pricing for the two formulations. G&W's contract price was now double what it had
been just the year before.

1407. G&W told one of its customers, Morris & Dickson, that G&W increased prices in
_ Indeed, in the days leading up to the
G&W price increase, Vogel-Baylor and T.P. had again engaged in a game of telephone with
CW-6 to coordinate their pricing actions. After speaking with T.P. for four (4) minutes on April
8, 2013, CW-6 immediately called Vogel-Baylor. The call lasted one (1) minute. CW-6 then
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called Vogel-Baylor a short while later and they spoke for four (4) minutes. Immediately after
that call, Vogel-Baylor called her boss, Defendant Orlofski. The call lasted a little over one (1)
minute.
¢) Sandoz Launches Halobetasol Cream
1408. In December 2013, Sandoz began preparing to re-launch Halobetasol Cream. At

that time, G&W had 63% of the market and Perrigo had 36%. Sandoz was targeting 20% market

share. Because G&W was the market share leader, Sandoz wanted to _

1409. On December 11, 2013, A.S., a senior Sandoz launch executive, instructed
Sandoz employees to reach out to Rite-Aid and Walgreens to learn who their suppliers were for
Halobetasol Cream and what their pricing was. Upon learning that both customers were with
G&W — the market share leader — Sandoz decided to target those customers.

1410. On December 12, 2013, Walgreens reached out to G&W to advise that Sandoz
had expressed interest in its Halobetasol Cream business. When Vogel-Baylor shared this
information with Orlofski, he remarked that G&W _
_ Although Sandoz submitted a bid for Halobetasol on December 16, 2013,
Walgreens declined to move the business because the price was slightly higher than G&W's
price.

1411. On December 17, 2013, another one of G&W's customers, Ahold, informed

G&W that it had received a bid from Sandoz and was now seeking a lower price from G&W.

Vogel-Baylor e-mailed Orlofsk satin. |
I O <sponded by
asking Vogel-Baylor to call him, noting _ Later
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that day, Rite Aid also e-mailed Vogel-Baylor stating that Sandoz had submitted a bid for
Halobetasol Cream and requested that G&W lower its price to retain the business.

1412. Vogel-Baylor tried calling Orlofski three times on December 17, 2013. After the
third call, Vogel-Baylor called T.P. of Perrigo and they spoke for more than seven (7) minutes.’
Vogel-Baylor hung up with T.P. and called Orlofski again. Orlofski returned her call later that
day and they spoke for five (5) minutes.

1413. After speaking with Orlofski, Vogel-Baylor e-mailed Rite-Aid stating, -

I i acccpied Sandoz's offr

the next day.

1414. At the same time that Sandoz was going after G&W’s Halobetasol customers, it
was also approaching some Perrigo customers as well, albeit in coordination with Perrigo. On
December 17, 2013, CW-1, a senior Sandoz pricing executive, e-mailed CW-3, a senior Sandoz
sales executive, asking him to inquire whether Wal-Mart, a Perrigo customer, was interested in
receiving a bid from Sandoz for Halobetasol Cream. CW-3 happened to be meeting with Wal-
Mart at that time at its offices in Bentonville, Arkansas.

1415. Wal-Mart told CW-3 that it was interested in receiving an offer. Thereafter, CW-
3 called T.P. of Perrigo. During that call, T.P. provided CW-3 with Perrigo’s price points for
Halobetasol Cream at Wal-Mart and Omnicare and agreed to give up Wal-Mart to Sandoz. CW-

3 took the following contemporaneous notes in his Notebook during that call:

% As detailed above, by this time, CW-6 had left the industry and Vogel-Baylor had begun
colluding with T.P. of Perrigo directly with regard to products on which G&W and Perrigo
overlapped.
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1416. Also on December 17, 2013, CW-3 responded to an e-mail exchange with CW-1

and Defendant Kellum regarding Halobetasol Cream, stating: _

1417. Two days later, on December 19, 2013, CW-3 called T.P. again. The call lasted

one (1) minute. After hanging up, CW-3 called CW-1, and they spoke for four (4) minutes. That
same day, Sandoz sent offers to Wal-Mart and Omnicare. The next day, on December 20, 2014,

K.K., a senior Sandoz launch executive, followed up with CW-3 regarding the Wal-Mart offer.

w3 respondec. I

1418. That same day, Defendant Boothe of Perrigo called Defendant Orlofski of G&W.
The call lasted two (2) minutes. Orlofski returned the call a half hour later and they spoke for
eleven (11) minutes. Later that day, Orlofski called Vogel-Baylor and they spoke for more than
seventeen (17) minutes.

1419. On January 8, 2014, CW-3 called T.P. of Perrigo. The call lasted one (1) minute.

Later that day, Wal-Mart accepted Sandoz's bid for Halobetasol Cream. CW-3 forwarded the

acceptance to his supervisor, CW-1, who asked, _ CW-3 replied in
two separate e-mails sent simultaneously: - and_

1420. The next day, on January 9, 2014, CW-1 and CW-3 agreed that_
_ That same day, CW-3 called T.P. and they spoke for more than fifteen (15)

minutes.
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1421. In early February 2014, K.K. joined G&W as a Director of Sales & Marketing. '
Once at G&W, K.K. wasted no time using his competitor contacts at Sandoz — CW-3 and CW-4
— to coordinate regarding Halobetasol.

1422. On February 18, 2014, K.K. of G&W e-mailed Defendant Vogel-Baylor stating
that Sandoz had bid on Halobetasol at Walgreens again and the customer was providing G&W
with an opportunity to bid to retain the business. Less, than an hour later, Vogel-Baylor called
T.P. at Perrigo and K.K. called CW-3 at Sandoz to coordinate a response. The calls lasted one
(1) minute and two (2) minutes, respectively. Immediately after hanging up, K.K. sent Vogel-

Baylor the following e-mail:

1423. After receiving the e-mail, Vogel-Baylor called K.K. He returned the call and
they spoke for sixteen (16) minutes. Immediately after hanging up with K.K., Vogel-Baylor sent
a text message to T.P. of Perrigo. Later that day, K.K. sent the following e-mail to Vogel-

Baylor:

10 The K.K. referenced in this Complaint that joined G&W in February 2014 is a different
individual than the K.K. of Sandoz identified previously in this Section.

379



1424. Two days later, on February 20, 2014, K.K. had still not heard back from CW-3
and so he reached out to his other contact at Sandoz, CW-4, and the competitors spoke for four
(4) minutes. Immediately after hanging up, K.K. called Vogel-Baylor and they spoke for four
(4) minutes. Later that morning, Vogel-Baylor and K.K. exchanged two (2) more calls lasting
thirteen (13) minutes and three (3) minutes, respectively. Upon hanging up with Vogel-Baylor,

K K. sent an internal e-mail, including to Vogel-Baylor, stating:

1425. Vogel-Baylor later responded: _

1426. A few minutes after receiving K.K.’s e-mail, Vogel-Baylor sent a text message to

T.P. of Perrigo. A half hour later, she called T.P. and they spoke for more than seven (7)
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minutes. At around the same time, CW-3 of Sandoz called K.K. and they spoke for (8) minutes.
Immediately after hanging up with CW-3, K.K. called Vogel-Baylor to report back what he had
learned. That call lasted nineteen (19) minutes.

1427. Later that afternoon, Vogel-Baylor called her supervisor, Defendant Orlofski, to
apprise him of the situation and they spoke for twenty-one (21) minutes. Upon hanging up,
Vogel-Baylor called K.K. and they spoke for nearly twelve (12) minutes. Immediately after
talking to K.K., Vogel-Baylor called T.P. of Perrigo one more time that day. The call lasted less
than one (1) minute.

1428. That evening, after his conversation with G&W, CW-3 also sent the following e-

mail to CW-1:

Within a half hour of receiving the e-mail, CW-1 called CW-3 and they spoke for twenty (20)
minutes.

1429. The next morning, on February 21, 2014, CW-3 and CW-1 spoke again for
fourteen (14) minutes. CW-3 hung up and immediately called K.K. of G&W. The call lasted
one (1) minute. Immediately after that call, K.K. called Vogel-Baylor. The call lasted one (1)

minute. That same day, K.K. sent the following response to Walgreens:

381



Walgreens had accounted for over one third of G&W’s total market share for Halobetasol
Cream.

d) TaroLaunchesHalobetasol Cream
and Ointment

1430. In mid-March 2014, Taro was making plans to re-launch Halobetasol Cream and
Ointment. Although its launch was ultimately delayed until May 2014 due to issues relating to
the FDA, Defendant Aprahamian called Vogel-Baylor on March 27, 2014 and they spoke for
fourteen (14) minutes. Notably, this was the first phone call ever between these two competitors,
according to the available phone records. Four days later, on March 31, 2014, Vogel-Baylor
called Aprahamian and they spoke for over five (5) minutes.

1431. On May 13, 2014, Taro re-entered the Halobetasol Cream and Ointment markets
and published WAC pricing that matched its competitors. In the days leading up to the re-
launch, all four competitors were speaking frequently by phone. At least some of those calls are

detailed in the chart below:
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Date. B call Type B Target Name M Direction  Bd Contact Name = ration &
5/7/2014  Voice Aprahamian, Ara (Taro) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 0:04:00
5/7/2014  \oice Aprahamian, Ara (Taro) Incoming Vogel-Baylor, Erika (GBW) 7:57:00 0:14:00
5/8/2014  \oice CW-3 (Sandoz) Outgoing K.K. (G&W) 8:23:00 0:05:00
5/8/2014  \Voice CW-3 (Sandoz) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 8:28:00 0:02:00
5/8/2014  \Voice CW-3 (Sandoz) Outgoing K.K. (G&W) 8:30:00 0:01:00
5/8/2014  Voice CW-3 (Sandoz) Outgoing K.K. (G&W) 8:31:00 0:01:00
5/8/2014  Voice K.K. (G&W) Outgoing CW-3 (Sandoz) 8:39:00 0:01:00
5/9/2014  Voice Aprahamian, Ara (Taro) Outgoing Wesolowski, John (Perrigo) 7:18:00 0:01:00
5/9/2014 \Voice Aprahamian, Ara (Taro) Outgoing Wesolowski, John (Perrigo) 7:24:00 0:02:00,

1432. After the phone calls detailed above, Aprahamian would not speak to Vogel-
Baylor again until September 2015. Similarly, the two calls between Aprahamian and Defendant
Wesolowski of Perrigo are the only calls ever exchanged between the two competitors, according
to the available phone records.

1433. On May 11, 2014, Defendant Aprahamian circulated a Fact Sheet including
details regarding the Halobetasol re-launch. Taro stated ‘rhat_

_ The Fact Sheet detailed the following market share

breakdown and set Taro's target market shall goal at 15%:

1434. On June 10, 2014, Aprahamian instructed a colleague to put together offers for

Halobetasol at Publix (a G&W and Perrigo customer) and HD Smith (a Perrigo customer).
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day, Defendant Perfetto of Taro exchanged three (3) text messages with Defendant Orlofski of
G&W.

1435. On June 11, 2014, Vogel-Baylor called T.P. of Perrigo. The call lasted one (1)
minute. The next day, on June 12, 2014, HD Smith informed Taro that Perrigo had proactively
revised its pricing shortly after Taro submitted the bid and asked Taro to lower its bid to win the
business.

1436. On June 17, 2014, Defendant Boothe of Perrigo called a Taro employee on his

office line.!! The call lasted forty-five (45) minutes. Later that day, A.L., a Taro pricing

executive, sent an internal e-mail stating, _
_ The next day, June 18, 2014, Perfetto called Boothe.

That call lasted two (2) minutes.

1437. Around that same time, G&W employees were having a similar exchange over e-

mail. On June 17, 2014, K.K. sent an internal e-mail to Orlofski stating: _

1438. On June 18, 2014, Orlofski sent a text message to Perfetto and also called him.
The call lasted two (2) minutes. The next morning, on June 19, 2014, Orlofski replied to K.K.'s
e-mai st [

1" As detailed above, Taro employees do not have their own individual extensions and calls from
their office lines appear in the phone records as the Taro main company number. Given the
history of conduct between the two, this Taro employee was likely Defendant Perfetto.

384



_ K.K. then sent an internal e-mail directing that

G&W should cede the Publix and Morris & Dickson accounts to Taro. As K.K. explained to his
coteagucs, it vas [
1439. On June 20, 2014, Orlofski exchanged two text messages and two calls with
Perfetto, including one call lasting nearly thirty-eight (38) minutes.
1440. At the same time, G&W was also careful not to take any steps that would throw
off its market share balance with Perrigo. For example, on June 18, 2014, HEB, a Perrigo

customer, asked G&W to bid on their Halobetasol business. K.K. responded, _

ii.  Prochlorperazine Maleate Suppositories

1441. Prochlorperazine Maleate Suppositories ("Prochlorperazine"), also known by the
brand names Compro and Compazine, are used to treat nausea and vomiting.

1442. Since at least 2011, G&W and Perrigo have been the only generic suppliers of
Prochlorperazine. Throughout 2011 and 2012, G&W and Perrigo priced Prochlorperazine
similarly and maintained a virtually even split of the market.

1443. In mid-January 2013, Perrigo hired Defendant Boothe as an executive. On
January 25, 2013, Defendant Orlofski called Boothe for the first time ever, according to the
available phone records.

1444. A little over one month later, on Friday, March 1, 2013, Boothe and Orlofski met
for lunch at an Italian restaurant, Al Dente Ristorante, in Piscataway, New Jersey.

1445. The next business day, on Monday, March 4, 2013, Orlofski met with Vogel-

Baylor in his office at 1:00 p.m. Later that same day, Vogel-Baylor sent an internal e-mail to
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M.S., a sales analyst at G&W, asking her to run sales reports on Prochlorperazine in anticipation
of a price increase. M.S. provided the requested information to Vogel-Baylor on March 5, 2013.

1446. On March 7, 2013, Vogel-Baylor e-mailed Orlofski a price increase analysis for
Prochlorperazine. Vogel-Baylor recommended increasing WAC pricing by 200% from $35.66
to $106.98.

1447. On March 19, 2013, G&W implemented the 200% increase. That same day,
Defendant Orlofski called Defendant Boothe. The two competitors would exchange two more
phone calls later that day, including one call lasting six (6) minutes. These were the first calls
exchanged between Orlofksi and Boothe since their lunch on March 1, 2013, according to the
available phone records. Orlofski and Boothe would exchange one text message and one more
phone call in March 2013 and would not communicate by phone again until August 30, 2013,
according to the available phone records.

1448. On April 11, 2013, Perrigo announced it would also be increasing its WAC price
for Prochlorperazine by 200% from $34.85 to $104.55. However, Perrigo waited to notify its
customers of the specific changes to its contract pricing until after attending the NACDS 2013
annual meeting.

1449. The NACDS 2013 annual meeting was held at the Sands Expo Convention Center
in Palm Beach, Florida between April 20 and April 23, 2013. Defendants Boothe, Orlofksi, and
Vogel-Baylor attended the conference and had many opportunities to meet in person to discuss
the Prochlorperazine increases at various programming and social events.

1450. For example, on Sunday, April 21, 2013, Boothe and Orlofski had dinner together
with W.S., a representative of Defendant Pfizer. That same evening, Boothe and Orlofski also

attended a wine tasting hosted by Upsher-Smith. Also on Sunday, Vogel-Baylor told a potential
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GPO customer that G&W would need to understand who its incumbent supplier was for
Prochlorperazine, among other drugs, before participating in a bid for new business.

1451. Over the next several days, Perrigo sent out price increase notices to its customers
for Prochlorperazine specifying its new contract pricing.

1452. On May 7, 2013, Associated Pharmacies, a Perrigo customer, e-mailed C. M., a
sales executive at G& W, asking for a bid on Prochlorperazine. C.M. declined to bid on the new

business, responding:

1453. Although G&W turned away this business, a few months later it would take the
customer back in retaliation against Perrigo for taking its Target business through McKesson's
One Stop program. After trading these accounts, the competitors fell back in line with the
agreement. By the fall of 2013, the Prochlorperazine Suppositories market was again virtually
evenly split between Perrigo and G&W.

iii. Ciclopirox Solution

1454. Ciclopirox Solution, also known by the brand names Penlac and Ciclodan, is an
antifungal medication used to treat fungal infections of the fingemails and toenails.

1455. As of January 2013, Perrigo and G&W were the two dominant suppliers of

Ciclopirox Solution, with 46% and 41% share of the market, respectively. Sandoz had 7% share
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and the remaining 5% of the market was split among Hi-Tech, Harris Pharmaceutical,'* and
Versapharm.

1456. Between April 20 and April 23, 2013, representatives from Perrigo, G&W, and
Sandoz attended the NACDS 2013 Annual Meeting in Palm Beach, Florida ("NACDS 2013").
During the conference, the attendees had many opportunities to interact with each other at
various programming and social events.

1457. Defendant Vogel-Baylor was among the attendees at NACDS 2013. Immediately
upon returning from the conference, on April 24, 2013, Vogel-Baylor prepared a price increase
analysis for Ciclopirox Solution and e-mailed it to Defendant Orlofski and R.G., a senior G&W
executive. Vogel-Baylor proposed increasing WAC pricing by 132% — from $16.00 to $37.15.
According to the analysis, the increase would result in over $7.6 million in additional sales

revenue to G&W annually. R.G. was excited at the prospect of this large price increase, replying

to the e-mail:

1458. The following Monday, April 29, 2013, Vogel-Baylor coordinated on the price
increase with competitors Perrigo and Sandoz. Vogel-Baylor used CW-6 (then at Aurobindo) as
a messenger to communicate with both T.P. of Perrigo and CW-3 of Sandoz. As discussed
above, Vogel-Baylor often used CW-6 as a conduit to convey competitively sensitive
information to competitors — even on products that Aurobindo did not sell.

1459. As detailed further in the chart below, Vogel-Baylor had an early morning phone

call with CW-6 on April 29, 2013 that lasted four (4) minutes. After that call ended, CW-6

12 Harris obtains its supply from G&W.
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immediately called T.P. and then CW-3. The phone calls between CW-6 and Vogel-Baylor,

T.P., and CW-3 continued throughout the day, and included at least the following calls:

4/29/2013 Voice

* CW-6 (Aurobindo)

- v I
i

butgoiﬁg . ifogel—BavIdf; Erika (G&W)

4/29/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  T.P. (Perrigo) 9:13:00
4/29/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing CW-3 (Sandoz) 9:14:00
4/29/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  9:17:.00
4/29/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Qutgoing CW-3 (Sandoz) 9:29:00
4/29/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Incoming  T.P. (Perrigo) 9:56:00
4/29/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  9:58:00
4/29/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) OQutgoing  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 12:10:19
4/29/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 13:19:58

9:09:00

1460. After the flurry of calls on April 29, 2013, Vogel-Baylor e-mailed J.G., an
operations manager at G&W, advising him that she would know the next day whether G&W was
going to be able to increase price on Ciclopirox Solution.

1461. The phone calls between the competitors continued throughout the next day and

on May 1, 2013, and included at least the following calls:

Date T | ~ B¢ = - fiif Bl ( 3 me il [

4/30/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing CW-3 (Sandoz) 5:36:00

4/30/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Incoming CW-3 (Sandoz) 5:38:00 0:03:00

4/30/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing CW-3 (Sandoz) 5:45:00 0:02:00
5/1/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing CW-6 (Aurobindo) 10:13:36 0:00:03
5/1/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 12:20:00 0:02:00
5/1/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 12:22:00 0:01:00

1462. On April 30, 2013, while speaking with CW-6, CW-3 made the following
contemporaneous note in his Notebook detailing the amount of the proposed G&W price

increase:

1463. Also on April 30, 2013 CW-3 called his superior at Sandoz, Defendant Kellum,

five times.
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1464. After her calls with CW-6 on May 1, 2013, Vogel-Baylor confirmed to J.G. that
G&W would increase the price of Ciclopirox Solution and directed her sales team to start
drafting price increase letters to customers.

1465. On Tuesday, May 7, 2013, Vogel-Baylor and G&W sales representatives began
informing customers about the price increases. Several customers noted that although the
product was available from other manufacturers for a lower price, the customer would wait to see
what the market did before making G&W a secondary supplier. One customer remarked that
product pricing had gotten too low and hoped that more manufacturers would increase pricing.
Another customer thanked C.M., a G&W sales executive, for calling him about the price increase

before sending the letter and C.M. responded:

When the customer told C.M. he should_ C.M. responded:

1466. On May 8, 2013, Vogel-Baylor e-mailed her- L.S., an account manager at
the customer Ahold, to tell her that G&W was implementing a price increase on Ciclopirox
Solution. Ahold was not G&W's customer for the product. Vogel-Baylor wrote that L.S. should
_ as a price increase on this product from Ahold’s supplier_

1467. By the end of the day on May 9, 2013, G&W's customer Rite Aid had sought a
bid from Sandoz for Ciclopirox Solution as a result of the G&W price increase.

1468. CW-4, a Sandoz senior sales executive, received Rite Aid's bid request and
forwarded it to Defendant Kellum with the message . Kellum responded that the bid request

was due to a price increase. C.P., a pricing analyst at Sandoz, asked whether Sandoz should bid
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for the business or_ Kellum replied, _ Accordingly, Sandoz

did not submit a bid for this business.

1469. While G&W was in the midst of its price increase on Ciclopirox Solution, CW-6
left the industry and was no longer available to serve as a conduit between the competitors.
Going forward, Vogel-Baylor would need to collude with T.P. directly and use him as a conduit
to collude with CW-3 of Sandoz.

1470. On July 30, 2013, T.P. had a thirteen (13) minute call with CW-3 of Sandoz and

exchanged five (5) phone calls with Vogel-Baylor. These calls are detailed in the chart below:

7/30/2013 Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Incoming  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  3:38:00 0:03:00
7/30/2013 Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  4:19:00 0:01:00
7/30/2013 Voice CW-3 (Sandoz) Outgoing  T.P. (Perrigo) 7:09:00 0:13:00
7/30/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing  T.P. (Perrigo) 8:58:06 0:02:33
7/30/2013 Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Incoming  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  9:29:00 0:10:00
7/30/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing  T.P. (Perrigo) 14:29:07 0:09:05

1471. That same day, Perrigo prepared price increase letters for Ciclopirox Solution.
Two days later, on August 1, 2013, Perrigo raised its WAC pricing by 60% -- from $15.00 to
$24.00.

1472. On August 5, 2013, Perrigo's customer Kroger reached out to Vogel-Baylor and
asked if G&W would like to bid on Ciclopirox Solution. Vogel-Baylor declined the opportunity,
explaining to the customer that it is currently a _ and G&W -

1473. Later in August, Versapharm, a small player with under 1% of the Ciclopirox
Solution market, submitted a bid to Cardinal, a G&W customer. Cardinal reached out to Vogel-
Baylor to ask G&W to lower its price. Vogel-Baylor wanted to keep the business but also
thought, consistent with fair share principles, that she may need to give it up to VersaPharm
because of its low share. Vogel-Baylor asked Orlofski, her supervisor, for his direction on this.

Orlofski decided G&W should retain the business, but should use the customer to convey a
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message to its competitor VersaPharm explaining the fair share understanding and the rules of

engagement between generic manufacturers:

1474. Consistent with Orlofski's recommendation, Vogel-Baylor lowered Cardinal's

price on Ciclopirox Solution and sent Cardinal the following e-mail:

iv. Hydrocortisone Acetate Suppositories (Anucort HC)

1475. Hydrocortisone Acetate Suppositories (“Hydrocortisone Acetate”), also known by
the G&W brand name Anucort-HC, are used to treat itching or swelling caused by hemorrhoids
as well as ulcerative colitis, proctitis, and other inflammatory conditions of the intestines,
rectum, or anus. Hydrocortisone Acetate is a corticosteroid.

1476. During the time period relevant to this Complaint, Hydrocortisone Acetate was
G&W'’s top-selling product. As of January 2016, the 25mg formulation of Hydrocortisone
Acetate accounted for nearly half of all of G&W’s moving annual sales, totaling more than
$119.7 million. Similarly, Hydrocortisone Acetate was Perrigo’s second-best selling product.
During that same time period, Perrigo’s moving annual sales for the 25mg and 30mg

formulations accounted for approximately $78.3 million of Perrigo’s total sales.
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1477. 1In 2013, the Hydrocortisone Acetate market was split between G&W with 41%
market share, Perrigo with 32%, and County Line Pharmaceuticals ("County Line") with 25%.
However, by late June 2013, County Line made the decision to exit the market for
Hydrocortisone Acetate.

1478. County Line's exit created an opportunity for Perrigo and G&W to collude to
significantly raise the price of Hydrocortisone Acetate in July 2013, and then again one year later
in July 2014.

1479. On June 25, 2013, Defendant Vogel-Baylor of G&W e-mailed Wal-Mart, a
County Line customer, stating that she had heard that County Line was discontinuing
Hydrocortisone Acetate and asked whether Wal-Mart was interested in a new supplier.

1480. Similarly, on June 26, 2013, ABC, also a County Line customer, e-mailed G&W

requesting a bid on Hydrocortisone Acetate due to a_ Vogel-Baylor
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1481. Between June 27 and June 30, 2013, representatives from Perrigo and G&W,
including Vogel-Baylor, attended the annual trade show, McKesson ideaShare, at the Venetian
hotel in Las Vegas, Nevada.

1482. While at the trade show, on June 27, 2013, Vogel-Baylor received a call from
S.S., a sales executive at Perrigo. The call lasted approximately one (1) minute. A few hours

later, Vogel-Baylor called Orlofski and they spoke for nearly fifteen (15) minutes. Shortly
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thereafter, Vogel-Baylor sent an internal e-mail to her team notifying them that G&W would be
implementing a price increase for Hydrocortisone Acetate and requesting that they draft
customer notifications to that effect. The price increase included a 200% increase to WAC and
would result in an estimated $27.9 million in increased sales for G&W.

1483. J.G., an operations manager at G&W, responded to Vogel-Baylor's e-mail stating,

I ich Vozcl-Baylor
responded: [N

1484. The next day, on June 28, 2013, Vogel-Baylor contacted Orlofski three more
times from the trade show, including exchanging two (2) text messages and one call lasting more
than nineteen (19) minutes.

1485. On July 8, 2013, T.P. of Perrigo and Vogel-Baylor exchanged two (2) calls and
then connected for a call lasting more than seven (7) minutes, during which they coordinated
their price increases on Hydrocortisone Acetate. After that call, both T.P. of Perrigo and Vogel-
Baylor reported the substance of their conversations back to their supervisors. Immediately upon
hanging up with T.P., Vogel-Baylor called Defendant Orlofski and they spoke for more than six
(6) minutes. Similarly, T.P. called Defendant Wesolowski three (3) times after speaking with
Vogel-Baylor, including two calls lasting one (1) minute and a third lasting six (6) minutes.

1486. The G&W price increases on Hydrocortisone Acetate went into effect on July 9,
2013. That same day, Perrigo issued a product announcement notifying its customers that it was
also increasing its pricing on Hydrocortisone Acetate effective July 11, 2013. Perrigo increased
its WAC by 473% on the 25mg formulation to essentially match G&W's WAC. That same day,

July 11, 2013, T.P. of Perrigo called Vogel-Baylor. The call lasted one (1) minute.
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1487. Also on July 11, 2013, ABC e-mailed Vogel-Baylor asking G&W to lower its
dead net pricing for Hydrocortisone Acetate to match Perrigo’s slightly lower dead net pricing.
Vogel-Baylor forwarded the request to Orlofski who responded: _ Vogel-Baylor
replied, _ Later that day, Vogel-Baylor responded to ABC and declined to
lower its pricing.

1488. On July 19, 2013, Harvard Drug Group e-mailed Vogel-Baylor asking why G&W

was increasing its price on Hydrocortisone Acetate. Vogel-Baylor replied: _
1489. Several months later, on April 9, 2014, K.K., a G&W sales executive, e-mailed

Vogel-Baylor regarding bidding on several products at Kaiser, including Hydrocortisone

Acetate. Vogel-Baylor responded that G&W could not disrupt the market and pursue the

customer, easonin that Kaiscr

1490. On June 11, 2014, Vogel-Baylor e-mailed Orlofski recommending that G&W
increase McKesson's contract pricing for Hydrocortisone Acetate. That same day, Vogel-Baylor
called T.P. of Perrigo. The call lasted less than one (1) minute. Two days later, on June 13,
2014, Vogel-Baylor tried to reach T.P. again by phone. The call lasted less than one (1) minute.

1491. Less than a week later, on June 26, 2014, Perrigo generated its own internal price
increase analysis for Hydrocortisone Acetate. The analysis assumed zero percent unit loss as a

result of the planned increase.
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1492. On July 22, 2014, Perrigo notified its customers that it was increasing pricing on a
list of products, including Hydrocortisone Acetate. This included a 235% increase to WAC for
its 25mg formulation, effective on July 24, 2014.

1493. At the time the increase was announced, representatives from Perrigo and G&W,
including Vogel-Baylor, attended the annual trade show, McKesson ideaShare, at the Gaylord
Palms Hotel in Orlando, FL.

1494. Over the next several days, G&W heard from multiple customers that Perrigo had
increased pricing on Hydrocortisone Acetate.

1495. In accordance with their ongoing understanding to follow each other’s price
increases, and consistent with past practice on this product and others, G&W went to work
implementing a comparable price increase of its own.

1496. On July 29 and July 30, 2014, Vogel-Baylor and Orlofski exchanged e-mails
finalizing the details of the price increase for Hydrocortisone Acetate. The increase included an
increase to WAC for the 25mg, 12 count bottle that essentially matched Perrigo pricing.

1497. Also on July 30, 2014, Vogel-Baylor learned of pricing that Perrigo had offered to

Schnucks and sent a text message to her superiors: _
1498. The next day, on July 31, 2014, A.G., a senior G&W executive, e-mailed Vogel-

Baylor staine: [

S e —
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1499. The next day, on August 1, 2014, G&W began notifying its customers of the price

increase on Hydrocortisone Acetate. Vogel-Baylor sent an internal e-mail advising the team

sent out a second wave of letters to additional customers on August 5, 2014.

1500. The increase included a 200% increase to WAC for all three package sizes.
According to an internal analysis, G&W projected an increase in Hydrocortisone Acetate sales
from $41.3 million to $111.3 million as a result of the increase, or a total of $70 million in sales.

1501. The two competitors continued to coordinate after the price increases. On August
11,2014, T.P. of Perrigo called Vogel-Baylor and they spoke for more than sixteen (16) minutes.
One week later, on August 18, 2014, Vogel-Baylor called T.P. and they spoke for more than ten
(10) minutes.

1502. Several customers did not react kindly to the increase. For example, when Vogel-
Baylor e-mailed Econdisc to notify the customer of the price increase, Econdisc responded by

stating that G&W’s conduct was _ Similarly, after learning of the

increase, Schnucks sent the following e-mail to Vogel-Baylor:
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2) Collusion Between G& W And Actavis

1503. Vogel-Baylor met Rick Rogerson, a senior pricing executive at Defendant
Actavis, while attending the NACDS Pharmacy and Technology Conference in Denver,

Colorado, from August 25 to August 28, 2012.

1504. After returning from the NACDS conference, Rogerson sent Vogel-Baylor an e-

mail on August 30, 2012, st [
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1505. Later that same day, on August 30, 2012, Vogel-Baylor called Rogerson and they
spoke for seventeen (17) minutes. Over the ensuing months, the two competitors stayed in
regular contact and colluded to raise prices on Promethazine HCL Suppositories twice — once in
late 2012 and again in 2013. The collusion on this product is discussed in detail below.

i. Promethazine HCL Suppositories

1506. Promethazine HCL, also known by the brand name Promethegan, is an
antihistamine that is used to treat some allergies, nausea, and vomiting. In late 2012 and early
2013, the competitors in the market for Promethazine HCL were Actavis, Perrigo, and G&W.

1507. Starting in late August 2012 — around the same time that Defendant Vogel-Baylor
first met Rogerson at Actavis — G&W began planning a price increase for Promethazine HCL.
Prior to implementing that increase, and as it had done on other products, G&W reached out to
its competitors to coordinate plans.

1508. On September 18, 2012, Vogel-Baylor sent an internal e-mail to M.S., a sales
analyst at G&W, asking her to prepare a spreadsheet containing Promethazine sales data for the
price increase. That same day, Vogel-Baylor also responded to a request from her boss,
Defendant Orlofski, asking who the incumbent manufacturers were for the major wholesalers.

Vogel-Baylor stated that G&W was the incumbent at ABC and Cardinal and Actavis supplied

McKesson. The next day, on September 19, 2012, Orlofski replied: _

1509. Meanwhile, Vogel-Baylor was actively communicating with Rogerson of Actavis
regarding the increases. Indeed, on September 18, 2012 alone, Vogel-Baylor exchanged thirty-

four (34) text messages with Rogerson.
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1510. Similarly, on September 19, 2012, Vogel-Baylor used her contact at Aurobindo,
CW-6, as a conduit to communicate with T.P. of Perrigo, the other competitor on Promethazine
HCL. This call pattern is detailed in the chart below. Notably, these are the same calls that
Vogel-Baylor used to convey information regarding the price increase on Halobetasol, another
product on which Perrigo and G&W overlapped, which was happening at the same time. The

collusion on Halobetasol is discussed in detail in an earlier Section.

19/19/2012 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing  CW-6(Aurobindo) 10:16:11 0:00:00
| 9/15/2012 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming  CW-6(Aurobindo) 10:17:50 0:00:00|
19/19/2012 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing  CW-6(Aurobindo) 10:18:49 0:00:00
9/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 13:44:00 0:01:00
9/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 13:45:00 0:04:00
19/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  T.P. (Perrigo) 13:48:00 0:04:00|
9/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 13:52:00 0:03:00
9/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  T.P.(Perrigo) 13:54:00 0:04:00,
19/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 13:57:00 0:02:00
19/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Incoming  T.P. (Perrigo) 14:03:00 0:02:00|
9/19/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 14:04:00 0:02:00,

1511. After speaking with CW-6 for the final time on September 19, 2012, Vogel-
Baylor immediately called her boss, Defendant Orlofski, and spoke to him for thirteen (13)
minutes.

1512. While Vogel-Baylor was communicating with T.P. of Perrigo through her contact
CW-6, T.P. was also communicating directly with M.D., a sales executive at Actavis, and
reporting that information back to his superior, Defendant Wesolowski. This call pattern,

including the calls between T.P. and CW-6, are detailed in the chart below:

m; Call Type Bd Target Name & Direction Bd Contact Name LMLML

9/19/2012 Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Outgoing M.D. {Actavis] _ 13:38:00 0:11:00
1 9/19/2012 Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Incoming CW-6 (Aurobindo) 13:48:00 0:04:00
19/19/2012 Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Incoming  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 13:54:00 0:04:00
9/19/2012 Voice T.P. (Perrigo] Outgoing Wesolowski, John (Perrigo) 13:58:00 0:02:00|
9/19/2012 Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Outgoing Wesolowski, John (Perrigo) 13:59:00 0:04:00
9/19/2012 Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Outgoing CW-6 (Aurobindo) 13:02:00 0:02:00,
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1513. Over the next week, G&W worked to finalize its price increase for Promethazine
HCL. On September 21, 2012, Vogel-Baylor forwarded her initial price increase analysis to
Orlofski and scheduled a one-on-one meeting to discuss it on September 24, 2012. Two days
later, on September 26, 2012, Vogel-Baylor e-mailed a revised price increase analysis to Orlofski
and, after obtaining his approval, e-mailed that analysis to the team on September 28, 2012. In
her e-mail, Vogel-Baylor informed the team that they were to send out their price increase
notices to customers on October 5, 2013.

1514. Throughout this time period, Vogel-Baylor stayed in constant communication
with Rogerson at Actavis. For example, between September 25, 2012 and October 5, 2012 — the
day the price increase notices were sent — Vogel-Baylor exchanged thirty-eight (38) text
messages with Rogerson. Similarly, Vogel-Baylor continued to keep T.P. of Perrigo informed of

G&W's plans through her conduit CW-6. This call pattern is detailed in the chart below:

9/21/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Incoming Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 6:30:00 0:03:00
9/21/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 6:53:00 0:03:00
9/21/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Qutgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 6:56:00 0:03:00
9/21/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) ‘Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 6:58:00 0:01:00
| 9/21/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 7:04:00 0:02:00
9/21/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) QOutgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 7:06:00 0:02:00
9/21/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Incoming Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 11:53:00 0:15:00
9/27/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 4:02:00 0:04:00
9/27/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 4:06:00 0:01:00
| 9/27/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Incoming T.P. (Perrigo) 4:11:00 0:03:00
9/27/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Qutgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 4:16:00 0:03:00
10/5/2012 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing CW-6 (Aurobindo) 5:30:01 0:01:41
10/5/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 5:38:00 0:02:00
10/5/2012 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 5:35:00 0:06:00,

1515. On October 8, 2012, G&W published mmcreased WAC pricing for Promethazine

HCL, which included an 18% increase on the 25mg dosage and a 35% increase on the 12.5mg
dosage.
1516. Perrigo followed suit on December 4, 2012, when it notified customers that it

would be increasing contract pricing on Promethazine HCL effective January 5, 2013. Similarly,
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on February 12, 2013 and April 3, 2013, Actavis also followed and increased its WAC pricing to
match G&W on the 12.5mg and 25mg dosages, respectively. On February 12, 2013, Rogerson
called Vogel-Baylor and they spoke for nearly twenty-two (22) minutes.

1517. The competitors were not satisfied to stop there, however. Knowing now that all
three competitors were on board to increase prices, they began contemplating a second increase
on Promethazine HCL — and this time, it would be much larger.

1518. On March 25, 2013, M.S., a sales analyst at G&W, forwarded Vogel-Baylor
updated sales data for Promethazine HCL. That same day, Orlofski of G&W sent a text message
to Defendant Boothe, an executive at Perrigo. The next day, on March 26, 2013, Boothe called
Orlofski back and they spoke for six (6) minutes. Similarly, Vogel-Baylor continued to
communicate with T.P. of Perrigo through her conduit, CW-6, about Promethazine HCL. These

calls are detailed in the chart below:

T, e/ Target Name Bd Direction Ml Contact Name i Time A e
' 3/26/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing CW-6 (Aurobindo) 12:59:51 0:00:15
3/26/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 13:21:57 0:06:46
' 3/26/2013 Voice CW-6 [Aurobindc} Outgoing T.P.'[Pern'go] 13:28:00 0:01:00
3/26/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Incoming  T.P. (Perrigo) 17:33:00 0:02:00
' 3/26/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 17:36:00 0:01:00
3/27/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 120:04:10  0:00:00
3/27/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming CW~5{Aurobindo] 20:05:10 0:01:37
3/28/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 18:19:55 0:00:03
3/28/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  TP.(Perrigo) 18:41:00  0:05:00
3/ 28_;_"20_1_3 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 18:46:00 0:01:00,

1519. On March 28, 2013, the same day as the last calls listed above, Vogel-Baylor

finalized a price increase analysis for Promethazine HCL and, on April 1, 2013, she forwarded

that information to Orlofski. Vogel-Baylor and Orlofski discussed some revisions to the analysis

and, on April 10, 2013, Vogel-Baylor sent the revised analysis to Orlofski. G&W planned to

implement the price increase on April 15, 2013, but ultimately sent the notices on April 16, 2013.
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1520. Meanwhile, all three competitors continued to coordinate their plans on
Promethazine HCL. Vogel-Baylor of G&W was speaking with Rogerson at Actavis, while T.P.

at Perrigo was speaking to M.D. at Actavis. These calls are detailed in the chart below:

|Date Bl Call Type &l Target Name il Direction Bl Contact Name Bdl Time [l Duration ;'

4/1/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  Incoming Rogerson, Rick (Actavis) 15:11:49 0:00:26
4/3/2013 Text 'Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  Outgoing Rogerson, Rick (Actavis) - 13:51:41 0:00:00|
4/4/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  Outgoing  Rogerson, Rick (Actavis) 13:55:41  0:01:30
4/4/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  Incoming  Rogerson, Rick (Actavis) 17:33:07 0:00:00
4/4/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  Incoming  Rogerson, Rick (Actavis) 19:32:16 0:00:00
4/11/2013 Voice 'Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  Outgoing Rogerson, Rick (Actavis) 13:51:47 0:08:15!
4/11/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (GBW)  Outgoing  Rogerson, Rick (Actavis) 13:51:47  0:08:15
| 4/11/2013 Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Outgoing M.D. (Actavis) 7:35:00 0:01:00/
4/12/2013 Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Outgoing M.D. (Actavis) 13:12:00 0:25:00,

1521. At the same time, Vogel-Baylor continued to use CW-6 as a conduit to

communicate with T.P. of Perrigo regarding Promethazine HCL. This call pattern 1s detailed in

the chart below:

Date B Call Type M TargetName B pirection M ContactName M 1ime K Duration id
4/4/2013 Voice _CW-6 (Aurobindo) Incoming Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 11:37:55 0:07:00
4/5/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 13:25:00 0:01:00
4/5/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming CW-6 (Aurobindo) 13:30:28 0:00:00
4/5/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing CW-6 (Aurobindo) 13:36:07 0:00:00
4/5/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 16:44:00 0:01:00
4/8/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  Outgoing CW-6 (Aurobindo) 11:59:40 0:00:00
4/8/2013 Voice ~ CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 12:00:00  0:04:00
4/8/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 12:03:00 0:01:00
4/8/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing CW-6 (Aurobindo) 12:18:02 0:00:03
4/8/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing CW-6 (Aurobindo) 12:23:18 0:00:00
4/8/2013 Voice  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  Outgoing  CW-6(Aurobindo) 123624 0:00:03
4/8/2013 Voice ___ CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing _ Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  12:53:00  0:04:00
4/8/2013 Voice (W6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G8&W) 132600 0:02:00
4/9/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing __ T.P. (Perrigo) 11:08.00 __0:04:00

4/11/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing CW-6 (Aurobindo) 13:50:56 0:00:29

4/11/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 14:00:00 0:06:00

4/11/2013 Voice _ CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 14:09:00  0:01:00

4{11/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing T.P. {Perrigo) 16:52:00 0:06:00

4/11/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 16:59:00  0:01:00

4/11/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Incoming Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) - 17:05:00 0:02:00,

1522. According to the plan, on April 17, 2013 G&W published new WAC pricing for
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1523. Around the time of the increase, G&W received an e-mail from a potential new

customer seeking pricing on a list of products, including Promethazine HCL. M.S. forwarded

the request o Vogel-Balor who respouded. |

1524. A few weeks later, Actavis followed G&W's price increase on Promethazine HCL
and, on June 5, 2013, published WAC pricing that matched G&W. Prior to mcreasing its price,
and as it had now done several times before, Actavis spoke with both G&W and Perrigo. These

calls are detailed in the chart below:

5/29/2013 Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Outgoing M.D. (Actavis) 9:09:00 0:01:00
5/29/2013 Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Incoming M.D. (Actavis) 12:12:00 0:02:00
5/29/2013 Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Incoming M.D. (Actavis) 12:14:00 0:05:00
5/29/2013 Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Incoming M.D. (Actavis) 12:15:00 0:02:00
5/31/2013 Voice M.D. (Actavis) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 4:04:00 0:09:00
5/31/2013 Voice M.D. (Actavis) Incoming T.P. (Perrigo) 8:38:00 0:07:00

6/3/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming Rogerson, Rick (Actavis) 12:00:52 0:14:17

6/4/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming Rogerson, Rick (Actavis) 11:10:30 0:12:16,

1525. On June 26, 2013, Vogel-Baylor e-mailed Orlofski to advise him that G&W had

received Cardinal's 2013 RFP. Vogel-Baylor explained, _

_ The next day, Vogel-Baylor received a short phone call

from S.S., a sales executive at Perrigo. Several hours later, Vogel-Baylor placed a phone call to
Orlofski.

1526. G&W had no reason to fear because a few weeks later, on July 30, 2013, Perrigo
notified its customers that it was increasing price on a list of products, including Promethazine

HCL, with an effective date of August 1, 2013. This included an increase to its WAC pricing
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that matched G&W and Actavis. In the days leading up to Perrigo’s price increase, the three

competitors again spoke several times by phone. These calls are detailed in the chart below:

7/29/2013  Voice  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing  Rogerson, Rick (Actavis) 0:01:11
7/30/2013  Voice  T.P. (Perrigo) Incoming  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 0:03:00
7/30/2013 Voice T.P.(Perrigo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (GR&W) 0:01:00
7/30/2013  Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 0:02:33
7/30/2013 Voice  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming  T.P. (Perrigo) 0:00:00
7/30/2013  Voice  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing  T.P. (Perrigo) 0:09:06
7/31/2013  Voice T.P. (Perrigo) Outgoing  M.D. (Actavis) 0:01:00
7/31/2013  Voice T.P.(Perrigo) Outgoing  M.D. (Actavis) 0:01:00
7/31/2013  Voice  T.P. (Perrigo) Incoming  M.D. (Actavis) 0:21:00,

1527. Several months later, the collusion continued on Promethazine HCL. On March
5,2014, K. K., a G&W sales executive, informed Vogel-Baylor that Walgreens had received an
offer from Actavis for a one time buy on the 25mg dosage at a significantly discounted price of
$42.08. G&W would later learn that Actavis had made the offer because it had an excess of
short-dated inventory on the 25mg dosage. This information stunned Vogel-Baylor, who asked

1528. Despite her initial surprise, Vogel-Baylor confidently reported to Orlofski: -

-To make good on her promise, Vogel-Baylor placed a call to Rogerson fifteen (15)
minutes later. The two competitors continued to trade phone calls over the next several days,
including a call on March 6, 2014 that lasted eleven (11) minutes.

1529. Apparently, Vogel-Baylor’s communications with Rogerson did yield a solution
to her problem. On March 18, 2014, she e-mailed Walgreens to advise the customer that G&W
lowered its price on Promethazine HCL. Aware that the details of her interactions with

Rogerson would be incriminating 1f reduced to writing, Vogel-Baylor offered only a vague

statement to the customr: || N
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1530. Over the next several months, G&W would continue to decline to bid on new
opportunities for Promethazine HCL so as not to upset the market share balance it had achieved
with its competitors.

1531. For example, on May 5, 2014, L.C., a sales executive at G&W, summed up
G&W’s commitment to playing nice in the sandbox when she told a customer, PBA Health, that
she wanted to identify opportunities for Promethazine HCL (and other drugs) only if she could

do so_ Similarly, on May 30, 2014, Vogel-Baylor

instructed M.S. not to bid on the Promethazine HCL business at another customer, IPC, because
August 8, 2014, Vogel-Baylor told K.K. that prior to bidding on Promethazine HCL at Humana,
G&W would need to know who the incumbent was and whether there was a right of first refusal
reasoning it was [

1532. Lastly, on August 25, 2014, McKesson — an Actavis customer — e-mailed K.K.
asking if G&W would like to bid on Promethazine HCL. K.K. knew that G&W would not bid,
but in an effort to get the story straight, asked Vogel-Baylor if he should provide the pre-textual

justification that G&W was at capacity. Vogel-Baylor approved that messaging in a response on

August 25, 2014 satin: |

3) Collusion Between G& W And Glenmark
1533. As detailed above in an earlier Section, Defendant Vogel-Baylor of G&W had a
long-standing relationship with CW-5, a senior executive at Defendant Glenmark, and the

competitors used that relationship to fix prices on Ciclopirox Cream in April 2012.
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1534. One year later, on May 16, 2013, Glenmark increased pricing on at least eighteen
(18) different products, including Ciclopirox Cream and various formulations of Mometasone
Furoate that were also manufactured by G&W.!* The anticompetitive conduct relating to those
products is discussed in further detail below.

i.  Ciclopirox Cream and Mometasone Furoate

1535. Ciclopirox Olamine Cream, also known by the brand name Loprox, is an
antifungal medicine that prevents fungus from growing on your skin. Ciclopirox Cream is used
to treat skin infections such as athlete’s foot and ringworm.

1536. As of May 2013, the primary competitors for Ciclopirox Cream were Glenmark
with 44% market share, Perrigo with 38%, and G&W with 16%.

1537. Mometasone Furoate (“Mometasone”), also known by the brand name Elocon, is
a medium-strength corticosteroid used to treat skin conditions such as eczema, psoriasis,
allergies, and rashes. Mometasone is available in several forms, including cream, ointment, and
solution.

1538. As of May 2013, the same three competitors — Glenmark, Perrigo, and G&W —

controlled a majority of the market share on the various formulations of Mometasone.

13 Notably, while Glenmark was colluding with G&W on these products, CW-5 and his
colleagues were also colluding with competitors on other products on its price increase list. For
example, several of the products — Moexipril HCL Tablets, Moexipril HCL/HCTZ Tablets,
Nabumetone Tablets, Pravastatin Sodium Tablets, and Ranitidine Tablets — overlapped with
Teva and are the subject of the Plaintiff States’ Teva Complaint. In that Complaint, the Plaintiff
States allege that Nisha Patel, a Teva sales executive, colluded with CW-5 and J.C., a sales
executive at Glenmark, to significantly raise prices on those products. Similarly, Glenmark’s list
included Alclometasone Dipropionate Cream — a product that Glenmark overlapped on with Taro
that is discussed earlier in this Complaint. As discussed above, Defendant Blashinsky, a sales
executive at Glenmark, colluded with Defendant Aprahamian and D.S., a sales executive at Taro,
to raise prices on that product.
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1539. Beginning as early as May 2, 2013, Glenmark began communicating with its
competitors, mncluding G&W, to coordinate its May 2013 price increases. Over the next several
weeks, CW-5 and Jim Brown, a senior sales executive at Glenmark, had multiple calls with
Vogel-Baylor of G&W during which they discussed and agreed to increase prices on Ciclopirox
Cream and the various formulations of Mometasone. Notably, prior to these calls, Vogel-Baylor
had never spoken to Brown before, according to the available phone records. These calls are

detailed in the chart below:

Call Typddl Target Name Bl Contact Name
5/2/2013  Voice  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  Incoming  CW-5 (Glenmark) 18:10:31 0:00:33
5/6/2013 Voice  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming  CW-5 (Glenmark) 9:00:46 10:00:00
5/6/2013 Voice  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing CW-5 (Glenmark) 9:00:48 0:00:51
5/7/2013 Voice .Vogei-Ba_onrf Erika [G&W] Incom iﬁg .Bmwn,.Jim_ (Glenmark) 13:57:00 0:00:00
5/7/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing Brown, Jim (Glenmark) 15:27:37 0:02:50
5/7/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming Brown, Jim (Glenmark) 16:01:30 0:00:00
5/7/2013 Voice  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming  Brown, Jim (Glenmark) 16:05:56 0:03:42
5/ 7/ 2013 \f_c_li_l_:e nge_!_-_B_a ylor, Erii(_a l_tG_&‘N_] Incoming Brown,__]ifr\ _{Gienm:_e rk) 16 :_2_?":_03 10:00:55
5/13/2013 Text  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing  CW-5 (Glenmark) 17:32:13 0:00:00
5/13/2013 Text  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing  CW-5 (Glenmark) 17:32:14 0:00:00
5/13/2013 Text  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing  CW-5 (Glenmark) 18:26:47 0:00:00
5/14/2013 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming Brown, Jim (Glenmark) 11:18:55 0:00:40
5/15/2013 Voice  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing ‘Brown, Jim (Glenmark) 12:04:27 0:00:14
5/15/2013  Voice  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  Outgoing  Brown, Jim (Glenmark) 12:05:28  0:05:07
_5.,(16.{20_13 Voice Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Outgoing Brown, Jim (Glenmark) 12:12:12 0:06:33)

1540. Similarly, Vogel-Baylor, as she had done in the past, used her contact, CW-6 —
then at Aurobindo — to communicate with T.P. of Perrigo regarding the increases. As discussed
above, CW-6 had formerly worked at Fougera and developed relationships with Vogel-Baylor
and T.P. of Perrigo during his tenure there. At this time, G&W and Aurobindo had no products
that overlapped and CW-6 and Vogel-Baylor were not social friends. These communications are

detailed in the chart below:
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Date [~ | Call Typ&dl Target Name il Direction [l Contact Name il Time B '

5/3/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming CW-6 (Aurobindo) 7:43:12 0:00:00
5/3/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 7:45:35 0:00:00|
5/3/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming CW-6 (Aurobindo) 7:47:58 0:00:00
5/3/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 7:50:22 0:00:00|
5/3/2013 Text  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 7:52:45 10:00:00
5/3/2013 Text  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming CW-6 (Aurobindo) | 7:55:08 0:00:00|
5/3/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming CW-6 (Aurobindo) 8:05:32 0:00:00
5/3/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming CW-6 (Aurobindo) 8:18:21 0:00:00
5/3/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming CW-6 (Aurobindo) 8:20:44 0:00:00-
5/3/2013  Text  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 8:23:08  0:00:00)
5/3/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 8:25:31 0:00:00
5/3/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming CW-6 (Aurobindo) 8:27:54 0:00:00|
5/3/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming CW-6 (Aurobindo) 8:30:19 0:00:00
5/3/2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) Incoming  CW-6 (Aurobindo) 8:40:42 0:00:00|
5{_3[2013 Text Vogel-Baylor, Erika [G&W] Incoming CW-6 [Aurobi-ndo_]. 8.:_50:43 0:00:00
5/3/2013  Voice  CW-6(Aurobindo) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 12:47:00  0:01:00,
5/3/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 12:48:00 0:02:00
5/3/2013 Voice CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing T.P. (Perrigo) 12:50:00 0:01:00
5/3/2013 Vioice  CW-6 (Aurobindo) Incoming  T.P. (Perrigo) 13:02:00 10:07:00
5/3/2013 = Voice  CW-6 (Aurobindo) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 13:09:00 0:06:00|

1541. As aresult of these conversations, Glenmark increased prices on Ciclopirox
Cream and Mometasone Cream, Ointment, and Solution on May 16, 2013. Soon thereafter,
G&W would follow with comparable increases of its own on Ciclopirox Cream and the various
formulations of Mometasone and Perrigo would follow with an increase on Ciclopirox Cream.

1542. Over the next several weeks, G&W consistently declined opportunities to reduce
pricing on the various formulations of Mometasone so as not to take advantage of the Glenmark
price increases.

1543. For example, on May 15, 2013 — the day before the Glenmark price increases
would become effective and publicly visible — C.M., a G&W sales executive, e-mailed Vogel-
Baylor to inform her that ANDA was requesting decreased pricing on several products because
the prices were higher than their competitors. The list included Mometasone Solution and listed
Glenmark’s pre-increase pricing for Cardinal as the comparison price point. Knowing that
Glenmark was increasing pricing on this product, Vogel-Baylor advised C.M. that G&W would

not lower its pricing.
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1544. Similarly, on May 17, 2013, the day after the Glenmark increases became
effective, McKesson sent G&W a request for a bid on Mometasone Ointment because it
_ Vogel-Baylor asked the customer who
its incumbent was, and McKesson responded that it was Glenmark. Immediately upon receiving
this response, Vogel-Baylor called CW-5 of Glenmark. The call lasted less than one (1) minute.
She then hung up and called Brown of Glenmark. That call lasted less than one (1) minute.
Fifteen minutes later, Brown called Vogel-Baylor back and they spoke for twelve (12) minutes.
Later that day, Vogel-Baylor responded to McKesson and declined the opportunity, stating -
I

1545. The next business day, on May 20, 2013, C.M. e-mailed Vogel-Baylor asking,
I
I occ!-Baylor responded by

sending the following e-mail to C.M. and others on the sales team:
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1546. Later that day, ANDA e-mailed C.M. asking if G&W was interested in bidding on
Ciclopirox Cream. Because G&W had slightly less than its fair share of the Ciclopirox Cream
market, C.M. responded: _ ANDA
provided the usage information and, the next day, on May 22, 2013, C.M. forwarded the request

to Vogel-Baylor, along with some additional bid requests it had received from other customers

on other products. With regard to Ciclopirox Cream, C.M. stated: _
e
responcec: [

1547. On May 23, 2013, Vogel-Baylor e-mailed price increase analyses for Ciclopirox
Cream and the Mometasone line to her supervisor, Defendant Orlofski. The next day, May 24,
2013, Vogel-Baylor called CW-5 at Glenmark twice. The calls lasted less than one (1) minute
each.

1548. On May 29, 2013, Vogel-Baylor exchanged five (5) calls with CW-5 and Brown
of Glenmark. That same day, G&W finalized its price increase notifications for Ciclopirox

Cream to send to its customers, including Publix and Wal-Mart. Vogel-Baylor sent an internal e-

mail tothe eam satin:
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1549. Also on May 29, 2013, Target e-mailed C.M. of G&W stating that the customer

had received a 250% price increase on another drug, Halobetasol, and asking whether C.M.

could provide any insight into why. C.M. responded, _

1550. On May 30 and May 31, 2013, Brown called Vogel-Baylor twice. The calls
lasted four (4) minutes and less than one (1) minute, respectively.

1551. On June 4, 2013, G&W sent price increase notifications to its customers regarding
the various Mometasone formulations. That same day, Vogel-Baylor called Brown. The call
lasted less than one (1) minute.

1552. On June 5, 2013, Pharmacy Select e-mailed C.M. regarding the notification and

asked him to provide new WAC pricing for the Mometasone line of products. C.M. forwarded

the request to Vogel-Baylor asking, _ Vogel-Baylor
responcec.

1553. G&W and Glenmark continued to coordinate even after their price increases. For
example, on June 5, 2013, Rite Aid, a G&W customer for Mometasone, asked Glenmark
whether it wanted to bid for the business because G&W had increased price. The next day, on
June 6, 2013, Brown of Glenmark called Vogel-Baylor and they spoke for six (6) minutes. On
June 7, 2013, Vogel-Baylor called Brown back. The call lasted less than one (1) minute. That

same day, CW-5 e-mailed his colleagues Brown and Defendant Blashinsky regarding the Rite

id opporunity statin I s onc.:
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1554. After preparing the bid for Rite Aid, Brown e-mailed CW-5 and Blashinsky on
Saturday, June 8, 2013 stating: _ The
following Monday, on June 10, 2013, Brown called Vogel-Baylor. Vogel-Baylor returned the
call and they spoke for more than six (6) minutes. Within ten (10) minutes of hanging up, and
having confirmed the pricing with his competitor, Brown e-mailed his colleagues with specific
price points that Glenmark should use to bid high and not take the Rite Aid business from G&W.

4) Collusion Between G&W And Lupin

1555. Defendant Orlofski of G&W had a long-standing relationship with David
Berthold, a senior sales executive at Defendant Lupin. Indeed, as detailed above, it was Berthold
who introduced Orlofski and Vogel-Baylor to CW-6 of Fougera. This connection allowed G&W
and Fougera to continue their collusive relationship even after CW-6’s contact, Defendant
Grauso, had left G&W to take a senior position at Aurobindo.

1556. Notably, G&W and Lupin only overlapped on one product — Ethambutol HCL
Tablets — during the time period relevant to this Complaint. However, that did not stop the
competitors from using their relationship to collude on that product. This collusion is discussed
in further detail below.

i.  Ethambutol HCL Tablets

1557. Ethambutol HCL Tablets (“Ethambutol”), also known by the brand name
Myambutol, is a drug used to treat tuberculosis. In 2012, G&W marketed the authorized generic
of Ethambutol for the manufacturer, STI Pharma (“STI”), and Lupin, VersaPharm, and Teva sold
the generic version.

1558. By late 2012 and early 2013, however, both VersaPharm and Teva were

experiencing supply issues on Ethambutol. Viewing this as an opportunity, Lupin and G&W

413



colluded to significantly raise price on the product while their competitors were out of the
market.

1559. In November and December 2012, Defendants Orlofski and Vogel-Baylor of
G&W exchanged several calls with David Berthold of Lupin to discuss Ethambutol. At the same
time, Berthold was keeping Kevin Green, a sales executive at Teva, apprised of his discussions
with G&W.

1560. For example, on November 15, 2012, Orlofski exchanged at least eight (8) text
messages with Berthold. The next day, on November 16, 2012, Orlofski and Berthold spoke for
nearly twelve (12) minutes. Shortly thereafter, Berthold spoke three separate times with Green,
with the calls lasting five (5) minutes, ten (10) minutes, and five (5) minutes, respectively.

1561. That same day, G&W reached out to several VersaPharm customers, including
Econdisc, HealthTrust, and FW Kerr, to inquire whether they were interested in a new supplier
for Ethambutol due to VersaPharm’s supply issues.

1562. Over the next month, Berthold would continue to exchange numerous calls and
text messages with Vogel-Baylor and Orlofski during which they discussed a coordinated price

increase on Ethambutol. These communications are detailed in the chart below:
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Date il Call Type Rl Target Name il Contact Name il Time B Duration B

11/18/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 18:48:29 0:00:00
11/18/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 18:48:33 0:00:00
11/20/2012 Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 12:55:26 0:00:03
11/20/2012 Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 13:24:13 0:07:55
11/20/2012 Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 17:31:57 0:00:03
11/20/2012 Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing VogeI—Baylor, Erika (G&W) 17:57:55 0:03:11
11/22/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 16:30:34 0:00:00
11/22/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 16:30:36 0:00:00
11/22/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 20:11:04 0:00:00
11/22/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 20:11:08 0:00:00
11/22/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 20:11:15 0:00:00
11/22/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 20:11:19 0:00:00
11/22/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 20:30:46 0:00:00
11/22/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 20:30:48 0:00:00
12/9/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 14:54:28 0:00:00
12/9/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 14:54:33 0:00:00
12/9/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 15:01:44 0:00:00
12/9/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 15:01:45 0:00:00
12/9/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 15:05:03 0:00:00
12/9/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 15:05:08 0:00:00
12/9/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 15:21:48 0:00:00
12/9/2012 Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 15:22:36 0:00:03
12/9/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 15:57:26 0:00:00,

1563. On December 9, 2012, the day after the final call listed above, J.G., a finance

executive at Lupin, e-mailed Berthold at 3:41 p.m. stating:_

- Three minutes later, at 3:44 p.m.. Berthold called Orlofski. The call lasted less than

one (1) minute. The next day, on December 11, 2012, Berthold called Vogel-Baylor and they
spoke for nearly six (6) minutes. A short time later, Orlofski sent a text message to Berthold and
the two competitors exchanged two (2) more calls that day, including one lasting nearly six (6)
minutes.

1564. On December 17, 2012, K.W., a Lupin sales executive, sent an internal e-mail
including to Berthold, attaching the price increase letters for Ethambutol that Lupin planned to
send on December 18, 2012. Between December 17, 2012 and December 19, 2012, Berthold
again exchanged several calls and text messages with Orlofski and Vogel-Baylor. These are

detailed in the chart below:
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12/17/2012 Voice  Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 17:32:53 0:00:14
12/17/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 21:48:43 0:00:00
12/17/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 21:51:13 0:00:00
12/17/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 21:54:44 0:00:00
12/17/2012 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 21:54:48 0:00:00
12/18/2012  Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 8:19:40 0:00:02|
12/18/2012  Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 11:54:06 0:00:25
112/18/2012  Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 11:56:05 0:00:58
12/19/2012 Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 15:12:46 0:00:02
12/19/2012  Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 15:13:09 0:00:07
112/19/2012  Voice  Berthold, David (Lupin)  Incoming  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 15:56:16  0:13:10.
12/19/2012  Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming 'Vogei—BayIcr, Erika (G&W) 16:56:44 0:04:12
12/19/2012  Voice  Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 17:06:52 0:04:52
12/19/2012  Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 17:25:24 0:00:02
112/19/2012  Voice  Berthold, David (Lupin)  Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 17:30:08  0:04:19,

1565. On January 2, 2013, Orlofski e-mailed Vogel-Baylor suggesting that they discuss
the Ethambutol price increase during their meeting scheduled for the next day. That same day,
Vogel-Baylor called Berthold and they spoke for eleven (11) minutes. Later that evening,
Vogel-Baylor e-mailed Orlofski a price increase analysis for Ethambutol.

1566. The next day, January 3, 2013, a customer, HEB, e-mailed C.M., a sales executive
at G&W, to advise him that VersaPharm was out of the market. C.M. responded that he was
aware and stated:_ That same day,
Vogel-Baylor exchanged at least four (4) calls with Berthold, including one lasting more than
four (4) minutes.

1567. On January 14, 2013, another customer, Morris & Dickson, e-mailed Lupin
asking for a bid on Ethambutol. The customer explained that both VersaPharm and Teva were
having supply issues. That same day, Orlofski sent a text message to Berthold. Berthold also
called Green of Teva and they spoke for nine (9) minutes.

1568. On January 28, 2013, the manufacturer of G&W’s authorized generic, STI, e-

mailed Vogel-Baylor to inform her that it would be shipping Ethambutol to G&W the following

day stating: | o532 o then forwarded
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the e-mail to Orlofski as an_ Later that day, Vogel-Baylor sent her Ethambutol price
increase analysis to the sales team and asked them to draft letters to their customers advising
them of the increases. The next day, on January 29, 2014, Orlofski sent a text message to
Berthold and Berthold spoke two times with Green of Teva by phone, with calls lasting three (3)
minutes and more than five (5) minutes, respectively.

1569. On January 31, 2013, Vogel-Baylor called Berthold and they spoke for three (3)
minutes. The next day, on February 1, 2013, Vogel-Baylor called Berthold again. Berthold
returned the call and they spoke for five (5) minutes. The following Monday, on February 4,
2013, Vogel-Baylor e-mailed Orlofski to inform him that G&W planned to send the Ethambutol
price increase letters on February 7, 2013 and would call customers in advance to advise that
they would be coming.

1570. Consistent with the plan, on February 6, 2013, G&W reached out to its customers

to advise them of the Ethambutol increases. As Vogel-Baylor explained in her e-mail to Wal-

vt I
I
I

1571. Berthold continued to communicate with Orlofski and Vogel-Baylor over the next
several weeks. For example, on February 19, 2013, Vogel-Baylor and Berthold had a joint
dinner with representatives from two customers — ABC and Kroger.

1572. On April 1, 2013, STI began notifying customers that it was terminating its
relationship with G&W regarding Ethambutol. STI advised that it would be taking over the

marketing and distribution of the product effective April 15, 2013. Between April 2, 2013 and
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April 15, 2013, Berthold exchanged several calls with Orlofski and Vogel-Baylor. The calls are

detailed in the chart below:

Date n Call Typeﬂ Target Name ! Direcﬁonn Contact Name ﬂ Time ﬂ Duration &
4/2/2013 Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 10:38:29 0:00:03
4/2/2013  Voice  Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  10:38:57 0:03:49
4/2/2013  Voice  Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 16:48:27 0:00:07
4/2/2013  Voice  Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) - 17:09:30 0:04:19
4/2/2013 Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 17:09:30 0:04:18

4/2/2013  Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) = 20:47:56 0:00:04
4/5/2013  Voice  Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  17:04:58 0:03:24
4/5/2013  Voice  Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  17:24:05 0:00:08
4/5/2013 Voice Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 17:24:29  0:02:27

4/13/2013 Text Berthold, David (Lupin)  Outgoing  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 11:33:02 0:00:00
4/13/2013  Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 11:35:51 0:00:00
4/13/2013 Text  Berthold, David (Lupin) 'Incoming  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) - 11:48:32 0:00:00
4/13/2013  Text  Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 11:49:08 0:00:00
4/13/2013 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 11:49:40 0:00:00
4/13/2013  Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 11:50:02 0:00:00
4/13/2013 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Incoming_ Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 11:50:42 0:00:00
4/13/2013  Text  Berthold, David (Lupin) OQutgoing  Orlofski, Kurt (G&W) 11:51:24 0:00:00

4/15/2013  Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W) 21:37:55 0:00:00
4/15/2013 Text Berthold, David (Lupin) Outgoing  Vogel-Baylor, Erika (G&W)  21:38:21 0:00:00,

1573. Notably, after April 15, 2013, the date of the last two text messages listed above,
Berthold and Vogel-Baylor would never communicate by phone again, according to the phone
records available to the Plaintiff States.

4. The Defendants' Profitability Increases Dramatically As A
Result Of Collusive Conduct

1574. As discussed more fully above, between 2009 and early 2016, the Defendants
colluded to allocate markets and raise prices on at least 80 different generic drugs. The impact of
this anticompetitive conduct on the Defendants' profitability was dramatic.

a. Defendant Taro And Defendant Perrigo's Profits Increased
Over 1300% From 2008 To Early 2016

1575. Both Taro and Perrigo's Prescription (Rx) Pharmaceuticals segment saw profits
increase over 1300% between 2008 and early 2016. Taro often led price increases and Perrigo's

Prescription (Rx) Pharmaceuticals segment reported revenues and profits for generic
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dermatology drugs disaggregated from other operations. Accordingly, the profits of these two
companies are instructive in showing the dramatic profits the Defendants made from their
collusive conduct.
1) Defendant Taro

1576. By early 2016, Taro's operating income was 1303%, or more than thirteen (13)
times, higher than it was in 2008. Similarly, in 2016, Taro's net income was 1673%, or more
than sixteen (16) times higher than it was in 2008. Indeed, in 2016, Taro's net sales revenue
reached nearly $1 billion, which was $600 million more than it made in 2008.

1577. The graph below shows Taro's consistent financial growth from 2008 through
early 2016 and highlights how the timing dovetails with Taro's price increases on products at

issue in this Complaint.
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! As discussed in earlier Sections of this Complaint, in May 2013 Taro raised its prices on 12 products.
2 As discussed in earlier Sections of this Complaint, in June 2014 Taro raised its prices on 17 products.

1578. As depicted above, as Taro increased prices, its profits increased. Indeed,
consistent with the allegations in the Complaint, Taro's profits grew steadily from 2010 through
2011, during the early days of collusion, and then increased exponentially from late 2012
through 2015 when price increases intensified across the industry.

1579. In SEC filings, Taro repeatedly attributed its increases in sales revenue and gross
profits to price adjustments. For example, in its 2011 annual filing, Taro stated that its revenues
and gross profits increased in the United States “primarily due to price increases on select

products.” Similarly, in its 2013 annual filing, Taro stated that approximately $27 million of its
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increased sales in the first quarter of 2012 “resulted from price increases on seven
dermatological topical products.”
2) Defendant Perrigo

1580. Perrigo's profits also grew significantly as a result of its collusive conduct. As
noted above, this analysis focuses on the profits of Perrigo's Prescription (Rx) Pharmaceuticals
segment, which covers its U.S. generic drug sales, with a strong focus on extended topicals.

1581. Inits fiscal year 2015, Perrigo's Prescription (Rx) Pharmaceuticals segment's
operating income was 1648%, or over sixteen (16) times, higher than it was in 2008. The
segment's net sales revenue was just over $1 billion in 2015, which was over $800 million more
than it made in 2008.

1582. Perrigo's Prescription (Rx) Pharmaceuticals segment was the growth driver for
Perrigo during this time period. Perrigo's other operations grew much slower by comparison.
While the segment's operating income grew 1648%, Perrigo's operating income for all its
operations when combined grew only 278%. Similarly, while the segment's net sales revenue
grew 521%, Perrigo's net sales revenue for all its operations when combined was only 153%.

1583. The graph below shows Perrigo's consistent financial growth from 2008 through
2015 and highlights how the timing dovetails with Perrigo's price increases on products at issue

in this Complaint.
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! As discussed in earlier Sections of this Complaint, on July 24, 2014 Perrigo increased its prices on Econazole Nitrate
Cream, Hydrocortisone Acetate Suppositories, and Hydrocortisone Valerate Cream.

2 As discussed in earlier Sections of this Complaint, on August 1, 2013 Perrigo increased it prices on Ciclopirox
Solution, Hydrocortisone Valerate Cream, and Promethazine HCL Tablets.

1584. As depicted above, as Perrigo increased prices, the company profited handsomely.
Further, and consistent with Taro's financial picture, Perrigo's profits from generic drug sales
grew steadily during the early days of collusion, between 2010 and 2011, and then accelerated

around 2012 when the industry began to focus more intensely on price increases.
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b. Other Defendants Revenues And Profits
Also Multiply From 2008 To Early 2016

1585. The other Defendants also profited from their collusive conduct. For example,
G&W and Actavis’s revenues multiplied as their focus on price increases intensified. G&W's
sales tripled from 2011 to 2014, increasing by over 30% each year during that period. In 2014,
G&W's revenue from sales, at over $290 million, broke $200 million for the first time ever.

1586. Similarly, Actavis’s global generics business saw its revenues grow between 2008
and 2013 from just over $1.4 billion to approximately $6.35 billion. Over that same time period,
the company's profits from its generics business also grew from $416 million in 2008 to nearly
$2 billion in 2013.

1587. Defendants Fougera and Sandoz also profited from their collusive conduct. In
2010 and 2011, during the early days of collusion, and prior to its acquisition by Sandoz,
Fougera had gross profits of approximately $217 million and $304 million, respectively.
Similarly, in 2010, Sandoz had over $1 billion of operating income and, in 2011, the company
reported the highest operating income in its history at that time, just over $1.4 billion.

1588. After acquiring Fougera, Sandoz's sales in the United States rose steadily each
year from 2012, which had sales of over $2.7 billion, through 2016, when sales reached $3.7
billion. Sandoz's operating income continued to exceed $1 billion each year during this period
and, following years of collusive activity, in 2016 Sandoz's operating income exceeded the 2011
record and reached approximately $1.45 billion, the highest in Sandoz's history to date.,

1589. Sandoz executives wrote about the significant positive impact that the Fougera

business had on Sandoz's profits. For example, Sandoz noted in internal documents that al

_ was a driver of US sales growth in 2013, in October 2014 the

423



Fougers tear -~ - 201 s I

5. Pricelncreases Slow Dramatically After Government
I nvestigations Commence

1590. As further evidence that the price increases discussed above were not the result of
normal market factors, the massive price spikes that were occurring in the industry in 2013 and
2014 slowed dramatically after the State of Connecticut commenced its antitrust investigation in
July 2014. This was not a coincidence. Generic drug manufacturers in the industry — including
the Defendants in this case — understood that they were under scrutiny and did not want to draw
further attention to themselves.

1591. In January 2015, Sandoz conducted an analysis of the price increases in the
generic drug industry in 2013 and 2014, with an early look toward 2015. In its report, Sandoz
found that "[g]eneric drug price increases in 2013 and 2014 were very common." Specifically,
the report stated: "For the years 2013 and 2014, there were 1,487 SKU 'large price increases'
(WAC increase greater than 100%)[;] of this 12% (178 SKUs) were increased by more than
1000%."

1592. The report went on to state that "[t]he number and level of price increases
declined noticeably in 4Q 2014." The following graphic, which was included in the Sandoz
report, demonstrates that the number of price increases started to decline dramatically after the

second quarter of 2014 — the same time that the Plaintiff States commenced their investigation:
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1593. The massive price spikes in the industry may have declined, but the already-high
prices for most of these drugs did not go down. To date, prices for many of these drugs remain
at significantly inflated, anti-competitive levels.

D. Consciousness Of Guilt

1594. The Defendants understood that their conduct was illegal. They all made
consistent efforts to avoid communicating with each other in writing, or to delete written
electronic communications after they were made. There are numerous examples, discussed
throughout this Complaint, where executives at the various Defendants stated that they could not
talk by e-mail, but had additional information that they could only convey personally. This was
part of a consistent effort by these individuals to avoid putting incriminating information in

writing, to evade detection.
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1595. For example, Defendant Kellum of Sandoz was well aware that what he and
others at Sandoz were doing was illegal. Kellum had received antitrust training and knew that
conspiring with competitors to fix or raise prices, or to allocate customers or markets, was a
violation of the antitrust laws. Kellum would routinely admonish Sandoz employees for putting
anything incriminating into e-mails, and voiced concern that the conduct they were engaging in —
if discovered — could result in significant liability. As a result of Kellum's admonishments,
Sandoz employees (including Kellum himself) routinely lied in e-mails about the sources of their
information to camouflage their conduct, claiming that they learned the information from a
customer instead of a competitor.

1596. Similarly, when Defendant Vogel Baylor was asked by a G&W sales executive
whether she is straightforward with customers regarding the true reason why G&W declines to
bid to maintain market balance, Vogel-Baylor responded, _
_ Further, when Defendant Aprahamian was asked a similar question by a
colleague — namely to explain what “fair share” meant — he responded, “No emails please.
Phone call. ... let’s discuss.”

1597. Additionally, Defendants took actions to obstruct the Plaintiff States' ongoing
investigation. Several were speaking frequently at or around the time a subpoena was issued, or
when the Plaintiff States were engaging in substantive discussions with their counsel. For
example, on April 16, 2018, David Berthold, the Vice President of Sales at Defendant Lupin,
signed for a subpoena issued to him by the Plaintiff States. That same day, Berthold called
Defendant Grauso. The next day, April 17, 2018, Grauso returned the call and the two

competitors spoke for eleven (11) minutes.
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1598. Similarly, on July 17, 2018, the Plaintiff States issued a subpoena to Defendant
Grauso through his counsel. That same day, Grauso spoke to Defendant Aprahamian for more
than twelve (12) minutes. The Plaintiff States then scheduled a conference call with Grauso’s
counsel for July 25, 2018. The day before that call — on July 24, 2018 — Defendant Aprahamian
spoke to his lawyer, and then shortly thereafter called Grauso. The next day, shortly after a
conversation between the Plaintiff States and counsel for Grauso, Defendants Aprahamian and
Grauso spoke again, this time for nearly seven (7) minutes.

1599. Further, on October 19, 2018, Defendant Orlofski signed for a subpoena issued to
him by the Plaintiff States. That same day, Orlofski called his attorney. The following Monday,
October 22, 2018, the attorney called Orlofski back and they spoke for fifteen (15) minutes.
Less than two hours later, Defendant Orlofski called Defendant Grauso and they spoke for nearly
thirty-two (32) minutes. The next day, October 23, 2018, Orlofski and Grauso spoke again for
more than seven (7) minutes. Before these calls, the two competitors had not spoken since June
2,2018.

1600. In another example, K.K., a Director of Sales and Marketing at Defendant G&W,
received a subpoena from the Plaintiff States on July 28, 2017. The next day, July 29, 2017,

K K. called his former supervisor at G&W — Defendant Vogel-Baylor. K.K. called Vogel-
Baylor again on July 30, 2017 and they spoke for ten (10) minutes. On August 2, 2017, Vogel-
Baylor called K.K. and they spoke for thirty-three (33) minutes. Later that month, on August 23,
2017, the Plaintiff States spoke with K.K.’s attorney regarding the investigative subpoena. The
next day, August 24, 2017, K.K. called Defendant Vogel-Baylor and they spoke for twelve (12)

minutes.
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V. PURCHASES OF GENERIC PHARMACEUTICALSTHROUGH MMCAP

1601. During the relevant period, state, local, municipal, and other state and non-state
governmental entities purchased and Defendant manufacturers sold generic pharmaceuticals
through a process operationalized by the Minnesota Multistate Contracting Alliance for
Pharmacy (“MMCAP”).

1602. Every state can be and is a member of MMCAP. Subject to criteria established by
MMCAP and the member state, state entities, and non-state governmental entities such as
counties, cities, towns, villages, public school districts, public authorities, and public benefit
corporations, can use MMCAP’s process.

1603. MMCAP enters into agreements with generic drug manufacturers and service
providers that operationalize the process for purchasing, distributing, and paying for generic
pharmaceuticals by and for those state and non-state governmental entities.

1604. MMCAP agreements and member state processes/agreements contain provisions
that assign to the state claims the contracting party may possess under federal and state antitrust
laws. Thus, the state stands in the shoes of the contracting party for purposes of alleging federal
and state antitrust claims.

1605. Plaintiff States asserting damage claims relating to purchases made through the
MMCAP process here assume the rights of those contracting parties to assert claims arising out
of Defendants’ activities alleged in this Complaint, including the right to recover damages
flowing from Defendants’ illegal conduct.

VI. TRADE AND COMMERCE

1606. At all times relevant to this Complaint, the activities of the Defendants in

manufacturing, selling, and distributing generic drugs, including but not limited to those
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identified herein, among others, were in the regular, continuous and substantial flow of interstate
trade and commerce and have had and continue to have a substantial effect upon interstate
commerce. The Defendants' activities also had and continue to have a substantial effect upon the
trade and commerce within each of the Plaintiff States.

VIl. MARKET EFFECTS

1607. The acts and practices of the Defendants have had the purpose or effect, or the
tendency or capacity, of unreasonably restraining competition and injuring competition by
preventing competition for the numerous generic drugs identified herein and have directly
resulted in an increase in consumer prices for those drugs.

1608. By unreasonably and illegally restraining competition for the generic drugs
identified herein, Defendants have deprived the Plaintiff States and their consumers of the
benefits of competition that the federal and state antitrust laws, consumer protection laws and/or
unfair competition statutes and related state laws are designed to promote, preserve, and protect.

1609. As a direct and proximate result of the unlawful conduct alleged above, the
Plaintiff States and consumers were not and are not able to purchase or pay reimbursements for
purchases of the various generic drugs identified herein at prices determined by a market
unhindered by the impact of Defendants' anticompetitive behavior. Instead, they have been and
continue to be forced to pay artificially high prices. Consequently, they have suffered substantial
injury in their business and property in that, inter alia, they have paid more and continue to pay
more for the various generic drugs identified herein than they would have paid in an otherwise
competitive market.

1610. As a direct and proximate cause of the unlawful conduct alleged above, the

general economies of the Plaintiff States have sustained injury and the Plaintiff States are
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threatened with continuing injury to their business and property unless the Defendants are
enjoined from continuing their unlawful conduct.

1611. Plaintiff States do not have an adequate remedy at law.

1612. All conditions precedent necessary to the filing of this action have been fulfilled,
waived, or excused.

VIII. CAUSESOF ACTION

COUNT ONE (BY ALL PLAINTIFE STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT SANDOZ AND
ALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT AND SEVERAL
LIABILITY)—-HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETSAND FIX
PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 1 0OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1613. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1614. Defendant Sandoz entered into agreements with various competitors to allocate
customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles of fair share discussed above, to
fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for numerous generic drugs. The details regarding these
anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint. The generic drugs subject

to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least the following:

Adapalene Cream

Alclometasone Dipropionate Cream
Alclometasone Dipropionate Ointment
Betamethasone Dipropionate Cream
Betamethasone Dipropionate Lotion
Betamethasone Valerate Cream

Betamethasone Valerate Lotion

Betamethasone Valerate Ointment

Bromocriptine Mesylate Tablets

Calcipotriene Betamethasone Dipropionate Ointment

Calcipotriene Solution

Carbamazepine ER Tablet
Cefpodoxime Proxetil Oral Suspension
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Cefpodoxime Proxetil Tablets

Chlorpromazine HCL Tablets

Cholestyramine (with Sugar) Powder

Cholestyramine/Aspartame Powder

Ciclopirox Shampoo

Ciclopirox Solution

Clindamycin Phosphate Cream

Clindamycin Phosphate Gel

Clindamycin Phosphate Lotion

Clindamycin Phosphate Solution

Clobetasol Propionate Cream

Clobetasol Propionate Emollient Cream

Clobetasol Propionate Gel

Clobetasol Propionate Ointment

Clobetasol Propionate Solution

Clotrimazole Cream

Clotrimazole Betamethasone Dipropionate Cream

Clotrimazole Betamethasone Dipropionate Lotion

Desonide Lotion

Desonide Ointment

Desoximetasone Ointment

Econazole Nitrate Cream

Eplerenone Tablets

Erythromycin Base/Ethyl Alcohol Solution

Fluocinolone Acetonide Cream

Fluocinolone Acetonide Ointment

Fluocinonide .1% Cream

Fluocinonide Gel

Fluocinonide Ointment

Fluocinonide Solution

Fluticasone Propionate Lotion

Griseofulvin Microsize Tablets

Halobetasol Propionate Cream

Imiquimod Cream

Ketoconazole Cream

Latanoprost Drops

Lidocaine Ointment

Methazolamide Tablets

Methylphenidate HCL Tablets

Methylphenidate HCL ER Tablets

Metronidazole Cream

Metronidazole .75% Gel

Metronidazole 1% Gel
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Metronidazole Lotion

Nafcillin Sodium Injectable Vials
Nystatin Ointment

Nystatin Triamcinolone Cream

Nystatin Triamcinolone Ointment
Oxacillin Sodium Injectable Vials
Pioglitazone HCL Metformin HCL Tablets
Tacrolimus Ointment

Terconazole Cream
Triamcinolone Acetonide Cream
Triamcinolone Acetonide Ointment

1615. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Sandoz and its competitors, including many of the corporate Defendants herein.
These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form of price competition in the market for
numerous generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1616. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1617. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1618. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Sandoz has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from the
sales of these generic drugs.

1619. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic

pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
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drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the
conspiracy.

COUNT TWO (BY ALL PLAINTIFE STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT TARO AND
ALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT AND SEVERAL
LIABILITY)-HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETSAND FIX
PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 1 0OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1620. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1621. Defendant Taro entered into agreements with various competitors to allocate
customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles of fair share discussed above, to
fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for numerous generic drugs. The details regarding these
anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint. The generic drugs subject

to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least the following:

Acetazolamide Tablets

Alclometasone Dipropionate Cream
Alclometasone Dipropionate Ointment
Ammonium Lactate Cream

Ammonium Lactate Lotion
Betamethasone Dipropionate Cream
Betamethasone Dipropionate Lotion

Betamethasone Valerate Cream

Carbamazepine ER Tablet

Clindamycin Phosphate Solution

Clobetasol Propionate Cream

Clobetasol Propionate Emollient Cream
Clobetasol Propionate Gel

Clobetasol Propionate Ointment

Clobetasol Propionate Solution

Clotrimazole 1% Cream

Clotrimazole Betamethasone Dipropionate Cream
Clotrimazole Betamethasone Dipropionate Lotion
Desonide Cream
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Desonide Ointment

Desoximetasone Ointment

Econazole Nitrate Cream
Fluocinonide .1% Cream
Fluocinonide Gel

Fluocinonide Ointment

Fluocinonide Solution

Halobetasol Propionate Cream
Halobetasol Propionate Ointment
Hydrocortisone Valerate Cream
Imigquimod Cream

Ketoconazole Cream

Lidocaine Ointment
Metronidazole .75% Gel
Metronidazole 1% Gel

Nystatin Triamcinolone Cream
Nystatin Triamcinolone Ointment
Phenytoin Sodium ER Capsules

Terconazole Cream

Triamcinolone Acetonide Paste

1622. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Taro and its competitors, including many of the corporate Defendants herein. These
agreements have eliminated any meaningful form of price competition in the market for
numerous generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1623. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1624. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1625. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because

they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
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herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Taro has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from the
sales of these generic drugs.

1626. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the
conspiracy.

COUNT THREE (BY ALL PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT PERRIGO
AND ALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT AND SEVERAL
LIABILITY)-HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETSAND FIX

PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 10OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1627. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1628. Defendant Perrigo entered into agreements with various competitors to allocate
customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles of fair share discussed above, to
fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for numerous generic drugs. The details regarding these
anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint. The generic drugs subject

to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least the following:

Adapalene Cream

Ammonium Lactate Cream

Ammonium Lactate Lotion

Betamethasone Dipropionate Lotion

Bromocriptine Mesylate Tablets

Calcipotriene Betamethasone Dipropionate Ointment
Ciclopirox Cream

Ciclopirox Shampoo

Ciclopirox Solution
Clindamycin Phosphate Solution
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Desonide Cream

Desonide Ointment

Econazole Nitrate Cream
Erythromycin Base/Ethyl Alcohol Solution

Fluocinonide .1% Cream

Fluticasone Propionate Lotion

Halobetasol Propionate Cream

Halobetasol Propionate Ointment

Hydrocortisone Acetate Suppositories

Hydrocortisone Valerate Cream
Imiquimod Cream

Methazolamide Tablets

Nystatin Ointment

Prochlorperazine Maleate Suppositories
Promethazine HCL Suppositories
Tacrolimus Ointment

Triamcinolone Acetonide Cream

Triamcinolone Acetonide Ointment

1629. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Perrigo and its competitors, including many of the corporate Defendants herein.
These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form of price competition in the market for
numerous generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1630. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1631. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1632. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because

they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
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herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Perrigo has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from the
sales of these generic drugs.

1633. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the
conspiracy.

COUNT FOUR (BY ALL PLAINTIFE STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT G&W AND
ALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT AND SEVERAL
LIABILITY)-HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETSAND FIX

PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 10OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1634. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1635. Defendant G&W entered into agreements with various competitors to allocate
customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles of fair share discussed above, to
fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for numerous generic drugs. The details regarding these
anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint. The generic drugs subject

to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least the following:

Betamethasone Valerate Lotion
Calcipotriene Solution

Ciclopirox Cream

Ciclopirox Solution

Ethambutol HCL Tablets
Fluocinolone Acetonide Cream
Fluocinolone Acetonide Ointment

Fluocinonide Gel
Halobetasol Propionate Cream
Halobetasol Propionate Ointment
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Hydrocortisone Acetate Suppositories

Ketoconazole Cream

Metronidazole Cream
Metronidazole .75% Gel
Mometasone Furoate Cream

Mometasone Furoate Ointment

Mometasone Furoate Solution

Prochlorperazine Maleate Suppositories

Promethazine HCL Suppositories

1636. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant G&W and its competitors, including many of the corporate Defendants herein. These
agreements have eliminated any meaningful form of price competition in the market for
numerous generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1637. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1638. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1639. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant G&W has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from the
sales of these generic drugs.

1640. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic

drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
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corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the
conspiracy.

COUNT FIVE (BY ALL PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT ACTAVISAND
ALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT AND SEVERAL
LIABILITY)-HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETSAND FIX
PRICESFOR MULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 10OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1641. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1642. Defendant Actavis entered into agreements with various competitors to allocate
customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles of fair share discussed above, to
fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for numerous generic drugs. The details regarding these
anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint. The generic drugs subject

to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least the following:

Ammonium Lactate Cream

Ammonium Lactate Lotion

Betamethasone Valerate Ointment

Ciclopirox Shampoo

Clotrimazole Betamethasone Dipropionate Cream
Desonide Lotion

Fluocinonide Solution

Methylphenidate HCL Tablets

Methylphenidate HCL ER Tablets

Metronidazole Cream

Metronidazole Lotion

Nystatin Ointment

Promethazine HCL Suppositories

Terconazole Cream

1643. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between

Defendant Actavis and its competitors, including many of the corporate Defendants herein.
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These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form of price competition in the market for
numerous generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1644. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1645. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1646. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Actavis has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from the
sales of these generic drugs.

1647. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the
conspiracy.

COUNT SIX (BY ALL PLAINTIFE STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT GLENMARK
AND ALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT AND SEVERAL
LIABILITY)—-HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETSAND FIX

PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 10OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1648. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth

herein.
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1649. Defendant Glenmark entered into agreements with various competitors to allocate
customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles of fair share discussed above, to
fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for certain generic drugs. The details regarding these
anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint. The generic drugs subject

to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least the following:

Alclometasone Dipropionate Cream

Alclometasone Dipropionate Ointment

Ciclopirox Cream

Desoximetasone Ointment
Fluocinonide .1% Cream

Fluticasone Propionate Lotion

Mometasone Furoate Cream

Mometasone Furoate Ointment

Mometasone Furoate Solution

1650. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Glenmark and its competitors, including many of the corporate Defendants herein.
These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form of price competition in the market for
certain generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1651. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1652. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1653. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because

they have had to purchase or reimburse for certain generic drugs, including those identified
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herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Glenmark has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from
the sales of these generic drugs.

1654. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the
conspiracy.

COUNT SEVEN (BY ALL PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANTSPFIZER
AND GREENSTONE AND ALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT
AND SEVERAL LIABILITY)-HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE

MARKETSAND FIX PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION
OF SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1655. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1656. Defendants Pfizer and Greenstone entered into agreements with various
competitors to allocate customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles of fair
share discussed above, to fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for certain generic drugs. The
details regarding these anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint. The
generic drugs subject to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least the

following:

Clindamycin Phosphate Cream
Clindamycin Phosphate Gel
Clindamycin Phosphate Lotion

Clindamycin Phosphate Solution
Eplerenone Tablets
Latanoprost Drops
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1657. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendants Pfizer and Greenstone and their competitors, including many of the corporate
Defendants herein. These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form of price competition
in the market for certain generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1658. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1659. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1660. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for certain generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendants Pfizer and Greenstone have enjoyed ill-
gotten gains from the sales of these generic drugs.

1661. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the

conspiracy.
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COUNT EIGHT (BY ALL PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT AUROBINDO
AND ALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT AND SEVERAL
LIABILITY)—-HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETSAND FIX
PRICESFOR MULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 1 0OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1662. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1663. Defendant Aurobindo entered into agreements with various competitors to
allocate customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles of fair share discussed
above, to fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for certain generic drugs. The details regarding
these anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint. The generic drugs

subject to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least the following:

Nafcillin Sodium Injectable Vials
Oxacillin Sodium Injectable Vials
Cefpodoxime Proxetil Oral Suspension
Cefpodoxime Proxetil Tablets
Pioglitazone HCL Metformin HCL Tablets

1664. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Aurobindo and its competitors, including many of the corporate Defendants herein.
These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form of price competition in the market for
certain generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1665. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1666. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to

demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.
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1667. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for certain generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Aurobindo has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from
the sales of these generic drugs.

1668. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the
conspiracy.

1669. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1670. Defendant Mylan entered into agreements with various competitors to allocate
customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles of fair share discussed above, to
fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for certain generic drugs. The details regarding these
anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint. The generic drugs subject

to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least the following:

Bromocriptine Mesylate Tablets
Phenytoin Sodium ER Capsules
Pioglitazone HCL Metformin HCL Tablets

1671. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between

Defendant Mylan and its competitors, including many of the corporate Defendants herein. These
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agreements have eliminated any meaningful form of price competition in the market for certain
generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1672. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1673. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1674. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for certain generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Mylan has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from the
sales of these generic drugs.

1675. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the
conspiracy.

COUNT NINE (BY ALL PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT MYLAN AND
ALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT AND SEVERAL
LIABILITY)-HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETSAND FIX

PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1676. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth

herein.
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1677. Defendant Mylan entered into agreements with various competitors to allocate
customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles of fair share discussed above, to
fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for certain generic drugs. The details regarding these
anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint. The generic drugs subject

to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least the following:

Bromocriptine Mesylate Tablets
Phenytoin Sodium ER Capsules
Pioglitazone HCL Metformin HCL Tablets

1678. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Mylan and its competitors, including many of the corporate Defendants herein. These
agreements have eliminated any meaningful form of price competition in the market for certain
generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1679. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1680. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per se illegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1681. As adirect and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States, governmental
entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because they have had
to purchase or reimburse for certain generic drugs, including those identified herein, at supra-
competitive prices, and Defendant Mylan has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from the sales of these
generic drugs.

1682. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the

corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
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pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the
conspiracy.
COUNT TEN (BY ALL PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT SUN AND ALL
OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY) -
HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETSAND FIX PRICESFOR

MULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 10OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1683. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1684. Defendant Sun entered into agreements with various competitors to allocate
customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles of fair share discussed above, to
fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for certain generic drugs. The details regarding these
anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint. The generic drugs subject

to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least the following:

Methylphenidate HCL Tablets
Methylphenidate HCL ER Tablets
Phenytoin Sodium ER Capsules

1685. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Sun and its competitors, including several of the corporate Defendants herein. These
agreements have eliminated any meaningful form of price competition in the market for certain
generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1686. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.
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1687. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1688. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for certain generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Sun has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from the
sales of these generic drugs.

1689. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the
conspiracy.

COUNT ELEVEN (BY ALL PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT

MALLINCKRODT ANDALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT
AND SEVERAL LIABILITY)-HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE

MARKETSAND FIX PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION
OF SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1690. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1691. Defendant Mallinckrodt entered into agreements with various competitors to
allocate customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles of fair share discussed

above, and to fix and raise prices, and rig bids, for certain drugs. The details regarding these
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anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint. The generic drugs subject

to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least the following:

Methylphenidate HCL Tablets
Methylphenidate HCL ER Tablets

1692. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Mallinckrodt and its competitors. These agreements have eliminated any meaningful
form of price competition in the market for certain generic drugs, including those identified
herein.

1693. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1694. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1695. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for certain generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Mallinckrodt has enjoyed ill-gotten gains
from the sales of these generic drugs.

1696. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic

drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
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corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the

conspiracy.

COUNT TWELVE (BY ALL PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT VALEANT
AND ALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT AND SEVERAL
LIABILITY)-HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETSAND FIX
PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 1 0OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1697. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1698. Defendant Valeant entered into agreements with various competitors to allocate
customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles of fair share discussed above, to
fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for certain generic drugs. The details regarding these
anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint. The generic drugs subject

to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least the following:

Latanoprost Drops

Fluocinonide .1% Cream

1699. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Valeant and its competitors, including several of the corporate Defendants herein.
These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form of price competition in the market for
certain generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1700. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1701. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to

demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.
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1702. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for certain generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Valeant has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from the
sales of these generic drugs.

1703. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the
conspiracy.

COUNT THIRTEEN (BY ALL PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT
WOCKHARDT AND ALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT AND
SEVERAL LIABILITY)-HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETS

AND FIX PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 10OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1704. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1705. Defendant Wockhardt entered into agreements with various competitors to
allocate customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles of fair share discussed
above, to fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for certain generic drugs. The details regarding
these anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint. The generic drugs

subject to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least the following:

Clobetasol Propionate Solution
Erythromycin Base/Ethyl Alcohol Solution
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1706. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Wockhardt and its competitors, including several of the corporate Defendants herein.
These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form of price competition in the market for
certain generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1707. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1708. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1709. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for certain generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Wockhardt has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from
the sales of these generic drugs.

1710. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the

conspiracy.
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COUNT FOURTEEN (BY ALL PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT
AMNEAL AND ALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT AND
SEVERAL LIABILITY)-—HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETS
AND FIX PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 1 0OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1711. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1712. Defendant Amneal entered into agreements with Defendants Taro, Mylan, and
Sun to allocate and divide customers within the market for the generic drug Phenytoin Sodium
ER Capsules in accordance with the principles of fair share discussed above, and to fix and raise
prices, and rig bids, for that drug. The details regarding these anticompetitive agreements are
discussed earlier in this Complaint.

1713. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Amneal and its competitors. These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form
of price competition in the market for Phenytoin Sodium ER Capsules.

1714. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1715. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1716. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for Phenytoin Sodium ER Capsules at supra-competitive

prices, and Defendant Amneal has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from the sales of that drug.
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1717. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the
conspiracy.

COUNT FIFTEEN (BY ALL PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT LANNETT
AND ALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT AND SEVERAL
LIABILITY)-HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETSAND FIX

PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 1 0OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1718. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1719. Defendant Lannett entered into agreements with Defendant Taro to allocate and
divide customers within the market for the generic drug Acetazolamide Tablets in accordance
with the principles of fair share discussed above, and to fix and raise prices, and rig bids, for that
drug on multiple occasions. The details regarding these anticompetitive agreements are
discussed earlier in this Complaint.

1720. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Lannett and Defendant Taro. These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form
of price competition in the market for Acetazolamide Tablets.

1721. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.
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1722. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1723. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for Acetazolamide Tablets at supra-competitive prices,
and Defendant Lannett has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from the sales of that drug.

1724. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the
conspiracy.

COUNT SIXTEEN (BY ALL PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT LUPIN
AND ALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTSUNDER JOINT AND SEVERAL
LIABILITY)—-HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETSAND FIX

PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 1 0OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1725. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1726. Defendant Lupin entered into an agreement with Defendant G&W to allocate and
divide customers within the market for the generic drug Ethambutol HCL Tablets in accordance
with the principles of fair share discussed above, and to fix and raise prices, and rig bids, for that
drug. The details regarding this anticompetitive agreement are discussed earlier in this

Complaint.
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1727. The agreement is facially anticompetitive because it allocates customers for the
marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raises prices, and limits competition between
Defendant Lupin and Defendant G&W. This agreement has eliminated any meaningful form of
price competition in the market for Ethambutol HCL Tablets.

1728. This conspiracy substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1729. The agreement constitutes an unreasonable restraint of trade that is per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of the agreement.

1730. As a direct and proximate result of the agreement, Plaintiff States, governmental
entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because they have had
to purchase or reimburse for Ethambutol HCL Tablets at supra-competitive prices, and
Defendant Lupin has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from the sales of this drug.

1731. The agreement was part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the corporate
Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic pharmaceutical
industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic drugs, including
those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the corporate Defendants
are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the conspiracy.

COUNT SEVENTEEN (BY ALL PLAINTIFE STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT
TELIGENT ANDALL OTHER CORPORATE DEFENDANTS UNDER JOINT AND
SEVERAL LIABILITY)—HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETS

AND FIX PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 10OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1732. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth

herein.
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1733. Defendant Teligent into agreements with various competitors to allocate and
divide customers within the market for the generic drug Econazole Nitrate Cream in accordance
with the principles of fair share discussed above, and to fix and raise prices, and rig bids, for that
drug. The details regarding these anticompetitive agreements are discussed earlier in this
Complaint.

1734. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Teligent and its competitors. These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form
of price competition in the market for Econazole Nitrate Cream.

1735. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1736. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1737. As a direct and proximate result of these agreements, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for Econazole Nitrate Cream at supra-competitive prices,
and Defendant Teligent has enjoyed ill-gotten gains from the sales of that drug.

1738. These agreements were part of an overarching conspiracy among all of the
corporate Defendants named in this Complaint to unreasonably restrain trade in the generic
pharmaceutical industry, and to artificially fix, raise, stabilize, and control the prices for generic
drugs, including those identified herein. As participants in the overarching conspiracy, the
corporate Defendants are jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of the

conspiracy.
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COUNT EIGHTEEN (BY CERTAIN PLAINTIFF STATES"“ AGAINST DEFENDANT
ARA APRAHAMIAN) —HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETS
AND FIX PRICESFOR MULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGS
INVIOLATION OF SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1739. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1740. Beginning at least as early as 2012, Defendant Aprahamian took active steps to
facilitate market allocation and price fixing agreements between Defendants Actavis and/or Taro
and their competitors involving numerous generic drugs, as discussed herein.

1741. Defendant Aprahamian participated directly or indirectly in these conspiracies by
communicating with competitors, directing others at Actavis and/or Taro to communicate with
competitors, or tacitly approving of those communications by other Actavis and/or Taro
employees about market entry, loss of exclusivity, price increases, supply disruptions, and other
significant markets events affecting Defendants Actavis and/or Taro and their competitors.

1742. These communications resulted in agreements between Defendants Actavis and/or
Taro and various competitors to allocate customers and divide markets in accordance with the
principles of fair share discussed above, to fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for numerous
generic drugs. The details regarding these anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout
this Complaint. The generic drugs subject to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements

include at least the following:

Acetazolamide Tablets

Alclometasone Dipropionate Cream

Alclometasone Dipropionate Ointment

Ammonium Lactate Cream

Ammonium Lactate Lotion
Betamethasone Dipropionate Cream

14 All Plaintiff States join in Counts Eighteen through Twenty-Seven against the Individual
Defendants except: District of Columbia, New Hampshire, Tennesee, and Wisconsin.
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Betamethasone Dipropionate Lotion
Betamethasone Valerate Cream

Betamethasone Valerate Ointment
Carbamazepine ER Tablet
Ciclopirox Shampoo

Clindamycin Phosphate Solution

Clobetasol Propionate Cream

Clobetasol Propionate Emollient Cream
Clobetasol Propionate Gel

Clobetasol Propionate Ointment

Clobetasol Propionate Solution

Clotrimazole 1% Cream

Clotrimazole Betamethasone Dipropionate Cream
Clotrimazole Betamethasone Dipropionate Lotion
Desonide Cream

Desonide Lotion

Desonide Ointment

Desoximetasone Ointment

Econazole Nitrate Cream

Fluocinonide .1% Cream

Fluocinonide Gel

Fluocinonide Ointment

Fluocinonide Solution
Halobetasol Propionate Cream
Halobetasol Propionate Ointment
Hydrocortisone Valerate Cream
Ketoconazole Cream

Lidocaine Ointment
Methylphenidate HCL Tablets
Methylphenidate HCL ER Tablets
Metronidazole 1% Gel

Nystatin Triamcinolone Cream
Nystatin Triamcinolone Ointment
Nystatin Ointment

Phenytoin Sodium ER Capsules
Terconazole Cream

Triamcinolone Acetonide Paste

1743. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for

the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
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Defendant Actavis and/or Taro and their competitors. These agreements have eliminated any
meaningful form of price competition in the market for numerous generic drugs, including those
identified herein.

1744. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1745. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1746. As a direct and proximate result of this ongoing conspiracy, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Aprahamian has personally enjoyed ill-gotten
gains from the sales of these generic drugs.

1747. As a participant in the agreements identified above, Defendant Aprahamian is
jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of those conspiracies.

COUNT NINETEEN (BY CERTAIN PLAINTIFE STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT
MITCHELL BLASHINSKY) -—HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE

MARKETSAND FIX PRICESFOR MULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGS
INVIOLATION OF SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1748. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1749. Beginning at least as early as 2011, Defendant Blashinsky took active steps to
facilitate market allocation and price fixing agreements between Defendants Taro and/or
Glenmark and their competitors involving numerous generic drugs, as discussed herein.

1750. Defendant Blashinsky participated directly or indirectly in these conspiracies by

communicating with competitors, directing others at Taro and/or Glenmark to communicate with
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competitors, or tacitly approving of those communications by other Taro and/or Glenmark
employees about market entry, loss of exclusivity, price increases, supply disruptions, and other
significant markets events affecting Defendants Taro and/or Glenmark and their competitors.
1751. These communications resulted in agreements between Defendants Taro and/or
Glenmark and various competitors to allocate customers and divide markets in accordance with
the principles of fair share discussed above, to fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for numerous
generic drugs. The details regarding these anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout
this Complaint. The generic drugs subject to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements

include at least the following:

Acetazolamide Tablets
Alclometasone Dipropionate Cream

Alclometasone Dipropionate Ointment

Clotrimazole Betamethasone Dipropionate Cream

Clotrimazole Betamethasone Dipropionate Lotion

Desoximetasone Ointment
Fluticasone Propionate Lotion
Metronidazole .75% Gel

1752. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendants Taro and/or Glenmark and their competitors. These agreements have eliminated any
meaningful form of price competition in the market for numerous generic drugs, including those
identified herein.

1753. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1754. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to

demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.
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1755. As a direct and proximate result of this ongoing conspiracy, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Blashinsky has personally enjoyed ill-gotten
gains from the sales of these generic drugs.

1756. As a participant in the agreements identified above, Defendant Blashinsky is
jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of those conspiracies.

COUNT TWENTY (BY CERTAIN PLAINTIFE STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT
DOUGLASBOOTHE) —HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETS
AND FIX PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 1 0OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1757. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1758. Beginning as early as 2012, Defendant Boothe took active steps to facilitate
market allocation and price fixing agreements between Defendant Perrigo and its competitors
involving numerous generic drugs, as discussed herein.

1758. Defendant Boothe participated directly or indirectly in these conspiracies by
communicating with competitors, directing others at Perrigo to communicate with competitors,
or tacitly approving of those communications by other Perrigo employees about market entry,
loss of exclusivity, price increases, supply disruptions, and other significant markets events
affecting Defendant Perrigo and its competitors.

1760. These communications resulted in agreements between Defendant Perrigo and
various competitors to allocate customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles
of fair share discussed above, to fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for numerous generic drugs.

The details regarding these anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint.
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The generic drugs subject to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least

the following:

Adapalene Cream

Ammonium Lactate Cream

Ammonium Lactate Lotion
Bromocriptine Mesylate Tablets

Calcipotriene Betamethasone Dipropionate Ointment

Ciclopirox Cream

Ciclopirox Solution
Clindamycin Phosphate Solution
Desonide Cream

Desonide Ointment

Econazole Nitrate Cream

Fluticasone Propionate Lotion
Halobetasol Propionate Cream
Halobetasol Propionate Ointment
Hydrocortisone Acetate Suppositories
Hydrocortisone Valerate Cream
Methazolamide Tablets
Prochlorperazine Maleate Suppositories

Promethazine HCL Suppositories

Tacrolimus Ointment

1761. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Perrigo and its competitors. These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form
of price competition in the market for numerous generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1762. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1763. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1764. As a direct and proximate result of this ongoing conspiracy, Plaintiff States,

governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
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they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Boothe has personally enjoyed ill-gotten
gains from the sales of these generic drugs.
1765. As a participant in the agreements identified above, Defendant Boothe is jointly
and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of those conspiracies.
COUNT TWENTY-ONE (BY CERTAIN PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT
JAMES GRAUSO) —HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETSAND

FIX PRICESFOR MULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1766. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1767. Beginning at least as early as 2010, Defendant Grauso took active steps to
facilitate market allocation and price fixing agreements between Defendants G&W and/or
Aurobindo and their competitors involving numerous generic drugs, as discussed herein.

1768. Defendant Grauso participated directly or indirectly in these conspiracies by
communicating with competitors, directing others at G&W and/or Aurobindo to communicate
with competitors, or tacitly approving of those communications by other G&W and/or
Aurobindo employees about market entry, loss of exclusivity, price increases, supply disruptions,
and other significant markets events affecting Defendants G&W and/or Aurobindo and their
competitors.

1769. These communications resulted in agreements between Defendants G&W and/or
Aurobindo and various competitors to allocate customers and divide markets in accordance with
the principles of fair share discussed above, to fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for numerous

generic drugs. The details regarding these anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout
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this Complaint. The generic drugs subject to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements

include at least the following:

Betamethasone Valerate Lotion
Nafcillin Sodium Injectable Vials
Oxacillin Sodium Injectable Vials
Calcipotriene Solution

Cefpodoxime Proxetil Oral Suspension
Cefpodoxime Proxetil Tablets

Ciclopirox Cream

Fluocinolone Acetonide Cream

Fluocinolone Acetonide Ointment

Fluocinonide .1% Cream

Metronidazole Cream

Metronidazole .75% Gel

Metronidazole Lotion

Pioglitazone HCL Metformin HCL Tablets

1770. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendants G&W and/or Aurobindo and their competitors. These agreements have eliminated
any meaningful form of price competition in the market for numerous generic drugs, including
those identified herein.

1771. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1772. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1773. As a direct and proximate result of this ongoing conspiracy, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because

they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
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herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Grauso has personally enjoyed ill-gotten
gains from the sales of these generic drugs.
1774. As a participant in the agreements identified above, Defendant Grauso is jointly

and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of those conspiracies.

COUNT TWENTY-TWO (BY CERTAIN PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT
WALTER KACZMAREK) —HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TO ALLOCATE
MARKETSAND FIX PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION
OF SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1775. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1776. Beginning at least as early as 2010, Defendant Kaczmarek took active steps to
facilitate market allocation and price fixing agreements between Defendants Fougera and/or
Mallinckrodt and their competitors involving numerous generic drugs, as discussed herein.

1777. Defendant Kaczmarek participated directly or indirectly in these conspiracies by
communicating with competitors, directing others at Fougera and/or Mallinckrodt to
communicate with competitors, or tacitly approving of those communications by other Fougera
and/or Mallinckrodt employees about market entry, loss of exclusivity, price increases, supply
disruptions, and other significant markets events affecting Defendants Fougera and/or
Mallinckrodt and their competitors.

1778. These communications resulted in agreements between Defendants Fougera
and/or Mallinckrodt and various competitors to allocate customers and divide markets in
accordance with the principles of fair share discussed above, to fix and raise prices, and to rig
bids, for numerous generic drugs. The details regarding these anticompetitive agreements are
discussed throughout this Complaint. The generic drugs subject to these market allocation and

price-fixing agreements include at least the following:
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Adapalene Cream
Betamethasone Dipropionate Lotion
Betamethasone Valerate Lotion

Calcipotriene Solution

Clindamycin Phosphate Solution

Clotrimazole Betamethasone Dipropionate Cream
Clotrimazole Betamethasone Dipropionate Lotion
Erythromycin Base/Ethyl Alcohol Solution
Fluocinolone Acetonide Cream

Fluocinolone Acetonide Ointment

Fluocinonide Solution

Fluticasone Propionate Lotion

Imiquimod Cream

Lidocaine Ointment

Metronidazole Cream
Metronidazole .75% Gel
Metronidazole Lotion
Methylphenidate HCL Tablets
Methylphenidate HCL ER Tablets
Nystatin Ointment

Triamcinolone Acetonide Cream
Triamcinolone Acetonide Ointment

177. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendants Fougera and/or Mallinckrodt and their competitors. These agreements have
eliminated any meaningful form of price competition in the market for numerous generic drugs,
including those identified herein.

1780. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1781. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1782. As a direct and proximate result of this ongoing conspiracy, Plaintiff States,

governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
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they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Kaczmarek has personally enjoyed ill-gotten
gains from the sales of these generic drugs.

1783. Asaparticipant in the agreements identified above, Defendant Kaczmarek is jointly

and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of those conspiracies.

COUNT TWENTY-THREE (BY CERTAIN PLAINTIFE STATES AGAINST
DEFENDANT ARMANDO KELLUM) —HORIZONTAL CONSPIRACY TO
ALLOCATE MARKETSAND FIX PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGS
IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1784. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1785. Beginning at least as early as 2012, Defendant Kellum took active steps to
facilitate market allocation and price fixing agreements between Defendant Sandoz and its
competitors involving numerous generic drugs, as discussed herein.

1786. Defendant Kellum participated directly or indirectly in these conspiracies by
communicating with competitors, directing others at Sandoz to communicate with competitors,
or tacitly approving of those communications by other Sandoz employees about market entry,
loss of exclusivity, price increases, supply disruptions, and other significant markets events
affecting Defendant Sandoz and its competitors.

1787. These communications resulted in agreements between Defendant Sandoz and
various competitors to allocate customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles
of fair share discussed above, to fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for numerous generic drugs.
The details regarding these anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint.
The generic drugs subject to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least

the following:
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Adapalene Cream

Alclometasone Dipropionate Cream

Alclometasone Dipropionate Ointment

Betamethasone Dipropionate Cream

Betamethasone Dipropionate Lotion

Betamethasone Valerate Cream

Betamethasone Valerate Ointment

Bromocriptine Mesylate Tablets

Calcipotriene Betamethasone Dipropionate Ointment

Carbamazepine ER Tablet

Cefpodoxime Proxetil Oral Suspension

Cefpodoxime Proxetil Tablets

Chlorpromazine HCL Tablets

Cholestyramine (with Sugar) Powder

Cholestyramine/Aspartame Powder

Clindamycin Phosphate Solution

Ciclopirox Shampoo

Ciclopirox Solution

Clindamycin Phosphate Cream

Clindamycin Phosphate Gel

Clindamycin Phosphate Lotion

Clindamycin Phosphate Solution

Clobetasol Propionate Cream

Clobetasol Propionate Emollient Cream

Clobetasol Propionate Gel

Clobetasol Propionate Ointment

Clobetasol Propionate Solution

Clotrimazole Cream

Desonide Lotion

Desonide Ointment

Desoximetasone Ointment

Econazole Nitrate Cream

Eplerenone Tablets

Fluocinonide .1% Cream

Fluocinonide Ointment

Fluticasone Propionate Lotion

Griseofulvin Microsize Tablets

Halobetasol Propionate Cream

Imiquimod Cream

Ketoconazole Cream

Latanoprost Drops

Lidocaine Qintment

Methazolamide Tablets
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Methylphenidate HCL Tablets
Methylphenidate HCL ER Tablets
Metronidazole .75% Gel
Metronidazole 1% Gel

Nafcillin Sodium Injectable Vials

Nystatin Triamcinolone Cream

Nystatin Triamcinolone Ointment
Oxacillin Sodium Injectable Vials
Pioglitazone HCL Metformin HCL Tablets
Tacrolimus Ointment

Terconazole Cream

1788. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Sandoz and its competitors. These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form
of price competition in the market for numerous generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1789. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1790. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1791. As a direct and proximate result of this ongoing conspiracy, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Kellum has personally enjoyed ill-gotten
gains from the sales of these generic drugs.

1792. As a participant in the agreements identified above, Defendant Kellum is jointly

and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of those conspiracies.
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COUNT TWENTY-FOUR (BY CERTAIN PLAINTIFE STATES AGAINST
DEFENDANT KURT ORLOFSKI) —HORIZONTAL ONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE
MARKETSAND FIX PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION

OF SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1793. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1794. Beginning at least as early as 2010, Defendant Orlofski took active steps to
facilitate market allocation and price fixing agreements between Defendant G&W and its
competitors involving numerous generic drugs, as discussed herein.

1795. Defendant Orlofski participated directly or indirectly in these conspiracies by
communicating with competitors, directing others at G&W to communicate with competitors, or
tacitly approving of those communications by other G&W employees about market entry, loss of
exclusivity, price increases, supply disruptions, and other significant markets events affecting
Defendant G&W and its competitors.

1796. These communications resulted in agreements between Defendant G&W and
various competitors to allocate customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles
of fair share discussed above, to fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for numerous generic drugs.
The details regarding these anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint.
The generic drugs subject to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least

the following:

Betamethasone Valerate Lotion

Calcipotriene Solution

Ciclopirox Cream

Ciclopirox Solution
Ethambutol HCL Tablets
Fluocinolone Acetonide Cream

Fluocinolone Acetonide Ointment

Fluocinonide Gel

Halobetasol Propionate Cream
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Halobetasol Propionate Ointment
Hydrocortisone Acetate Suppositories
Ketoconazole Cream

Metronidazole Cream
Metronidazole .75% Gel
Mometasone Furoate Cream

Mometasone Furoate Ointment

Mometasone Furoate Solution
Prochlorperazine Maleate Suppositories
Promethazine HCL Suppositories

1797. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant G&W and its competitors. These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form
of price competition in the market for numerous generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1798. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1799. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1800. As a direct and proximate result of this ongoing conspiracy, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Orlofski has personally enjoyed ill-gotten
gains from the sales of these generic drugs.

1801. As a participant in the agreements identified above, Defendant Orlofski is jointly

and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of those conspiracies.
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COUNT TWENTY-FIVE (BY CERTAIN PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT
MICHAEL PERFETTO) —HORIZONTAL ONSPIRACY TOALLOCATE MARKETS
AND FIX PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION OF
SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1802. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1803. Beginning at least as early as 2011, Defendant Perfetto took active steps to
facilitate market allocation and price fixing agreements between Defendants Actavis and/or Taro
and their competitors involving numerous generic drugs, as discussed herein.

1804. Defendant Perfetto participated directly or indirectly in these conspiracies by
communicating with competitors, directing others at Actavis and/or Taro to communicate with
competitors, or tacitly approving of those communications by other Actavis and/or Taro
employees about market entry, loss of exclusivity, price increases, supply disruptions, and other
significant markets events affecting Defendants Actavis and/or Taro and their competitors.

1805. These communications resulted in agreements between Defendants Actavis and/or
Taro and various competitors to allocate customers and divide markets in accordance with the
principles of fair share discussed above, to fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for numerous
generic drugs. The details regarding these anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout
this Complaint. The generic drugs subject to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements

include at least the following:

Acetazolamide Tablets

Alclometasone Dipropionate Cream

Alclometasone Dipropionate Ointment

Ammonium Lactate Cream

Ammonium Lactate Lotion
Betamethasone Dipropionate Cream
Betamethasone Dipropionate Lotion
Betamethasone Valerate Cream
Carbamazepine ER Tablet
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Clindamycin Phosphate Solution

Clobetasol Propionate Cream

Clobetasol Propionate Emollient Cream

Clobetasol Propionate Gel

Clobetasol Propionate Ointment

Clobetasol Propionate Solution

Clotrimazole 1% Cream

Clotrimazole Betamethasone Dipropionate Cream

Desonide Cream
Desonide Ointment
Desoximetasone Ointment

Econazole Nitrate Cream
Fluocinonide .1% Cream
Fluocinonide Gel
Fluocinonide Ointment

Fluocinonide Solution

Halobetasol Propionate Cream

Halobetasol Propionate Ointment

Hydrocortisone Valerate Cream

Ketoconazole Cream

Lidocaine Ointment
Methylphenidate HCL Tablets
Methylphenidate HCL ER Tablets
Metronidazole Cream
Metronidazole 1% Gel

Metronidazole Lotion
Nystatin Ointment

Nystatin Triamcinolone Cream

Nystatin Triamcinolone Ointment

Phenytoin Sodium ER Capsules

Terconazole Cream

Triamcinolone Acetonide Paste

1806. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendants Actavis and/or Taro and their competitors. These agreements have eliminated any
meaningful form of price competition in the market for numerous generic drugs, including those

1dentified herein.

475



1807. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1808. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1809. As a direct and proximate result of this ongoing conspiracy, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Perfetto has personally enjoyed ill-gotten
gains from the sales of these generic drugs.

1810. As a participant in the agreements identified above, Defendant Perfetto is jointly
and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of those conspiracies.

COUNT TWENTY-SIX (BY CERTAIN PLAINTIFF STATESAGAINST DEFENDANT
ERIKA VOGEL-BAYLOR) —HORIZONTAL ONSPIRACY TO ALLOCATE

MARKETSAND FIX PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION
OF SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1811. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1812. Beginning as early as 2011, Defendant Vogel-Baylor took active steps to facilitate
market allocation and price fixing agreements between Defendant G&W and its competitors
involving numerous generic drugs, as discussed herein.

1813. Defendant Vogel-Baylor participated directly or indirectly in these conspiracies
by communicating with competitors, directing others at G&W to communicate with competitors,
or tacitly approving of those communications by other G&W employees about market entry, loss
of exclusivity, price increases, supply disruptions, and other significant markets events affecting

Defendant G&W and its competitors.
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1814. These communications resulted in agreements between Defendant G&W and
various competitors to allocate customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles
of fair share discussed above, to fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for numerous generic drugs.
The details regarding these anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint.
The generic drugs subject to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least

the following:

Betamethasone Valerate Lotion
Calcipotriene Solution

Ciclopirox Cream

Ciclopirox Solution

Ethambutol HCL Tablets
Fluocinolone Acetonide Cream
Fluocinolone Acetonide Ointment
Fluocinonide Gel

Halobetasol Propionate Cream
Halobetasol Propionate Ointment
Hydrocortisone Acetate Suppositories
Ketoconazole Cream

Metronidazole .75% Gel
Mometasone Furoate Cream

Mometasone Furoate Ointment

Mometasone Furoate Solution

Prochlorperazine Maleate Suppositories
Promethazine HCL Suppositories

1815. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant G&W and its competitors. These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form
of price competition in the market for numerous generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1816. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.
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1817. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1818. As a direct and proximate result of this ongoing conspiracy, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Vogel-Baylor has personally enjoyed ill-
gotten gains from the sales of these generic drugs.

1819. As a participant in the agreements identified above, Defendant Vogel-Baylor is
jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of those conspiracies.

COUNT TWENTY-SEVEN (BY CERTAIN PLAINTIFE STATESAGAINST
DEFENDANT JOHN WESOLOWSKI) —HORIZONTAL ONSPIRACY TO ALLOCATE
MARKETSAND FIX PRICESFORMULTIPLE GENERIC DRUGSIN VIOLATION
OF SECTION 1 OF THE SHERMAN ACT

1820. Plaintiff States repeat and re-allege every preceding allegation as if fully set forth
herein.

1821. Beginning at least as early as 2010, Defendant Wesolowski took active steps to
facilitate market allocation and price fixing agreements between Defendant Perrigo and its
competitors involving numerous generic drugs, as discussed herein.

1822. Defendant Wesolowski participated directly or indirectly in these conspiracies by
communicating with competitors, directing others at Perrigo to communicate with competitors,
or tacitly approving of those communications by other Perrigo employees about market entry,
loss of exclusivity, price increases, supply disruptions, and other significant markets events

affecting Defendant Perrigo and its competitors.
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1823. These communications resulted in agreements between Defendant Perrigo and
various competitors to allocate customers and divide markets in accordance with the principles
of fair share discussed above, to fix and raise prices, and to rig bids, for numerous generic drugs.
The details regarding these anticompetitive agreements are discussed throughout this Complaint.
The generic drugs subject to these market allocation and price-fixing agreements include at least

the following:

Adapalene Cream
Ammonium Lactate Cream

Ammonium Lactate Lotion

Betamethasone Dipropionate Lotion

Bromocriptine Mesylate Tablets

Calcipotriene Betamethasone Dipropionate Ointment

Ciclopirox Cream

Ciclopirox Shampoo

Ciclopirox Solution

Clindamycin Phosphate Solution
Desonide Cream

Desonide Ointment

Econazole Nitrate Cream

Erythromycin Base/Ethyl Alcohol Solution
Fluocinonide .1% Cream

Fluticasone Propionate Lotion
Halobetasol Propionate Cream
Halobetasol Propionate Ointment

Hydrocortisone Acetate Suppositories

Hydrocortisone Valerate Cream
Imigquimod Cream

Methazolamide Tablets

Nystatin Ointment

Prochlorperazine Maleate Suppositories
Promethazine HCL Suppositories
Tacrolimus Ointment

Triamcinolone Acetonide Cream

Triamcinolone Acetonide Ointment
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1824. These agreements are facially anticompetitive because they allocate customers for
the marketing and sale of generic drugs, artificially raise prices, and limit competition between
Defendant Perrigo and its competitors. These agreements have eliminated any meaningful form
of price competition in the market for numerous generic drugs, including those identified herein.

1825. The conspiracies substantially affected and still affect interstate commerce.

1826. The agreements constitute unreasonable restraints of trade that are per seillegal
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1. No elaborate analysis is required to
demonstrate the anticompetitive character of these agreements.

1827. As a direct and proximate result of this ongoing conspiracy, Plaintiff States,
governmental entities, and/or consumers have been injured in their business or property because
they have had to purchase or reimburse for numerous generic drugs, including those identified
herein, at supra-competitive prices, and Defendant Wesolowski has personally enjoyed ill-gotten
gains from the sales of these generic drugs.

1828. As a participant in the agreements identified above, Defendant Wesolowski is

jointly and severally liable for any harm caused as a result of those conspiracies.

COUNT TWENTY-EIGHT —SUPPLEMENTAL STATE LAW CLAIMS

Connecticut
1829. Plaintiff State of Connecticut repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.
1830. Defendants' actions as alleged herein violate the Connecticut Antitrust Act, Conn.
Gen. Stat. §§ 35-26 and 35-28, in that they have the purpose and/or effect of unreasonably

restraining trade and commerce within the State of Connecticut and elsewhere.
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1831. Defendants' actions as alleged herein have damaged, directly and indirectly, the
prosperity, welfare, and general economy of the State of Connecticut and the economic well
being of a substantial portion of the People of the State of Connecticut and its citizens and
businesses at large. Plaintiff State of Connecticut seeks recovery of such damages as parens
patriae on behalf of the State of Connecticut and the People of the State of Connecticut pursuant
to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 35-32(c)(2).

1832. Defendants' acts and practices as alleged herein constitute unfair methods of
competition in violation of the Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act, Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-
110b.

1833. Plaintiff State of Connecticut seeks injunctive relief pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat.
§ 35-34, civil penalties pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 35-38 for each and every violation of the
Connecticut Antitrust Act, civil penalties pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-1100 of $5,000 for
each and every willful violation of the Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act, an order pursuant
to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110m requiring Defendants to submit to an accounting to determine the
amount of improper compensation paid to them as a result of the allegations in the Complaint,
disgorgement of all revenues, profits and gains achieved in whole or in part through the unfair
methods of competition complained of herein, pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110m,
reasonable attorney's fees pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. § 42-110m, and such other and further
relief as this Court deems just and equitable.

Alabama
1834. Plaintiff State of Alabama repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding

allegation as if fully set forth herein.

481



1835. The acts and practices by Defendants constitute unconscionable acts in violation
of the Alabama Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Code of Alabama, 1975, § 8-19-5(27) for which
the State of Alabama is entitled to relief.

Alaska

1836. Plaintiff State of Alaska repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1837. The aforementioned practices by Defendants are in violation of the Alaska
Restraint of Trade Act, AS 45.50.562 et seq., and these violations had impacts within the State of
Alaska and have substantially affected the people of Alaska. Specifically, the defendants
conspired to allocate market share and to fix and raise prices of generic pharmaceuticals resulting
in a restraint of trade or commerce. Plaintiff State of Alaska is entitled to relief for these
violations under AS 45.50.576-.580.

1838. The aforementioned practices by Defendants are in violation of the Alaska Unfair
Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Act, AS 45.50.471(b)(11) and (b)(12), and these
violations had impacts within the State of Alaska and have substantially affected the people of
Alaska. Specifically, the defendants’ conduct in allocating market share and in fixing and raising
prices, as described in the preceding paragraphs, deceived and damaged Alaskans by causing
them to pay increased prices for generic pharmaceuticals. Further, the defendants deceived and
defrauded Alaskans and omitted a material fact, namely their anti-competitive conduct, when
selling their product to wholesalers and pharmacies knowing this would increase the cost to
consumers. Plaintiff State of Alaska is entitled to relief for these violations under AS 45.50.501,

537, and .551.
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Arizona

1839. Plaintiff State of Arizona repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1840. Defendants’ actions as alleged herein violate the Arizona State Uniform Antitrust
Act, Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 44-1401, et seq.

1841. Plaintiff State of Arizona brings this action pursuant to A.R.S. §§ 44-1407 and
1408, and seeks relief, including but not limited to injunctive relief, civil penalties, other
equitable relief (including but not limited to disgorgement), fees and costs, and such other relief
as this Court deems just and equitable.

1842. Defendants engaged in deception, deceptive or unfair acts or practices, fraud,
false pretense, false promise, misrepresentation, or concealment, suppression or omission of
material facts with the intent that others rely upon such concealment, suppression or omission, in
connection with the sale or advertisement of generic drugs in violation of the Arizona Consumer
Fraud Act, A.R.S. §§ 44-1521-44-1531, including but not limited to:

a. Defendants engaged in deceptive and unfair acts and practices by omitting from
their customers and from end-users the fact that Defendants were engaged in an
overarching conspiracy to improperly allocate the markets for generic drugs
amongst competitors and maintain anti-competitively high prices for generic
drugs.

b. Defendants engaged in deceptive and unfair acts and practices by misrepresenting
to their customers and other market participants the reasons for their price
increases and refusals to submit bids to supply generic drugs, by attributing these

actions to supply issues, among other things, instead of to their unlawful
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agreements with competitors to maintain their “fair share” of the market or inflate
prices.

1843. The unfair acts and practices alleged in the preceding paragraphs caused or were
likely to cause substantial injury to consumers that was not reasonably avoidable by consumers
and was not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or to competition.

1844. Defendants’ violations of the Arizona Consumer Fraud Act were willful, in that
they knew or should have known that their conduct was of the nature prohibited by A.R.S. §44-
1522.

1845. Plaintiff State of Arizona brings this action pursuant to A.R.S. §§ 44-1528 and
1531, and seeks relief, including but not limited to injunctive relief, restitution, disgorgement and
other equitable relief, civil penalties, fees and costs, and such other relief as this Court deems just
and equitable.

Arkansas

1846. Plaintiff State of Arkansas repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1847. Defendants' actions alleged herein violate, and Plaintiff State of Arkansas is
entitled to relief under, The Arkansas Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Ark. Code Ann. § 4-88-101
et seq., the Unfair Practices Act, Ark. Code Ann. § 4-75-201 et seq., Monopolies Generally, Ark.
Code Ann. § 4-75-301 et seq., and the common law of Arkansas.

1848. Plaintiff State of Arkansas seeks relief and is entitled to, maximum civil penalties
allowed by law, injunctive relief, equitable relief, attorney’s fees, costs, investigative expenses,

expert witness expenses, and such other relief as this Court deems appropriate.
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Colorado
1849. Plaintiff State of Colorado repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.
1850. Defendants violated the Colorado Antitrust Act of 1992, § 6-4-101, et seq., Colo.
Rev. Stat. when they conspired to rig bids and unreasonably restrain trade and commerce by
allocating markets and fixing generic drug prices.
1851. Defendants violated the Colorado Antitrust Act:

a. Each time they sold a generic drug; and

b. Each time they rigged a bid.

1852. Defendants’ acts and practices constitute per se violations of the Colorado
Antitrust Act.

1853. Plaintiff State of Colorado seeks relief under the Colorado Antitrust Act on behalf
of itself and its agencies, pursuant to § 6-4-111(1)-(2), Colo. Rev. Stat.

1854. Defendants also violated the Colorado Consumer Protection Act, § 6-1-101 et
seq., Colo. Rev. Stat.

a. In the course of their business, Defendants made false and misleading
statements as to the reasons for their price increases and why they could not
submit bids for drugs. Defendants also made false and misleading statements
about the absence of competition in markets for generic drugs. The
Defendants deceptively misrepresented to Plaintiff State of Colorado, its
agencies, and its consumers that Defendants’ pricing of generic drugs that

were sold, distributed, and obtained in Colorado was competitive and fair.
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b. In the course of their business, Defendants failed to disclose material facts in
the sale of generic drugs, including but not limited to that they were engaged
in an overarching conspiracy, and individual drug conspiracies, to allocate
markets for, fix prices of, and rig bids of generic drugs to increase and
maintain anticompetitive prices.

1855. Defendants’ acts and practices constitute deceptive trade practices and violate § 6-
1-105(1), including but not limited to § 6-1-105(1)(1), (u), and (kkk).
1856. Defendants violated the Colorado Consumer Protection Act:

a. Each time Defendants provided false or misleading statements about price
increases, why they could not submit bids, or the absence of competition in
generic drugs; and

b. Each time Defendants failed to disclose material facts in the sale of generic
drugs.

1857. Plaintiff State of Colorado seeks relief under the Colorado Consumer Protection
Act on behalf of itself, its agencies, and its consumers pursuant to § 6-1-110(1), Colo. Rev. Stat.

1858. Plaintiff State of Colorado is entitled to all legal and equitable relief available
under the Colorado Antitrust Act of 1992, § 6-4-101, et seq., Colo. Rev. Stat. and the Colorado
Consumer Protection Act, § 6-1-101 et seq., Colo. Rev. Stat., including, but not limited to,
equitable relief, civil penalties, restitution, disgorgement, damages, attorneys' fees, costs,
expenses, and such other and further relief as this Court deems just and equitable.

Delaware
1859. Plaintiff State of Delaware repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding

allegation as if fully set forth herein.
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1860. The aforementioned practices by defendants constitute violations of Section 2103
of the Delaware Antitrust Act, 6 Del. C. § 2101, et seq.

1861. Plaintiff State of Delaware through the Attorney General brings this action
pursuant to Sections 2105 and 2107, and seeks civil penalties and equitable relief pursuant to
Section 2107 of the Delaware Antitrust Act, 6 Del. C. § 2101, et seq.

District of Columbia

1862. Plaintiff District of Columbia, through its Attorney General, repeats and realleges
each and every preceding allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1863. The aforementioned practices by Defendants were in violation of the District of
Columbia Antitrust Act, D.C. Code § 28-4502.

1864. Plaintiff District of Columbia has been and continues to be injured by Defendants’
actions. The District is entitled to all available relief for these violations pursuant to D.C. Code
§§ 28-4507 and 28-4509, including injunctive relief, damages, restitution, disgorgement, costs,
attorney’s fees, and any other appropriate injunctive and equitable relief.

Florida

1865. The State of Florida repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding allegation as
if fully set forth herein.

1866. This is an action that alleges a violation of the Florida Antitrust Act, Section
542.18, and the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, Section 501.201, et seq. The
State of Florida is entitled to relief, including, but not limited to, damages, disgorgement, civil
penalties, equitable relief, injunctive relief, attorneys’ fees and costs resulting from the
Defendants’ conduct as stated above, for all purchases of pharmaceuticals by the State of Florida

and its government entities and municipalities, Florida businesses, and individual consumers.
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1867. Minnesota Multistate Contracting Alliance for Pharmacy ("MMCAP") purchases
pharmaceuticals directly from Defendants and/or has an assignment of antitrust claims from
Cardinal Health, Inc. ("Cardinal"). The State of Florida purchases generic drugs from MMCAP
and has a similar assignment from MMCAP for any claims MMCAP may have for violations of
the antitrust laws. As a result of these assignments, any claims for violations of federal and/or
state antitrust laws that MMCAP and/or Cardinal may have had have been assigned to the State
of Florida when the claims relate to purchases by the State of Florida.

1868. Defendants knowingly — that is, voluntarily and intentionally — entered into a
continuing agreement, understanding, and conspiracy to raise, fix, maintain, and/or stabilize the
prices charged for pharmaceuticals during the Relevant Period, continuing through the filing of
this Complaint.

1869. Defendants directly and indirectly sold pharmaceuticals to the State of Florida and
its government entities and municipalities, Florida businesses, and individual consumers.

1870. The State of Florida and its government entities and municipalities, and Florida
individual consumers have been injured and will continue to be injured by paying more for
pharmaceuticals purchased directly and/or indirectly from the Defendants and their co-
conspirators than they would have paid in the absence of the conspiracy.

1871. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ conduct, the State of Florida
and its government entities and municipalities, and Florida individual consumers have been
harmed and will continue to be harmed by paying supra-competitive prices for pharmaceuticals

that they would not had to pay in the absence of the Defendants’ conduct as alleged herein.
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1872. The sale of pharmaceuticals in the State of Florida involves trade or commerce
within the meaning of the Florida Antitrust Act and the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade
Practices Act.

1873. Defendants’ combination, conspiracy, acts, and practices, or the effects thereof,
are continuing and will continue and are likely to recur unless permanently restrained and
enjoined.

1874. The combination, conspiracy, acts, and practices alleged herein constitute unfair
methods of competition in violation of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act,
501. 201, et seq, Florida Statutes.

1875. Further, Defendants’ actions offend established public policy and are immoral,
unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous, or substantially injurious to Florida governmental entities,
to municipalities in the State of Florida, and to consumers in the State of Florida in violation of
Section 501.204, Florida Statutes.

Guam

1876. Plaintiff Guam, a Territory of the United States, repeats and re-alleges each and
every preceding allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1877. The aforementioned practices by Defendants violate Guam’s Antitrust Law,
codified as Title 9 Chapter 69 §§ 69.10 through 69.70 of the Guam Code Annotated. In addition,
the practices by Defendants violate Guam’s Deceptive Acts and Prohibited Practices, codified as
Title 5 Chapter 32, Article 2 §§ 32201 through 32203 of the Guam Code Annotated.

1878. Guam is entitled to equitable relief, civil penalties, and any other relief available
under the aforementioned statutes and all other applicable laws.

1879. Guam also seeks attorney fees and costs incurred in the pursuit of this action.
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Hawaii

1880. Plaintiff State of Hawaii repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1881. The aforementioned practices by Defendants negatively affected competition by
unlawfully restraining trade or commerce, or having the purpose or effect of fixing, controlling
or maintaining prices, allocating or dividing customers or markets, fixing or controlling prices or
bidding for public or private contracts, or otherwise thwarting genuine competition in generic
drug markets, in violation of Chapter 480, Hawaii Revised Statutes.

1882. Section 480-2, Hawaii Revised Statutes, provides that “[u]nfair methods of
competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce are
unlawful.”

1883. The aforementioned practices by Defendants were and are deceptive acts or
practices because they involve representations, omissions, and/or practices that were and are
material, and likely to mislead entities acting reasonably under the circumstances.

1884. The aforementioned practices by Defendants: were and are unfair because they
offend public policy as established by statutes, the common law, or otherwise; were and are
immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous, or substantially injurious to consumer and entities
affected by Defendants’ practices; and were and are unfair competitive conduct.

1885. The aforementioned practices are unfair or deceptive acts or practices and unfair
methods of competition in violation of section 480-2, Hawaii Revised Statutes.

1886. Plaintiff State of Hawaii is entitled to: injunctive relief pursuant to section 480-
15, Hawaii Revised Statutes, and other equitable relief (including but not limited to restitution

and disgorgement of Defendants’ ill-gotten gains); civil penalties pursuant to section 480-3.1,
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Hawaii Revised Statutes; threefold the actual damages sustained by government agencies; as
parens patriae on behalf of natural persons residing in the State for threefold damages for injuries
sustained by such natural persons to their property by reason of any violation of chapter 480; and

reasonable attorney fees and costs.

|daho

1887. Plaintiff State of Idaho repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding allegation
as if fully set forth herein.

1888. Defendants’ actions as alleged herein violate the Idaho Competition Act, Idaho
Code § 48-104, in that they have the purpose and/or the effect of unreasonably restraining Idaho
commerce, as that term is defined by Idaho Code § 48-103(1).

1889. For each and every violation alleged herein, Plaintiff State of Idaho, on behalf of
itself, its state agencies, and persons residing in Idaho, is entitled to all legal and equitable relief
available under the Idaho Competition Act, Idaho Code §§ 48-108, 48-112, including, but not
limited to, injunctive relief, actual damages or restitution, civil penalties, disgorgement,
expenses, costs, attorneys’ fees, and such other and further relief as this Court deems just and
equitable.

1890. Defendants’ actions constitute per se violations of Idaho Code § 48-104. Pursuant
to Idaho Code § 48-108(2), Plaintiff State of Idaho, as parens patriae on behalf of persons
residing in Idaho, is entitled to treble damages for the per se violations of Idaho Code § 48-104.

llinois

1891. Plaintiff State of Illinois repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding

allegation as if fully set forth herein.
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1892. Defendants’ actions as alleged herein violate sections 3(1), 3(2) and 3(3) of the
Illinois Antitrust Act, 740 ILCS 10/1 et seq.

1893. Plaintiff State of Illinois, under its antitrust enforcement authority in 740 ILCS
10/7, seeks relief, including but not limited to damages, for Illinois consumers and Illinois state
entities that paid for one or more of the drugs identified in this Complaint during the relevant
period and thereby paid more than they would have paid but for Defendants’ unlawful conduct.
Plaintiff State of Illinois also seeks, and is entitled to, injunctive relief, civil penalties, other
equitable relief (including but not limited to disgorgement), fees and costs, and any other remedy
available for these violations under sections 7(1), 7(2), and 7(4) of the Illinois Antitrust Act.

Indiana

1894. Plaintiff State of Indiana repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1895. The aforementioned practices are a violation of Chapter Two of the Indiana
Antitrust Act, Ind. Code § 24-1-2-1, and the Plaintiff State of Indiana seeks recovery pursuant to
I.C. § 24-1-2-5.

1896. The aforementioned practices are a violation of Chapter One of the Indiana
Antitrust Act, [.C. § 24-1-1-1, and the Plaintiff State of Indiana seeks recovery pursuant to I.C. §
24-1-1-2.

1897. The aforementioned practices are unfair and/or deceptive acts by a supplier in the
context of a consumer transaction in violation of the Indiana Deceptive Consumer Sales Act, I.C.
§ 24-5-0.5-3.

1898. Plaintiff State of Indiana under its authority in I.C. § 24-1-2-5, I.C. § 24-1-1-2,

and I.C. § 24-5-0.5-4 seeks relief, including but not limited to damages, for Indiana consumers
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and Indiana state entities that paid for one or more of the drugs identified in this Complaint
during the relevant period and thereby paid more than they would have paid but for Defendants'
unlawful conduct. Plaintiff State of Indiana also seeks, and is entitled to, civil penalties,
injunctive relief, other equitable relief (including but not limited to disgorgement), fees and costs
and any other remedy available for these violations under the Indiana Antitrust Act and the
Indiana Deceptive Consumer Sales Act.

lowa

1899. Plaintiff State of Iowa repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding allegation
as if fully set forth herein.

1900. The alleged practices by Defendants were in violation of the lowa Competition
Law, Iowa Code Chapter 553.

1901. Iowa seeks an injunction and divestiture of profits resulting from these practices
pursuant to Iowa Code § 553.12, and civil penalties pursuant to lowa Code § 553.13.

1902. Defendants' acts and practices as alleged herein also constitute an unfair practice
in violation of the lowa Consumer Fraud Act, lowa Code § 714.16(1)(n) and a deception
pursuant to lowa Code section 714.16(1)(f).

1903. Pursuant to lowa Code § 714.16(7), the State of lowa seeks disgorgement,
restitution, and other equitable relief for these violations. In addition, pursuant to lowa Code
§ 714.16(11), the Attorney General seeks reasonable fees and costs for the investigation and
litigation.

Kansas

1904. Plaintiff State of Kansas repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding

allegation as if fully set forth herein.
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1905. The aforementioned practices by Defendants were and are in violation of the
Kansas Restraint of Trade Act, Kan. Stat. Ann. §§ 50-101 et seq.

1906. The State of Kansas seeks relief on behalf of itself and its agencies and as parens
patriae on behalf of its residents, pursuant to Kan. Stat. Ann. §§ 50-103 and 50-162.

1907. Kansas governmental entities and residents are entitled to money damages
regardless of whether they purchased one or more of the drugs identified in this Complaint
directly or indirectly from Defendants, pursuant to Kan. Stat. Ann. § 50-161(b).

1908. The State of Kansas is entitled to injunctive relief, civil penalties, restitution,
treble damages, reasonable expenses and investigative fees, reasonable attorney fees and costs,
and any other appropriate relief the court so orders, pursuant to Kan. Stat. Ann. §§ 50-103, 50-
160, and 50-161.

Kentucky

1908. Plaintiff Commonwealth of Kentucky repeats and re-alleges each and every
preceding allegation as if fully set forth herein. The aforementioned acts or practices by
Defendants violate the Consumer Protection Act, Ky. Rev.Stat.Ann.§ 367.110 et seq. (“KCPA”)

1910. Defendants, by distributing, marketing and selling generic pharmaceutical drugs
to consumers through wholesalers and distributors, pharmacy and supermarket chains, and other
resellers of generic pharmaceutical drugs and otherwise engaging in the conduct described herein
with respect to the generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein, are engaging in trade or
commerce that harmed the Commonwealth and consumers within the meaning of Ky.Stat.Ann.
§367.170.

1911. Defendants impaired consumer choice in each generic drug market identified

herein in what should have been a freely competitive marketplace for the generic pharmaceutical
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drugs identified herein. Defendants have deprived consumers of being able to meaningfully
choose from the options a competitive market would have provided.

1912. The Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce in
each generic drug market identified herein, by affecting, fixing, controlling and/or maintaining at
artificial and non-competitive levels, the prices at which the generic pharmaceutical drugs
identified herein were sold, distributed or obtained. Such conduct has been and is unfair under
the KCPA.

1913. Defendants have misrepresented the absence of competition in each generic drug
market identified herein. By misrepresenting and/or omitting material facts concerning the
absence of competition in each generic drug market identified herein, the Defendants misled the
Commonwealth that prices for the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein were
competitive and fair. Defendants’ conduct has been misleading and/or had a tendency to deceive.

1914. The Defendants’ misrepresentations and omission of material facts had the
following effects: (1) generic drug price competition was restrained, suppressed and eliminated;
(2) generic drug prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at artificially-high levels; (3)
the Commonwealth was deprived of free and open markets; and (4) the Commonwealth and
consumers paid supra-competitive, artificially inflated prices for the generic pharmaceutical
drugs identified herein. The Defendants’ misrepresentations and omissions of material facts have
caused Commonwealth harm in paying more for generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein.

1915. Defendants violated the KCPA:

a. Each time Defendants agreed to allocate the market for specific drugs in

the generic pharmaceutical drug market as set forth above;
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Each time Defendants agreed to fix prices on the specified drugs in the
specified drug markets as set forth above;

Each time a Defendant failed to disclose the existence of a market
allocation agreement and/or a price-fixing agreement involving any of the
numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein;

Each time a Defendant submitted false or misleading cover bids and/or
offers to their customers and wholesalers;

Each time a Defendant provided false or misleading statements to
prospective customers related to supply capacity or reasons for bidding or
not bidding;

Each time a request for reimbursement was made to the Commonwealth
for any of the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein;
and

Each time the Commonwealth or its consumers paid an artificially inflated
price for any of the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified

herein the Defendants’ distributed, marketed or sold.

1916. The above described conduct has been and is willful within the meaning of

Ky.Stat.Ann. §367.990.

1917. The Commonwealth states that the public interest is served by seeking a

permanent injunction to restrain the acts and practices described herein. The Commonwealth and

its citizens will continue to be harmed unless the acts and practices complained of herein are

permanently enjoined pursuant to Ky.Stat. Ann. §367.190. Further, the Commonwealth seeks

restitution to the Commonwealth and/or disgorgement pursuant to Ky.Stat.Ann.§§ 367.190 -.200.
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The Commonwealth seeks a civil penalty of up to $2,000 for each such willful violation, or
$10,000 for each such violation directed at a person over 60 pursuant to Ky.Stat. Ann.§ 367.990.

Unjust Enrichment

1918. Defendants have been unjustly enriched as a result of the conduct set forth herein.
The Commonwealth and consumers were purchasers, reimbursers and/or end-payors of
Defendants’ generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein and have paid, at their expense,
amounts far in excess of the competitive prices for such drugs that would have prevailed in a
competitive and fair market.

1919. For those customers that purchase directly or indirectly from Defendants at
artificially inflated and supra-competitive prices, Defendants have increased prices above what
would have prevailed in a competitive and fair market; thereby, directly benefiting Defendants in
the form of increased revenues.

1920. Defendants knew of, and appreciated and retained the benefits of Commonwealth
and consumers’ purchases of any of the Defendants’ generic pharmaceutical drugs identified
herein at amounts far in excess of the competitive price.

1921. Based on Defendants’ conduct set forth therein, it would be inequitable and unjust
for Defendants to retain such benefits without payment of value. Defendants will be unjustly
enriched if they are permitted to retain the direct or indirect benefits received resulting from the
purchase of any of the generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein by the Commonwealth.
The Commonwealth therefore seeks to recover the amounts that unjustly enriched the
Defendants. The Commonwealth is entitled to equitable relief in the form of an injunction and

disgorgement, and any other relief the Court deems appropriate.
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Louisiana

1922. Plaintiff State of Louisiana repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1923. The practices of Defendants described herein are in violation of the Louisiana
Monopolies Act, LSA-R.S. 51:121 et seq., and the Louisiana Unfair Trade Practices Act, LSA-
R.S. 51:1401 et. seq.

1924. Plaintiff State of Louisiana is entitled to injunctive relief and civil penalties under
LSA-R.S. 51:1407 as well as disgorgement and any other equitable relief that the court deems
proper under LSA-R.S. 51:1408.

Maine

1925.  Plaintiff State of Maine repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1926. The aforementioned practices by Defendants are in violation of the Maine
Monopolies and Profiteering Law, 10 M.R.S.A §§ 1101 and 1102, and Plaintiff State of Maine is
entitled to all available relief for these violations under 10 M.R.S.A. § 1104, including, without
limitation, treble damages for Maine governmental and consumer purchasers, civil penalties,
injunctive relief, attorney’s fees, investigative and litigation costs, and any other appropriate
injunctive and equitable relief.

Maryland
1927. Plaintiff State of Maryland repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding

allegation as if fully set forth herein.
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1928. The aforementioned practices by Defendants were and are in violation of the
Maryland Antitrust Act, Md. Com. Law Code Ann. §§ 11-201 et seq. These violations
substantially affect the people of Maryland and have impacts within the State of Maryland.

1929. Plaintiff State of Maryland brings this action against Defendants in the following
capacities:

a. Pursuant to Md. Com. Law Code Ann. § 11-209(a) in its sovereign
capacity for injunctive relief, civil penalties, restitution, disgorgement and
all other available equitable remedies;

b. Pursuant to Md. Com Law Code Ann. § 11-209(b)(5) as parens patriae on
behalf of persons residing in Maryland. These persons are entitled to three
times the amount of money damages sustained regardless of whether they
have purchased generic pharmaceuticals directly or indirectly from
Defendants. Md. Health Gen. Code Ann. § 21-1114.

1930. Plaintiff State of Maryland also seeks, pursuant to Md. Com. Law Code Ann.

§ 11-209(b), reimbursement of reasonable attorney's fees, expert fees and costs.

M assachusetts

1931. Plaintiff Commonwealth of Massachusetts repeats and re-alleges each and every
preceding allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1932. The aforementioned practices by Defendants, including but not limited to
agreements in restraint of trade and/or attempted agreements in restraint of trade, constitute
unfair methods of competition and/or unfair or deceptive acts or practices in trade or commerce

in violation of the Massachusetts Consumer Protection Act, M.G.L c. 93A, § 2 et seq.
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1933. Defendants knew or should have known that their conduct violated the
Massachusetts Consumer Protection Act, M.G.L c. 93A, § 2 et seq.

1934. Plaintiff Commonwealth of Massachusetts is entitled to relief under M.G.L. c.
93A, § 4, including, without limitation, damages and restitution to Massachusetts consumers and
Massachusetts governmental purchasers; civil penalties for each violation committed by the
Defendants; injunctive relief and other equitable relief including, without limitation,
disgorgement; fees and costs including, without limitation, costs of investigation, litigation, and
attorneys’ fees; and any other relief available under M.G.L. c. 93A, § 4.

1935. Plaintiff Commonwealth of Massachusetts notified the Defendants of this
intended action at least five days prior to the commencement of this action and gave the
Defendants an opportunity to confer in accordance with M.G. L. c. 93A, § 4.

Michigan

1936. Plaintiff State of Michigan repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1937. The State of Michigan brings this action both on behalf of itself, its State
Agencies, and as parens patriae on behalf of natural persons, pursuant to Mich. Comp. Laws
§14.28, and §14.101, to enforce public rights and to protect residents and its general economy
against violations of the Michigan Antitrust Reform Act, Mich. Comp. Laws § 445.771, et seq.,
the Michigan Consumer Protection Act, Mich. Comp. Laws §445.901 et. seq., and the common
law of the State of Michigan.

1938. The aforementioned practices by Defendants were and are in violation of the
Michigan Antitrust Reform Act, Mich. Comp. Laws § 445.771, et seq., the Michigan Consumer

Protection Act, Mich. Comp. Laws §445.901 et. seq., and the common law of the State of
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Michigan. As a result of Defendant's unfair, unconscionable, or deceptive methods, acts, or
practices in the conduct of trade and Defendants' conspiracy to restrain trade for the purpose of
excluding or avoiding competition, all as more fully described above, the Plaintiff State of
Michigan, its agencies, and consumers have suffered and been injured in business and property
by reason of having to purchase or reimburse at supra-competitive prices as direct and indirect
purchasers and will continue to suffer ascertainable loss and damages in an amount to be
determined at trial.

1939. Accordingly, Plaintiff State of Michigan on behalf of itself, its agencies, and as
parens patriae on behalf of its consumers affected by Defendants' illegal conduct, is entitled to
relief including but not limited to injunctive relief and other equitable relief (including but not
limited to disgorgement), civil penalties, damages, costs and attorney fees.

Minnesota

1940. Plaintiff State of Minnesota repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1941. Defendants’ acts as alleged herein violate the Minnesota Antitrust Law of 1971,
Minn. Stat. §§ 325D.49-.66. Plaintiff State of Minnesota seeks relief, including but not limited
to:

a. damages for itself, its state agencies that paid for the generic
pharmaceutical drugs identified herein, and as parens patriae on behalf of
its consumers. Plaintiff State of Minnesota is entitled to damages under
Minn. Stat. § 8.31, subd. 3a and treble damages under Minn. Stat.

§ 325D.57,

b. disgorgement under Minn. Stat. § 325D.59 and Minn. Stat. Ch. 8;

C. injunctive relief under Minn. Stat. §§ 325D.58 and Minn. Stat. § 8.31,
subd. 3;
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d. costs and reasonable attorneys' fees under Minn. Stat. § 325D.57 and
Minn. Stat. § 8.31, subd. 3a; and

e. civil penalties under Minn. Stat. § 325D.56 and Minn. Stat. § 8.31, subd.

1942. The Defendants deceptively misrepresented to Plaintiff State of Minnesota, its
state agencies and Minnesota consumers that Defendants’ pricing at which the numerous generic
pharmaceutical drugs identified herein were sold, distributed or obtained in Minnesota was
competitive and fair.

1943. The Defendants’ deceptive misrepresentations and failure to disclose material
facts had the following effects: (1) generic drug price competition was restrained, suppressed and
eliminated throughout Minnesota; (2) generic drug prices were raised, fixed, maintained and
stabilized at artificially-high levels throughout Minnesota; (3) Plaintiff State of Minnesota, its
state agencies and Minnesota consumers were deprived of free and open markets; and (4)
Plaintiff State of Minnesota, its state agencies and Minnesota consumers paid supra-competitive,
artificially inflated prices for the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein.

1944. The Defendants’ deceptive misrepresentations and failure to disclose material
facts have caused Plaintiff State of Minnesota, its state agencies, and Minnesota consumers to
suffer and to continue to suffer loss of money or property, real or personal, by means of
Defendants’ use or employment of deceptive commercial practices as set forth above.

1945. Defendants violated the deceptive trade practices laws of Minnesota:

a. Each time a Defendant failed to disclose the existence of a market
allocation agreement and/or a price-fixing agreement involving any of the
numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein;

b. Each time a Defendant submitted false or misleading cover bids and/or
offers to their customers and wholesalers;
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c. Each time a Defendant provided false or misleading statements to
prospective customers related to supply capacity or reasons for bidding or
not bidding;

d. Each time Plaintiff State of Minnesota, its state agencies and Minnesota
consumers paid an artificially inflated price for any of the numerous
generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein; and

e. Each time a request for reimbursement was made to Minnesota for any of
the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein.

1946. The Defendants’ conduct is unlawful pursuant to the Uniform Deceptive Trade
Practices Act of 1973, Minn. Stat. §§ 325D.43-.48 and Minn. Stat. Ch. 8. The aforesaid methods,
acts or practices constitute deceptive acts under this Act, including, but not limited to:

a. Representing “that goods or services have sponsorship, approval,
characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits, or quantities that they do not
have or that a person has a sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation, or
connection that the person does not have” in violation of Minn. Stat.

§ 325D.44, subd. 1(5);

b. Representing “that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality,
or grade, or that goods are of a particular style or model, if they are of
another” in violation of Minn. Stat. § 325D.44, subd. 1(7); and

c. Engaging “in any other conduct which similarly creates a likelihood of
confusion or of misunderstanding” in violation of Minn. Stat. § 325D.44,
subd. 1(13).
1947. Some or all of these violations by Defendants were willful.
1948. Plaintiff State of Minnesota seeks relief for violations of the Uniform Deceptive
Trade Practices Act of 1973, Minn. Stat. §§ 325D.43-.48 including but not limited to:
a. damages for itself, its state agencies that paid for the generic
pharmaceutical drugs identified herein, and as parens patriae on behalf of
its consumers under Minn. Stat. § 325D.45, subd. 3 and Minn. Stat. § 8.31,
subd. 3a;

b. disgorgement under Minn. Stat. § 325D.45, subd. 3, Minn. Stat. Ch. 8, and
Minnesota common law;
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c. injunctive relief under Minn. Stat. § 325D.45, subd. 1 and Minn. Stat.
§ 8.31, subd. 3;

d. costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees under Minn. Stat. § 325D.44 and
Minn. Stat. § 8.31, subd. 3a; and

e. civil penalties under Minn. Stat. § 8.31, subd. 3.

1949. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants have been unjustly enriched as a result
of the conduct set forth herein with respect to Plaintiff State of Minnesota, its state agencies that
paid for the generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein, and its consumers.

1950. Plaintiff State of Minnesota, its state agencies that paid for the generic
pharmaceutical drugs identified herein, and its consumers were purchasers, reimbursers and/or
end-payors of Defendants’ generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein and have paid amounts
far in excess of the competitive prices for such drugs that would have prevailed in a competitive
and fair market.

1951. Defendants knew of and appreciated, retained, or used, the benefits of Plaintiff
State of Minnesota, its state agencies that paid for the generic pharmaceutical drugs identified
herein, and its consumers’ purchases of any of the Defendants’ generic pharmaceutical drugs
identified herein at amounts far in excess of the competitive price. Defendants engaged in the
conduct described herein to allocate or preserve the market share of the numerous generic
pharmaceutical drugs identified herein thereby increasing their sales and profits.

1952. For those customers that purchase directly or indirectly from Defendants at
artificially inflated and supra-competitive prices, Defendants have increased prices above what
would have prevailed in a competitive and fair market; thereby, directly benefiting Defendants in

the form of increased revenues.
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1953. Based on Defendants’ conduct set forth herein, it would be inequitable and unjust
for Defendants to retain such benefits without payment of value.

1954. Defendants will be unjustly enriched if they are permitted to retain the direct or
indirect benefits received or used resulting from the purchase of any of the numerous generic
pharmaceutical drugs identified herein by Plaintiff State of Minnesota, its state agencies that paid
for the generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein, and its consumers. Plaintiff State of
Minnesota, on behalf of itself, its state agencies that paid for the generic pharmaceutical drugs
identified herein, and as parens patriae on behalf of its consumers, seeks to recover the amounts
that unjustly enriched the Defendants.

1955. Plaintiff State of Minnesota seeks relief, on behalf of itself, its state agencies that
paid for the generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein, and as parens patriae on behalf of its
consumers, and is therefore entitled to equitable relief in the form of an injunction, restitution
and disgorgement and any other relief the Court deems appropriate under Minn. Stat. Ch. 8 and
Minnesota common law for unjust enrichment.

Mississippi

1956. Plaintiff State of Mississippi repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1957. Defendants' acts violate Miss. Code Ann. § 75- 21-1 et seq., and Plaintiff State of
Mississippi is entitled to relief under Miss. Code Ann. § 75- 21-1 et seq.

1958. The aforesaid conduct was not only anti-competitive but was also unfair and
deceptive to the consumers of the State of Mississippi, therefore Defendants' acts violate the

Mississippi Consumer Protection Act, Miss. Code Ann. § 75-24-1, et seq., and Plaintiff State of
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Mississippi is entitled to relief under the Mississippi Consumer Protection Act, Miss. Code Ann.
§ 75-24-1, et seq.

1959. Pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 75-21-1 et seq., and the Mississippi Consumer
Protection Act, Miss. Code Ann. § 75-24-1, et seq., Plaintiff State of Mississippi seeks and is
entitled to relief, including but not limited to injunctive relief, damages, restitution,
disgorgement, civil penalties, costs, attorney fees, and any other just and equitable relief which
this Court deems appropriate.

Missouri

1960. Plaintiff State of Missouri repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1961. The aforementioned practices by Defendants violate the Missouri Antitrust Law,
Missouri Rev. Stat. §§ 416.011 et seq., and Missouri’s Merchandising Practices Act, Missouri
Rev. Stat. §§ 407.010 et seq., as further interpreted by 15 CSR 60-8.010 et seq. and 15 CSR 60-
9.01 et seq., and the State of Missouri is entitled to an injunction, disgorgement, civil penalties
and any other relief available under the aforementioned Missouri statutes and regulations.

1962. The State of Missouri also seeks its costs and attorney fees incurred in the
prosecution of this action.

Montana

1963. Plaintiff State of Montana repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1964. Defendants’ acts and practices described in this Complaint violate Montana’s

Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Act, Mont Code Ann. § 30-14-101 et seq.,
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including § 30-14-103, and Unfair Trade Practices Generally, Mont. Code Ann. § 30-14-201 et
seq., including § 30-14-205.

1965. Mont. Code Ann § 30-14-103 prohibits unfair methods of competition and unfair
or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce. Mont. Code Ann. § 30-
14-102(8) defines the terms “trade” and “commerce” as meaning “the advertising, offering for
sale, sale, or distribution of any services, any property, tangible or intangible, real, personal, or
mixed, or any other article, commodity, or thing of value, wherever located, and includes any
trade or commerce directly or indirectly affecting the people of this state.”

1966. Montana’s standard for ‘unfairness' as prohibited under Mont. Code Ann. § 30-
14-103 is articulated in Rohrer v. Knudson, 203 P.3d 759 (Mont. 2009) as an act or practice
which “offends established public policy and which is either immoral, unethical, oppressive,
unscrupulous or substantially injurious to consumers.”

1967. Mont Code Ann. § 30-14-205 states that it is unlawful for a person or group of
persons, directly or indirectly:

(1) to enter an agreement for the purpose of fixing the price or regulating the
production of an article of commerce;

(2) for the purpose of creating or carrying out any restriction in trade to: (a)
limit productions; (b) increase or reduce the price of merchandise or
commodities; (¢) prevent competition in the distribution or sale of
merchandise or commodities; (d) fix a standard or figure whereby the
price of an article of commerce intended for sale, use, or consumption will

be in any way controlled.
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1968. Defendants’ anticompetitive and unfair and/or deceptive acts and practices in the
marketing and sale of pharmaceuticals as described in this Complaint occurred in the conduct of
“trade” and “commerce” as defined by Montana law.

1969. Defendants’ anticompetitive and unfair and/or deceptive acts and practices in the
marketing and sale of pharmaceuticals as described in this Complaint offend established public
policy. Those acts and practices are also unethical, oppressive, and unscrupulous and have
substantially injured and continue to injure Montanans through supra-competitive prices.

1970. Defendants’ price-fixing and market allocating conduct as described in this
Complaint violates the plain language of Mont. Code Ann. § 30-14-205(1) and (2).

1971. Defendants’ unlawful conduct was willful as defined in Mont. Code Ann. § 30-
14-142(4).

1972. Plaintiff State of Montana is entitled to all equitable relief and the maximum civil
penalties available under Mont. Code Ann. § 30-14-101 et seq. and § 30-14-201 et seq.,
including but not limited to Mont. Code Ann. §§ 30-14-111(4), -131, -142(2), and -222. Plaintiff
State of Montana also seeks reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

Nebraska

1973. Plaintiff State of Nebraska repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1974. Defendants’ actions as alleged herein violate the Unlawful Restraint of Trade Act,
Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-801 et seq. and the Consumer Protection Act, Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1601 et
seq. Specifically, Defendants’ actions constitute unreasonable restraints of trade or commerce in
violation of Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-801 and Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1603, and Defendants’ actions

constitute unfair methods of competition in violation of Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1602. The sale of
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pharmaceuticals to the State of Nebraska and its citizens constitutes trade or commerce as
defined in Neb. Rev. Stat. § 59-1601. These violations have had an impact, directly and
indirectly, upon the public interest of the State of Nebraska, for the State of Nebraska, its state
agencies, and its citizens have been injured and continue to be injured by paying supra-
competitive prices for pharmaceuticals purchased directly and/or indirectly from the Defendants.

1975. Accordingly, Plaintiff State of Nebraska, on behalf of itself, its state agencies, and
as parens patriae for all citizens within the state, seeks all relief available under the Unlawful
Restraint of Trade Act, the Consumer Protection Act, and Neb. Rev. Stat. § 84-212. Plaintiff
State of Nebraska is entitled to relief including, but not limited to: damages, disgorgement, civil
penalties, equitable relief, injunctive relief, and its costs and attorney’s fees pursuant to Neb.
Rev. Stat. §§ 59-803, 59-819, 59-821, 59-1608, 59-1609, 59-1614, and 84-212.

Nevada

1976. Plaintiff State of Nevada repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1977. As alleged in Sections IV and VII, supra, the Defendants’ conduct was and is
directed at consumers nationwide, including in Nevada, and was overtly deceptive; not merely
anticompetitive.

1978. As repeatedly alleged supra, in the course of carrying out their schemes,
Defendants often (i) declined bid opportunities and misrepresented the reason for their failure to
bid, or (ii) provided false bids that they knew would not be successful. In all such cases, the
alleged acts and practices by Defendants were, and are, in violation of the Nevada Deceptive

Trade Practices Act, Nev. Rev. Stat. § 598.0903, et seq., and specifically the following:
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(a)

(b)

(©)

NRS 598.0915(15), a person engages in a deceptive trade practice by
knowingly making a false representation in a transaction;

NRS 598.0923(2), a person engages in a deceptive trade practice by
failing to disclose a material fact in connection with the sale or lease of
goods or services; and

NRS 598.0923(3), a person engages in a deceptive trade practice by
violating a state or federal statute or regulation relating to the sale or lease

of goods or services.

1979. As repeatedly alleged supra, the Defendants’ anticompetitive conduct produced,

and continues to produce, harm across the Plaintiff States, including in Nevada. Accordingly,

the aforementioned acts and practices by Defendants were, and are, also in violation of the

Nevada Unfair Trade Practices Act, Nev. Rev. Stat. § 598A.010, et seq., and specifically the

following:

(2)

(b)

(©)

NRS 598A.060(a), competitors unlawfully restrain trade by engaging in
price fixing;

NRS 598A.060(b), competitors unlawfully restrain trade by agreeing to
division of markets; and

NRS 598A.060(c), competitors unlawfully restrain trade by agreeing to

allocate customers.

1980. Accordingly, Plaintiff State of Nevada seeks all relief available under the Nevada

Deceptive Trade Practices Act, the Nevada Unfair Trade Practices Act, and common law.

Plaintiff State of Nevada is entitled to relief including but not limited to: disgorgement,
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injunctions, civil penalties, damages, and its costs and attorney's fees pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat.
§§ 598.0963, 598.0973, 598.0999, 598A.160, 598A.170, 598A.200 and 598A.250.

New Hampshire

1981. Plaintiff State of New Hampshire repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1982. The aforementioned collusive actions, practices and conduct by Defendants
violate the New Hampshire Antitrust Provisions, N.H. RSA 356:1, et seq., by, among other
things, unlawfully restraining trade or commerce, or having the purpose or effect of fixing,
controlling or maintaining prices, allocating or dividing customers or markets, fixing or
controlling prices or bidding for public or private contracts, or otherwise thwarting genuine
competition in generic drug markets. Defendants impaired the competitive process which
deprived New Hampshire consumers and customers of free and open market place for generic
products and/or of paying a price for the generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein which
would have been competitive and fair absent agreements to allocate customers, fix prices, and
stabilize artificially inflated prices.

1983. The aforementioned actions, practices and conduct by Defendants as suppliers in
commercial transactions also violate the New Hampshire Consumer Protection Act, N.H. RSA
358-A:1 et seq. by using unfair or deceptive business acts or practices, or methods of
competition, in the conduct of trade or commerce including, among other things, pricing generic
health care pharmaceutical goods in a manner that tends to harm competition; making
misrepresentations, taking steps to conceal, failing to disclose a material fact, and/or
participating in maintaining artificially inflated pricing in connection with the sale or

advertisement of such generic products; or otherwise thwarting and harming genuine competition
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in generic drug markets as identified herein. Illegal conduct included, agreement to and, in fact,
acting to restrain trade or commerce in each generic drug market identified herein, by affecting,
fixing, controlling and/or maintaining at artificial and non-competitive levels, the prices at which
the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein were sold, distributed or obtained in
the State of New Hampshire; as well as, among other things, submitting false or misleading
cover bids and/or offers to the customers and wholesalers, and/or providing false or misleading
statements to prospective customers relating to supply capacity or reasons for bidding or not
bidding, and/or otherwise engaging in a course of conduct to induce contracting and purchasing
of generic products by customers at artificially inflated prices.

1984. Defendants’ illegal conduct, collectively and individually, all relates to generic
products that are intended and expected by consumers, private entities, and public entities to
provide great savings for consumers and purchasing entities in the health care industry, offending
public policy and comprising deceptive, unfair, immoral, unethical, oppressive or unscrupulous
conduct. NH RSA 358-A:2.

1985. These violations artificially inflated prices of generic drugs, substantially
affecting and harming the people of New Hampshire (consumers, public entities, and private
entities, alike) and having various past and ongoing harmful impacts within the state including
affecting New Hampshire commerce and affecting the choice of generic drugs available to
and/or prices paid by consumers and entities. The State of New Hampshire has reason to believe
that Defendants directly and/or indirectly through nationwide or regional distributors,
wholesalers, and retailers, sold or marketed the generic drugs at issue to the State of New

Hampshire, its agencies and municipalities, to New Hampshire businesses, and to individual
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consumers, and that such products were received and purchased by such consumers and entities
within the state, whether dealing with Defendants directly or indirectly.

1986. The State of New Hampshire has reason to believe that Defendants received ill-
gotten gains or proceeds as a result of their illegal conduct, and it would be inequitable and
unjust for Defendants to retain such profits and benefits without payment of value.

1987. Some or all of the violations by Defendants were willful and flagrant.

1988. The State of New Hampshire brings this action in its law enforcement capacity as
a sovereign or quasi-sovereign and in a parens patriae capacity on behalf of state consumers of
generic products, seeking legal and equitable remedies available under the New Hampshire
Antitrust Provisions, under the New Hampshire Consumer Protection Act, and under common
law such as unjust enrichment. New Hampshire seeks restoration to state consumers for
ascertainable loss incurred in making payments and purchases, whether direct or indirect, in
relation to the generic drug products identified herein, through among other things, restitution,
disgorgement, and/or injunctive relief. New Hampshire seeks injunctive relief to prohibit
Defendants from engaging in the unlawful business practices identified herein; civil penalties (in
double/treble multipliers); and recovery for compensable investigation and litigation costs,
expenses and attorney’s fees, and other relief as this Court deems just and equitable. See N.H.
RSA 356:4 et seq.; N.H. RSA 358-A:1 et seq.

1989. Plaintiff State of New Hampshire notified Defendants of this intended action at
least ten days prior to the commencement of this action and gave Defendants an opportunity to

confer with the attorney general in accordance with NH RSA 358-A:5.
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New Jersey

1990. Plaintiff State of New Jersey repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1991.  Defendants’ actions as alleged herein violate the New Jersey Antitrust Act,
N.J.S.A. 56:9-1 et seq., in that they have the purpose and/or effect of unreasonably restraining
trade and commerce within the State of New Jersey and elsewhere. N.J.S.A. 56:9-3. Plaintiff
State of New Jersey seeks relief including, but not limited to, injunctive relief, disgorgement,
civil penalties, and attorneys’ fees and investigative costs. N.J.S.A. 56:9-10.

1992.  Defendants’ actions as alleged herein violate the New Jersey Consumer Fraud
Act, N.J.S.A. 56:8-1 et seq., in that Defendants’ made misleading statements, omitted material
facts and engaged in unconscionable commercial practices in connection with the advertising,
offering for sale and sale of one or more of the drugs identified in this Complaint. N.J.S.A. 56:8-
2. Plaintiff State of New Jersey seeks relief including but not limited to, injunctive relief,
disgorgement, civil penalties and attorneys’ fees and investigative costs. N.J.S.A. 56:8-8, -11, -
13 and -19.

New Mexico

1992. Plaintiff State of New Mexico repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

1994. The State of New Mexico, through its Attorney General, brings this enforcement
action as parens patriae in its sovereign and quasi-sovereign capacity and in its proprietary
capacity on behalf of the State, including its agencies and entities, to recover damages to the
State, its residents, its economy, and all such other relief as may be authorized by statute or

common law.
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1995. The aforementioned actions and practices by Defendants were and are a contract,
agreement, combination, or conspiracy in an unreasonable restraint of trade or commerce in New
Mexico, thus violating the New Mexico Antitrust Act, N.M. Stat. Ann. § 57-1-1 et seq.

1996. The aforementioned actions and practices by Defendants were unfair or deceptive
trade practices as they were false or misleading oral or written statements or other
representations made in connection with the sale of goods in the regular course of their trade or
commerce, that may, tended to or did deceive or mislead consumers. These practices included
false or misleading statements of fact concerning the price and availability of drugs and failures
to state material facts about the costs of drugs, actions that deceived or tended to deceive
consumers. Additionally, Defendants' actions constituted unconscionable trade practices, because
they resulted in supra-competitive prices for the aforementioned drugs, resulting in a gross
disparity between the prices paid by consumers and the value received. These practices and
actions violated the New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, N.M. Stat. Ann. § 57-12-1 et. seq.

1997. The aforementioned actions and practices by Defendants also constitute unfair
competition and unjust enrichment under New Mexico’s common law.

1998. Accordingly, the State of New Mexico is entitled remedies available to it under
the New Mexico Antitrust Act, the New Mexico Unfair Practices Act, and New Mexico common
law, including injunctive relief, actual, treble, and statutory damages, restitution, disgorgement,
civil penalties, costs, attorney’s fees, and any other appropriate monetary and injunctive relief.
See N.M. Stat. Ann. §§ 57-1-3, -7, -8; N.M. Stat. Ann. § 57-12-8, -10, -11.

New York
1999. Plaintiff State of New York repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding

allegation as if fully set forth herein.
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2000. In addition to violating federal antitrust law, the aforementioned practices by the
Defendants violate New York antitrust law, the Donnelly Act, New York Gen. Bus. Law §§ 340-
342c, and constitute both "fraudulent" and "illegal" conduct in violation of New York Executive
Law § 63(12).

2001. Plaintiff State of New York seeks relief, including but not limited to damages, for
New York consumers and New York state entities that paid for one or more of the drugs
identified in this Complaint during the relevant period and thereby paid more than they would
have paid but for Defendants' unlawful conduct. Plaintiff State of New York also seeks, and is
entitled to, civil penalties, injunctive relief, other equitable relief (including but not limited to
disgorgement), and fees and costs.

North Carolina

2002. Plaintiff State of North Carolina repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

2003. Defendants' acts of distributing, marketing and selling generic pharmaceutical
drugs to consumers through drug wholesalers and distributors, pharmacy and supermarket
chains, and other resellers of generic pharmaceutical drugs and in otherwise engaging in the
conduct more fully described herein with respect to the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs
identified herein, the Defendants are engaging in trade or commerce that directly or indirectly
harmed North Carolina consumers pursuant to North Carolina’s Unfair or Deceptive Practices
Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1 et seq.

2004. The Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce in
each generic drug market identified herein that includes North Carolina, by affecting, fixing,

controlling and/or maintaining at artificial and non-competitive levels, the prices at which the
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numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein were sold, distributed or obtained in
North Carolina, deprived North Carolina consumers from paying a price for the numerous
generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein which would have been competitive and fair
absent the agreement to allocate customers and fix prices.

2005. The aforesaid methods, acts or practices constitute unfair methods of competition
and/or unfair acts or practices within their meaning under the North Carolina Unfair or Deceptive
Practices Act, and are injurious to North Carolina consumers and the general economy of the
State of North Carolina, including, but not limited to:

a. Violating Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C § 1, through engaging
in a market allocation agreement as set forth in the preceding counts;

b. Violating Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C § 1, through engaging
in a price-fixing agreement as set forth in the preceding counts;

c. Engaging in any conduct which causes substantial injury to consumers.

2006. By deceptively misrepresenting and/or omitting material facts concerning the
absence of competition in each generic drug market identified herein to the State of North
Carolina and North Carolina consumers, the Defendants misled the State of North Carolina and
North Carolina consumers into believing that prices for the numerous generic pharmaceutical
drugs identified herein were competitive and fair in violation of the North Carolina Unfair or
Deceptive Practices Act.

2007. The Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce in
each generic drug market identified herein that includes North Carolina, by affecting, fixing,

controlling and/or maintaining at artificial and non-competitive levels, the prices at which the
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numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein were sold, distributed or obtained in
North Carolina.

2008. The Defendants’ impairment of choice and the competitive process had the
following effects: (1) generic drug price competition was restrained, suppressed and eliminated
throughout North Carolina; (2) generic drug prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized
at artificially-high levels throughout North Carolina; (3) the State of North Carolina and North
Carolina consumers were deprived of free and open markets; and (4) the State of North Carolina
and North Carolina consumers paid supra-competitive, artificially inflated prices for the
numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein.

2009. The Defendants’ impairment of choice and the competitive process have caused
the State of North Carolina and North Carolina consumers to suffer and to continue to suffer loss
of money or property, real or personal, by means of Defendants’ use or employment of unfair
methods of competition and/or unfair acts or practices as set forth above.

2010. The Defendants’ deceptive misrepresentations and failure to disclose material
facts had the following effects: (1) generic drug price competition was restrained, suppressed
and eliminated throughout North Carolina; (2) generic drug prices were raised, fixed, maintained
and stabilized at artificially-high levels throughout North Carolina; (3) the State of North
Carolina and North Carolina consumers were deprived of free and open markets; and (4) the
State of North Carolina and North Carolina consumers paid supra-competitive, artificially
inflated prices for the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein.

2011. The Defendants’ deceptive misrepresentations and failure to disclose material

facts have caused the State of North Carolina and North Carolina consumers to suffer and to
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continue to suffer loss of money or property, real or personal, by means of Defendants’ use or

employment of deceptive commercial practices as set forth above.

2012. Defendants violated the North Carolina Unfair or Deceptive Practices Act:

a.

Each time Defendants agreed to participate in the overarching conspiracy
within the generic pharmaceutical drug market as set forth in Paragraphs
85 to 106;

Each time Defendants agreed to allocate the market for specific drugs in
the generic pharmaceutical drug market as set forth in Paragraphs 110 to
233;

Each time Defendants agreed to fix prices on the specified drugs in the
specified drug markets as set forth in Paragraphs 234 to 431;

Each time the State of North Carolina or a North Carolina consumer paid
an unfairly or unconscionably inflated price for any of the numerous
generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein;

Each time a Defendant failed to disclose the existence of a market
allocation agreement and/or a price-fixing agreement involving any of the
numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein;

Each time a Defendant submitted false or misleading cover bids and/or
offers to their customers and wholesalers;

Each time a Defendant provided false or misleading statements to
prospective customers related to supply capacity or reasons for bidding or

not bidding;
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h. Each time a request for reimbursement was made to the State of North
Carolina for any of the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified
herein; and

1. Each time the State of North Carolina or a North Carolina consumer paid
an artificially inflated price for any of the numerous generic
pharmaceutical drugs identified herein.

2013. Plaintiff State of North Carolina is entitled to relief pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. §
75-1 et seq., including recovery of its costs and attorneys’ fees pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-
16.1.

North Dakota

2014. Plaintiff State of North Dakota repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

2015. The aforementioned practices by Defendants are in violation of North Dakota’s
Uniform State Antitrust Act North Dakota Century Code (N.D.C.C.) § 51-08.1-01 et seq., and
Plaintiff State of North Dakota is entitled to relief for these violations under N.D.C.C. § 51-08.1-
01 et seq.

2016. The aforementioned practices by Defendants constitute unconscionable or
deceptive acts or practices in violation of the North Dakota Consumer Fraud Law, N.D.C.C. §51-
15-01 et seq., and Plaintiff State of North Dakota is entitled to relief for those violations under
N.D.C.C. §51-15-01 et seq.

Northern Mariana |l slands

2017. Plaintiff Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands repeats and re-alleges

each and every preceding allegation as if fully set forth herein.
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2018. The aforementioned practices by Defendants constitute “unfair acts or practices”
made illegal pursuant to the Commonwealth’s Consumer Protection Act, 4 CMC §§ 5101 et. seq.
Specifically, Defendants’ actions constitute unfair acts and practices pursuant to 4 CMC §5105
(m) engaging in any act or practice which is unfair or deceptive to the consumer; and (t)
engaging in price fixing which bears no reasonable relationship to the cost of the merchandise.

2019. In addition, the aforementioned practices by Defendants violate the
Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands’ Unfair Business Practices statutes, codified as
4 CMC §§ 5201 et. seq. Specifically, Defendants’ aforementioned actions are prohibited
activities pursuant to 4 CMC § 5202 (a) to create or carry out restrictions in trade or commerce;
(c) To prevent competition in the manufacture, making, transportation, sale, or purchase of any
merchandise, produce, or commodity; and (f) To make or enter into or carry out any contract,
obligation or agreement by which the persons do any of the following:

(1) Bind themselves not to sell, dispose of or transfer any article or commodity below a
common standard figure or fixed value; (2) Agree to keep the price of such
article, commodity or transportation at a fixed or graduated figure; (3) Establish
or set the price of any article, commodity or transportation between them or
themselves and others, so as directly or indirectly to preclude free and unrestricted
competition among themselves or any purchaser or consumer in the sale or
transportation of a any such article or commodity; and (4) Agree to pool, combine
or directly or indirectly unite any interest that they may have connected with the
sale or transportation of any such article or commodity that might in any way
affect its price.

2020. The Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands seeks equitable relief, civil
penalties, treble damages, costs of suit and any other relief available under the aforementioned

statutes and all other applicable laws, including without limitation attorney fees and costs

incurred in the pursuit of this action.
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Ohio

2021. Plaintiff State of Ohio repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding allegation
as if fully set forth herein.

2022. The aforementioned practices by Defendants were, and are, a per se illegal
conspiracy against trade in violation of Ohio Revised Code Section 1331.01 et seq, the common
law of Ohio, and void pursuant to Ohio Rev. Code § 1331.06. The State of Ohio, the general
economy of Ohio, Ohio entities and individuals in Ohio were harmed as a direct result of
Defendants’ per se illegal conduct. Defendants received ill-gotten gains or proceeds as a direct
result of their per se illegal conduct.

2023. Plaintiff State of Ohio seeks and is entitled to an injunction, disgorgement and
civil forfeiture pursuant to Ohio Rev. Code § 109.81 and Ohio Rev. Code §§ 1331.01 et seq,
including Section 1331.03, which requires a forfeiture of $500 per day that each violation was
committed or continued, and any other remedy available at law or equity.

Oklahoma

2024. Plaintiff State of Oklahoma repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation as if
fully set forth herein.

2025. The aforementioned practices by the Defendants are in violation of the Oklahoma
Antitrust Reform Act, 79 O.S. § 201 et seq., and Plaintiff State of Oklahoma is entitled to relief
under 79 O.S. § 205, including but not limited to: injunctive relief, disgorgement, costs,
attorney’s fees and any other appropriate relief for those violations.

Oregon
2026. Plaintiff State of Oregon repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding

allegation as if fully set forth herein.
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2027. The aforementioned practices by Defendants were, and are, in violation of the
Oregon Antitrust Law, Oregon Revised Statutes (“ORS”) 646.705, et seq. These violations had
impacts within the State of Oregon and substantially affected the people of Oregon.

2028. Plaintiff State of Oregon seeks all relief available under the Oregon Antitrust Act
for Oregon consumers and the State of Oregon, including injunctive, civil penalties, other
equitable relief including but not limited to disgorgement, the State of Oregon’s costs incurred in
bringing this action, plus reasonable attorney fees, expert witness fees, and costs of investigation,
and any other remedy available at law for these violations under ORS 646.760, ORS 646.770,
ORS 646.775, and ORS 646.780.

Pennsylvania

2029. Plaintiff Commonwealth of Pennsylvania repeats and re-alleges each and every

preceding allegation as if fully set forth herein.

Pennsylvania Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law

2030. In distributing, marketing and selling generic pharmaceutical drugs to consumers
through drug wholesalers and distributors, pharmacy and supermarket chains, and other resellers
of generic pharmaceutical drugs and in otherwise engaging in the conduct more fully described
herein with respect to the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein, the
Defendants are engaging in trade or commerce that directly or indirectly harmed the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers within the meaning of 73 P. S. §
201-2(3) of the Pennsylvania Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law

(“PUTPCPL”).
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Unfair Methods of Competition and Unfair Acts or Practices

2031. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants have impaired the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumer choice in each generic drug market identified herein.

2032. By impairing choice in what should have been a freely competitive marketplace
for the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein, the Defendants have deprived
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers from being able to
meaningfully choose from among the options a competitive market would have provided.

2033. The Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce in
each generic drug market identified herein that includes Pennsylvania, by affecting, fixing,
controlling and/or maintaining at artificial and non-competitive levels, the prices at which the
numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein were sold, distributed or obtained in
Pennsylvania.

2034. The Defendants impaired the competitive process which deprived the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers from paying a price for the
numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein which would have been competitive
and fair absent the agreement to allocate customers and fix prices.

2035. Regardless of the nature or quality of Defendants’ aforementioned acts or
practices on the competitive process or competition, Defendants’ conduct has been otherwise
unfair or unconscionable because they offend public policy as established by statutes, the
common law, or otherwise, are immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous, or substantially

injurious to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers.
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2036. Defendants’ unscrupulous conduct has resulted in the Commonwealth and its
consumers being substantially injured by paying more for or not being able to afford the
numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein.

2037. The Defendants’ impairment of choice and the competitive process had the
following effects: (1) generic drug price competition was restrained, suppressed and eliminated
throughout Pennsylvania; (2) generic drug prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at
artificially-high levels throughout Pennsylvania; (3) Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and
Pennsylvania consumers were deprived of free and open markets; and (4) Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers paid supra-competitive, artificially inflated prices for
the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein.

2038. The Defendants’ impairment of choice and the competitive process have caused
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers to suffer and to continue to
suffer loss of money or property, real or personal, by means of Defendants’ use or employment
of unfair methods of competition and/or unfair acts or practices as set forth above.

2039. Defendants violated the PUTPCPL.:

a. Each time Defendants agreed to participate in the overarching conspiracy
within the generic pharmaceutical drug market as set forth herein;

b. Each time Defendants agreed to allocate the market for specific drugs in
the generic pharmaceutical drug market as set forth herein;

C. Each time Defendants agreed to fix prices on the specified drugs in the
generic pharmaceutical drug market as set forth herein;

d. Each time Defendants agreed to allocate the market on the specified drugs

in the specified drug markets as set forth herein;
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e. Each time Defendants agreed to fix prices on the specified drugs in the
specified drug markets as set forth herein;

f. Each time Defendants agreed to decline to bid or otherwise bid high so as
to not take market share on the specified drugs in the specified drug
markets as set forth herein;

g. Each time Defendants knowingly breached a legal or equitable duty within
the generic pharmaceutical drug market as set forth herein; and

h. Each time the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or a Pennsylvania
consumer paid an unfairly or unconscionably inflated price for any of the
numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein.

2040. The Defendants’ conduct more fully described herein is unlawful pursuant to 73
P.S. § 201-3.

2041. The aforesaid methods, acts or practices constitute unfair methods of competition
and/or unfair acts or practices within their meaning under Sections 2 and 3 of the PUTPCPL,
including, but not limited to:

a. “Engaging in any other fraudulent or deceptive conduct which creates a
likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding” in violation of 73 P.S. §
201-2(4)(xx1).

2042. The above described conduct created the likelihood of confusion and
misunderstanding and exploited unfair advantage of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and
Pennsylvania consumers seeking to exercise a meaningful choice in a market expected to be free

of impairment to the competitive process and thus constitutes constructive fraud or, in the
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alternative, constructive fraud in its incipiency through one or more of the following breaches of
legal or equitable duties.
a. Violating Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C § 1, through engaging
in a market allocation agreement as set forth in the preceding counts;
b. Violating Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C § 1, through engaging
in a price-fixing agreement as set forth in the preceding counts;
c. Violating Pennsylvania antitrust common law through engaging in a
market allocation agreement;
d. Violating Pennsylvania antitrust common law through engaging in a price-
fixing agreement; and/or
e. Engaging in any conduct which causes substantial injury to consumers.

2043. The above described conduct substantially injured Pennsylvania consumers and
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

2044. The above described conduct has been willful within the meaning of 73 P.S. §
201-8 and is unlawful under the PUTPCPL.

2045. Pursuant to 71 P.S. § 201-4, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania believes that the
public interest is served by seeking a permanent injunction to restrain the methods, acts and
practices described herein, as well as seeking restoration, disgorgement and attorneys’ fees and
costs pursuant to 73 P.S. §§ 201-4 and 4.1 for the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and
Pennsylvania consumers and civil penalties of not exceeding $3,000 for each such willful
violation pursuant to 73 P.S. § 201-8 (b). The Commonwealth of Pennsylvania believes that the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and its citizens are suffering and will continue to suffer harm

unless the methods, acts and practices complained of herein are permanently enjoined.
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Deceptive Acts or Practices

2046. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants have deceptively misrepresented the
absence of competition in each generic drug market identified herein to the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers in violation of the PUTPCPL.

2047. By deceptively misrepresenting and/or omitting material facts concerning the
absence of competition in each generic drug market identified herein to the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers, the Defendants misled the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers into believing that prices for the numerous generic
pharmaceutical drugs identified herein were competitive and fair.

2048. The Defendants agreed to, and did in fact, act in restraint of trade or commerce in
in each generic drug market identified herein that includes Pennsylvania, by affecting, fixing,
controlling and/or maintaining at artificial and non-competitive levels, the prices at which the
numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein were sold, distributed or obtained in
Pennsylvania.

2049. The Defendants deceptively misrepresented to the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers that Defendants’ pricing at which the numerous
generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein were sold, distributed or obtained in Pennsylvania
was competitive and fair.

2050. Regardless of the nature or quality of Defendants’ aforementioned acts or
practices on the competitive process or competition, Defendants’ conduct has had the tendency

or capacity to deceive.
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2051. Defendants expressed, implied or otherwise falsely claimed conformance with
prescribed bidding practices to their customers and wholesalers in relation to the numerous
generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein.

2052. Defendants expressed, implied or otherwise falsely claimed supply capacity or
reasons to prospective customers for bidding or not bidding in relation to the numerous generic
pharmaceutical drugs identified herein.

2053. The Defendants’ deceptive misrepresentations and failure to disclose material
facts had the following effects: (1) generic drug price competition was restrained, suppressed
and eliminated throughout Pennsylvania; (2) generic drug prices were raised, fixed, maintained
and stabilized at artificially-high levels throughout Pennsylvania; (3) Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers were deprived of free and open markets; and (4)
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers paid supra-competitive, artificially
inflated prices for the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein.

2054. The Defendants’ deceptive misrepresentations and failure to disclose material
facts have caused Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers to suffer and to
continue to suffer loss of money or property, real or personal, by means of Defendants’ use or
employment of deceptive commercial practices as set forth above.

2055. Defendants violated the PUTPCPL.:

a. Each time a Defendant failed to disclose the existence of a market
allocation agreement and/or a price-fixing agreement involving any of the
numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein;

b. Each time a Defendant submitted false or misleading cover bids and/or

offers to their customers and wholesalers;
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Each time a Defendant provided false or misleading statements to
prospective customers related to supply capacity or reasons for bidding or
not bidding;

Each time a request for reimbursement was made to the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania for any of the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs
identified herein; and

Each time the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or a Pennsylvania
consumer paid an artificially inflated price for any of the numerous

generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein.

2056. The Defendants’ conduct more fully described herein is unlawful pursuant to 73

P.S.§201-3.

2057. The aforesaid methods, acts or practices constitute deceptive acts or practices

within their meaning under Sections 2 and 3 of the PUTPCPL, including, but not limited to:

a.

“Representing that goods or services have sponsorship, approval,
characteristics, ingredients, uses, benefits or quantities that they do not
have or that a person has a sponsorship, approval, status affiliation or
connection that he does not have” in violation of 73 P.S. § 201-2(4)(v);
“Representing that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality or
grade, or that goods are of a particular style or model, if they are of
another” in violation of 73 P.S. § 201-2(4)(vii); and

“Engaging in any other fraudulent or deceptive conduct which creates a
likelihood of confusion or of misunderstanding” in violation of 73 P.S. §

201-2(4)(xx1).
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2058. The above described conduct has been willful within the meaning of 73 P.S. §
201-8 and is unlawful under the PUTPCPL.

2059. Pursuant to 71 P.S. § 201-4, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania believes that the
public interest is served by seeking a permanent injunction to restrain the methods, acts and
practices described herein, as well as seeking restoration, disgorgement and attorneys’ fees and
costs pursuant to 73 P.S. §§ 201-4 and 4.1 for the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and
Pennsylvania consumers and civil penalties of not exceeding $3,000 for each such willful
violation pursuant to 73 P.S. § 201-8 (b). The Commonwealth of Pennsylvania believes that the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and its citizens are suffering and will continue to suffer harm
unless the methods, acts and practices complained of herein are permanently enjoined.

Common Law Doctrine against Restraint of Trade

2060. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants have entered into an agreement in
restraint of trade to allocate markets and fix prices in each generic drug market identified herein
within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

2061. The agreements to allocate customers and to fix pricing as set forth in the
preceding counts constitute an unreasonable restraint of trade in violation of Pennsylvania
antitrust common law.

2062. Unless Defendants’ overall anticompetitive scheme is enjoined, the Defendants
will continue to illegally restrain trade in the relevant market in concert with another in violation
of the Pennsylvania common law doctrine against unreasonable restraint of trade.

2063. Defendants’ conduct in engaging in a contract to unreasonably restrain trade

concerning the customers to whom and the prices at which the numerous generic pharmaceutical
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drugs identified herein were sold, distributed or obtained in Pennsylvania threatens injury to the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers.

2064. Defendants’ anticompetitive and unlawful conduct alleged herein has injured, is
injuring and will continue to injure competition in the relevant market by denying consumer
choice and otherwise thwarting competition in the relevant market.

2065. The Defendants’ contract in restraint of trade had the following effects: (1)
generic drug price competition was restrained, suppressed and eliminated throughout
Pennsylvania; (2) generic drug prices were raised, fixed, maintained and stabilized at artificially-
high levels throughout Pennsylvania; (3) Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania
consumers were deprived of free and open markets; and (4) Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and
Pennsylvania consumers paid supra-competitive, artificially inflated prices for the numerous
generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein.

2066. The Defendants’ illegal conduct has had a substantial effect on the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers.

2067. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ unlawful conduct, the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers have been injured in their business
and property.

2068. On behalf of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and its citizens pursuant to 71
P.S. §732-204 (c), Pennsylvania seeks injunctive relief, disgorgement and any other relief the

Court deems proper.
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Common Law Doctrine against Unjust Enrichment

2069. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants have been unjustly enriched as a result
of the conduct set forth herein with respect to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and
Pennsylvania consumers.

2070. The Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers were
purchasers, reimbursers and/or end-payors of Defendants’ numerous generic pharmaceutical
drugs identified herein and have paid amounts far in excess of the competitive prices for such
drugs that would have prevailed in a competitive and fair market.

2071. Defendants knew of, and appreciated and retained, or used, the benefits of
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers’ purchases of any of the
Defendants’ numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein at amounts far in excess of
the competitive price. Defendants engaged in the conduct described herein to increase the
market share of the numerous generic pharmaceutical drugs identified herein thereby increasing
their sales and profits.

2072. For those customers that purchase directly or indirectly from Defendants at
artificially inflated and supra-competitive prices, Defendants have increased prices above what
would have prevailed in a competitive and fair market; thereby, directly benefiting Defendants in
the form of increased revenues.

2073. Based on Defendants’ conduct set forth herein, it would be inequitable and unjust
for Defendants to retain such benefits without payment of value.

2074. Defendants will be unjustly enriched if they are permitted to retain the direct or
indirect benefits received or used resulting from the purchase of any of the numerous generic

pharmaceutical drugs identified herein by the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania
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consumers. The Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, on behalf of itself and Pennsylvania
consumers, seeks to recover the amounts that unjustly enriched the Defendants.

2075. The Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and Pennsylvania consumers are therefore
entitled to equitable relief in the form of an injunction, restitution and disgorgement and any
other relief the Court deems appropriate.

Puerto Rico

2076. Plaintiff Commonwealth of Puerto Rico repeats and re-alleges each and every
preceding allegation as if fully set forth herein.

2077. The aforementioned practices by Defendants were in violation of Puerto Rico
Law No. 77 of June 25, 1964, also known as “Puerto Rico's Antitrust and Restrictions of
Commerce Law”, 10 P.R. Laws Ann. §§ 257 et seq., and 32 P.R. Laws Ann. § 3341.

2078. The Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, through its Attorney General, brings this
enforcement action as parens patriae in its proprietary capacity on behalf of the Commonwealth,
including its agencies and entities, to recover damages to the Commonwealth and all such other
relief as may be authorized by statute or common law.

2079. Accordingly, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico is entitled remedies available
under the Puerto Rico's Antitrust and Restrictions of Commerce Law and 32 P.R. Laws Ann. §
3341, including injunctive relief, civil penalties and damages for the Commonwealth agencies
and entities and any other appropriate monetary and injunctive relief.

Rhode I and
2080. Plaintiff State of Rhode Island repeats and re-alleges every preceding allegation

as if fully set forth herein.
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2081. Defendants’ actions as alleged herein violate the Rhode Island Antitrust Act, R.1.
Gen. Laws § 6-36-1, et seq.

2082. Plaintiff State of Rhode Island brings this action pursuant to R.I. General Laws §§
6-36-10, 6-36-11 and 6-36-12 and seeks relief, including but not limited to injunctive relief, civil
penalties, other equitable relief (including but not limited to disgorgement), fees, costs, and such
other relief as this court deems just and equitable.

2083. Defendants’ actions as alleged herein constitute unfair methods of competition
and unfair or deceptive acts or practices as defined in the Rhode Island Deceptive Trade
Practices Act, R.I. Gen. Laws § 6-13.3-1, et seq.

2084. Defendants engaged in unfair or deceptive acts or practices in connection with the
sale or advertisement of merchandise by, among other things, making misrepresentations and
taking steps to conceal their anticompetitive schemes.

2085. Defendants’ violations of the Rhode Island Deceptive Trade Practices Act were
willful, in that they knew or should have known that their conduct was of the nature prohibited
by R.I. Gen. Laws § 6-13.1-2, as defined by the R.I. General Laws § 6-13.1-1(6).

2086. Plaintiff State of Rhode Island brings this action pursuant to Rhode Island Gen.
Laws § 6-13.1-5, and seeks relief, including but not limited to injunctive relief, restitution,
disgorgement and other equitable relief, fees, costs, and such other relief as this court deems just
and equitable.

South Carolina

2087. Plaintiff South Carolina repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding

allegation as if fully set forth herein.
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2088. The aforementioned practices by Defendants constitute "unfair methods of
competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices" under §39-5-20 of the South Carolina
Code of Laws. The State of South Carolina asserts claims in a statutory parens patriae capacity
under S.C. Code § 39-5-50(a) and a common law parens patriae capacity. Pursuant to S.C. Code
§ 39-5-50(a), South Carolina seeks injunctive relief to prohibit Defendants from engaging in the
conduct described in this complaint.

2089. Defendants knew or reasonably should have known that their conduct violated
S.C. Code § 39-5-20. Under S.C. Code § 39-5-110(c), Defendants' conduct therefore constitutes
a willful violation of S.C. Code § 39-5-20. Accordingly, South Carolina seeks an award of civil
penalties under S.C. Code § 39-5-110(a) in an amount up to $5,000.00 per violation in South
Carolina.

2090. South Carolina seeks attorneys' fees and costs under S.C. Code § 39-5-50(a).

Tennessee

2091. Plaintiff State of Tennessee repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

2092. This is an action that alleges violation of Tennessee's antitrust law, the Tennessee
Trade Practices Act, Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 47-25-101 et seq.

2093. Defendants directly and/or indirectly through nationwide distributors,
wholesalers, and retailers, sold or marketed the generic drugs at issue to the State of Tennessee
and its agencies, Tennessee businesses, and individual consumers.

2094. Defendants made arrangements or agreements with a view to lessening, or which
tend to lessen, full and free competition in the sale in Tennessee of, or which were designed to

advance or control the prices charged for, the generic drugs at issue.
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2095. Defendants’ conduct affected Tennessee commerce to a substantial degree and
substantially affected the people of Tennessee, by affecting the choice of generic drugs available
to, and/or the prices paid by, the State of Tennessee and its agencies, Tennessee businesses, and
individual consumers for such generic drugs.

2096. The aforementioned conduct by Defendants was in violation of Tennessee's
antitrust law, the Tennessee Trade Practices Act, Tenn. Code Ann. §§ 47-25-101 et seq.

2097. As adirect and proximate result of Defendants’ illegal conduct, the State of
Tennessee and its agencies, Tennessee businesses, and individual consumers have been harmed
and will continue to be harmed, by, inter alia, paying more for generic drugs purchased directly
and/or indirectly from the Defendants and their co-conspirators than they would have paid in the
absence of the illegal conduct.

2098. The State of Tennessee is entitled to relief for purchases of affected generic drugs
by the State of Tennessee and its agencies, Tennessee businesses, and individual consumers.

2099. On behalf of the State and its agencies, Tennessee businesses, and individual
consumers, the State of Tennessee seeks all legal and equitable relief available under the
Tennessee Trade Practices Act and the common law, including, but not limited to: damages for
purchases of the affected generic drugs; equitable relief including disgorgement and injunctive
relief; attorneys’ fees and costs; and such other and further relief as this Court deems just and
equitable.

Utah
2100. Plaintiff State of Utah repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding allegation

as if fully set forth herein.
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2101. The aforementioned acts by Defendants violate the Utah Antitrust Act, Utah Code
§§ 76-10-3101 through 76-10-3118 (the “UAA”), and Utah common law. Accordingly, Plaintiff
State of Utah, by and through the Attorney General of Utah, on behalf of itself, Utah
governmental entities, and as parens patriae for its natural persons, is entitled to all available
relief under the UAA and Utah common law, including, without limitation, damages (including
treble damages, where permitted), injunctive relief, including disgorgement, restitution, unjust
enrichment, and other equitable monetary relief, civil penalties, and its costs and reasonable
attorneys’ fees.

2102. The aforementioned acts by Defendants violate the Utah Consumer Sales Practices
Act, Utah Code §§ 13-11-1 through 13-11-23 (the “CSPA”). Accordingly, Plaintiff State of Utah,
Division of Consumer Protection, is entitled to relief under the CSPA, including, without
limitation, injunctive relief, civil penalties, costs, including costs of investigation, and reasonable
attorneys’ fees.

Vermont

2103. Plaintiff State of Vermont repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

2104. Plaintiff State of Vermont brings this action in its law enforcement capacity as a
sovereign or quasi-sovereign and in a parens patriae capacity on behalf of state consumers of
generic products.

2105. Defendants’ actions alleged herein constitute unfair methods of competition in
commerce and unfair and deceptive acts and practices in commerce and thereby violate the

Vermont Consumer Protection Act, 9 V.S.A. § 2453.
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2106. Plaintiff State of Vermont seeks and is entitled to injunctive relief, civil penalties,
other equitable relief (including but not limited to restitution and disgorgement), and its costs and
fees for these violations pursuant to 9 V.S.A. §§ 2458, 2461 and 2465.

Virginia

2107. Plaintiff Commonwealth of Virginia repeats and re-alleges each and every
preceding allegation as if fully set forth herein.

2108. The aforementioned practices by Defendants are in violation of the Virginia
Antitrust Act, Virginia Code Sections 59.1-9.1, et seq. These violations substantially affect the
people of Virginia and have impacts within the Commonwealth of Virginia.

2109. Plaintiff Commonwealth of Virginia, through the Attorney General, brings this
action pursuant to the Virginia Antitrust Act, Virginia Code Section 59.1-9.15. Pursuant to
Sections 59.1-9.15(a) and (d), Plaintiff Commonwealth of Virginia seeks disgorgement,
restitution, and other equitable relief, as well as civil penalties for these violations and reasonable
fees and costs for the investigation and litigation.

Washington

2110. Plaintiff State of Washington repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

2111. The aforementioned practices by Defendants were, and are, in violation of the
Washington Consumer Protection Act, Wash. Rev. Code 19.86.020 and .030. Defendants have
also engaged in conduct in violation of RCW 19.86.020 that is not a reasonable business practice
and constitutes incipient violations of antitrust law and/or unilateral attempts to fix prices or
allocate markets. These violations have impacts within the State of Washington and

substantially affect the people of Washington.
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2112. Plaintiff State of Washington seeks relief, including but not limited to damages,
for Washington consumers and Washington state agencies that paid more for the generic drugs at
issue than they would have paid but for the Defendants’ unlawful conduct. Plaintiff State of
Washington also seeks, and is entitled to, injunctive relief, other equitable relief (including but
not limited to disgorgement), civil penalties, and costs and fees under the Consumer Protection
Act, Wash Rev. Code 19.86.080 and 19.86.140.

West Virginia

2113. Plaintiff State of West Virginia repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

2114. Defendants’ acts violate the West Virginia Antitrust Act, see W. Va. Code § 47—
18—1 et seq. These violations substantially affected the State of West Virginia and had impacts
within the State of West Virginia.

2115. West Virginia affirmatively expresses that the State is not seeking any relief in
this action for the federal share of funding for West Virginia’s Medicaid Program.

2116. Claims for damages for any federal monies expended by the State of West
Virginia are hereby expressly disavowed.

2117. Plaintiff State of West Virginia is entitled to all remedies available at law or in equity
(including injunctive relief, disgorgement, restitution, and reimbursement), as well as civil
penalties under West Virginia Code § 47-18-1 et seq.

2118. Plaintiff State of West Virginia also is entitled to recover its costs and attorneys’

fees under West Virginia Code § 47—-18-9.

540



Wisconsin

2119. Plaintiff State of Wisconsin repeats and re-alleges each and every preceding
allegation as if fully set forth herein.

2120. The aforementioned practices by Defendants are in violation of Wisconsin's
Antitrust Act, Wis. Stat. Ch. § 133.03 et seq. These violations substantially affect the people of
Wisconsin and have impacts within the State of Wisconsin.

2121. Plaintiff State of Wisconsin, under its antitrust enforcement authority in Wis. Stat.
Ch. 133, is entitled to all remedies available at law or in equity under Wis. Stat. §§ 133.03,
133.14, 133.16, 133.17, and 133.18.

U.S. Virgin I slands

2122. Plaintiff the Territory of the U.S. Virgin Islands repeats and re-alleges each and
every preceding allegation as if fully set forth herein.

2123. The aforementioned practices by Defendants violate the Virgin Islands
Monopolies and Restraints of Trade Act, 11 V.I.C. § 1503 and the Consumer Fraud and
Deceptive Business Practices Act 12A V.I.C. § 304.

2124. The U.S. Virgin Islands requests that the Court permanently enjoin Defendants,
under 11 V.I.C. § 1507(1) and 12A V.I.C. § 328(a) from engaging in any acts or practices that
violate 11 V.I.C. § 1503 and 12A V.I.C. § 304; order Defendants to pay the maximum civil
penalty under 11 V.I.C. § 1507 (4), and 12A V.I.C. § 328(b) for each and every violation of 11
V.I.C. § 1503, and 12A V.I.C. § 304, respectively; and further requests that the Court grants all

other legal and equitable relief that the Court deems appropriate.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Accordingly, the Plaintiff States request that the Court:

A.

Adjudge and decree that Defendants violated Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15
US.C.§ 1;

Adjudge and decree that the foregoing activities violated each of the State statutes
enumerated in this Complaint;

Enjoin and restrain, pursuant to federal and state law, Defendants, their affiliates,
assignees, subsidiaries, successors, and transferees, and their officers, directors,
partners, agents and employees, and all other persons acting or claiming to act on
their behalf or in concert with them, from continuing to engage in any anticompetitive
conduct or in any unfair or deceptive acts or practices in violation of state consumer
protection law, and from adopting in the future any practice, plan, program, or device
having a similar purpose or effect to the actions set forth above;

Award to Plaintiff States disgorgement of the Defendants' ill-gotten gains and any
other equitable relief as the Court finds appropriate to redress Defendants' violations
of federal law or state antitrust and consumer protection laws to restore competition;
Award to the Plaintiff States damages, including treble damages, to the extent sought
pursuant to applicable state laws as enumerated above;

Award to each Plaintiff State the maximum civil penalties allowed by law as
enumerated above;

Award restitution to the Plaintiff States that seek it;

Award to each Plaintiff State its costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees; and

Order any other relief that this Court deems proper.
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JURY DEMAND

The Plaintiff States demand a trial by jury, pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure, on all issues triable as of right by jury.

PLAINTIFF

WILLIAM TONG
ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: ﬁﬂ ] 7}0@@&0@&

(W. Joseph Nielsen
Federal Bar No. ct20415
Laura J. Martella
Federal Bar No. ¢t27380
Christine Miller
Federal Bar No. ct30794
Assistant Attorneys General
165 Capital Ave.
Hartford, CT 06106
Tel: (860) 808-5040
Fax: (860) 808-5033
Joseph.Nielsen(@ct.gov
Laura.Martella@ct.gov
Christine.Miller(@ct.gov
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF ALABAMA
STEVE MARSHALL
ATTORNEY GENERAL

John A. Selden

Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General

501 Washington Avenue
Montgomery, AL 36130

Telephone: (334) 242-7300

Fax: (334) 242-8400

Email: John.Selden@AlabamaAG.gov
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF ALASKA
KEVIN G. CLARKSON
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Margaret Paton-Walsh
(Alaska Bar No. 0411074)
Jeff Pickett

(Alaska Bar No. 9906022)
Assistant Attorneys General
Alaska Department of Law
1031 W. 4" Avenue, Suite 200
Anchorage, AK 99501

Tel: (907) 269-5100

Fax: (907) 276-3697
margaret.paton-walsh@alaska.gov
jeff.pickett@alaska.gov
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF ARIZONA
MARK BRNOVICH
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF ARIZONA

DANA R. VOGEL

(Arizona Bar No. 030748)
Antitrust Unit Chief
CHRISTINA M. GREY
(Arizona Bar No. 035822)
Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General
Civil Litigation Division, Antitrust Unit
2005 North Central Avenue
Phoenix, AZ 85004-1592
Telephone: (602) 542-7748
Fax: (602) 542-9088
Dana.Vogel@azag.gov
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FOR THE PLAINTIFF STATE OF ARKANSAS

LESLIE RUTLEDGE
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Johnathan R. Carter — AR Bar # 2007105
Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Arkansas Attorney General
323 Center Street, Suite 200

Little Rock, AR 72201

Telephone: 501.682.8063

Fax: 501.682.8118

Email: Johnathan.Carter@Arkansasag.gov
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF COLORADO
PHILIP J. WEISER
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Diane R. Hazel

Acting First Assistant Attorney General
Abigail Smith

Assistant Attorney General
Colorado Department of Law
Consumer Protection Section
1300 Broadway, Seventh Floor
Denver, Colorado 80203
Telephone: 720-508-6219
Email: diane.hazel@coag.gov
abigail.smith@coag.gov
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STATE OF DELAWARE
KATHLEEN JENNINGS
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Michael A. Undorf

Deputy Attorney General

Delaware Department of Justice

820 N. French St., 5™ Floor
Wilmington, DE 19801

Telephone: (302) 577-8924

Email: michael.undorf@delaware.gov
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FOR PLAINTIFF DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

KARL A. RACINE
Attorney General for the District of Columbia

KATHLEEN M. KONOPKA
Deputy Attorney General
Public Advocacy Division
CATHERINE A. JACKSON
Chief, Public Integrity Section
ELIZABETH G. ARTHUR
Assistant Attorney General
Public Integrity Section

441 Fourth Street, N.W., Suite 630 South
Washington, D.C. 20001
(202) 742-6514
elizabeth.arthur@dc.gov

Attorneys for the District of Columbia
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF FLORIDA
ASHLEY MOODY
Attorney General

JOHN GUARD

(Florida Bar No. 374600)
Chief Deputy Attorney General
PATRICIA A. CONNERS
(Florida Bar No. 361275)
Chief Associate Deputy Attorney General
LIZABETH A. BRADY
(Florida Bar No. 457991)
Chief, Multistate Enforcement
TIMOTHY FRASER

(Florida Bar No. 957321)
Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Attorney General
State of Florida

PL-01, The Capitol
Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050
Tel: (850) 414-3300

Fax: (850) 488-9134
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF GEORGIA
CHRISTOPHER M. CARR
Attorney General of Georgia

Daniel S. Walsh

Senior Assistant Attorney General
Dale Margolin Cecka

Assistant Attorney General
Department of Law

State of Georgia

40 Capitol Square, SW

Atlanta, Georgia 30334-1300

Tel: 404/657-2204 Fax: 404-656-0677
dwalsh@law.ga.gov
dcecka@law.ga.gov
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FOR THE TERRITORY OF GUAM
LEEVIN TAITANO CAMACHO
Attorney General

Marinna N. Julian

Assistant Attorney General
Consumer Protection Division
590 South Marine Corps Drive
Suite 901, ITC Building
Tamuning, Guam 96913 = USA
Telephone: (671) 475-3324
Facsimile: (671) 472-2493
mnjulian@oagguam.org

ATTORNEY FOR THE TERRITORY OF
GUAM
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FOR THE STATE OF HAWAII
CLARE E. CONNORS
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF HAWAII

BRYAN C. YEE

RODNEY I. KIMURA

Deputy Attorneys General
Department of the Attorney General
425 Queen Street

Honolulu, Hawaii 96813

Tel: 808-586-1180

Fax: 808-586-1205
Bryan.c.yee@hawaii.gov
Rodney.i.kimura@hawaii.gov
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF IDAHO
LAWRENCE G. WASDEN
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Brett T. DeLange

John K. Olson

David Young

Deputy Attorneys General
Consumer Protection Division
Office of the Attorney General
954 W. Jefferson Street, 2" Floor
P.O. Box 83720

Boise, Idaho 83720-0010
Telephone: (208) 334-4114
Fax: (208) 334-4151
brett.delange@ag.idaho.gov
john.olson@ag.idaho.gov
david.young@ag.idaho.gov
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF ILLINOIS
KWAME RAOUL
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Blake L. Harrop

Chief, Antitrust Bureau

Joseph B. Chervin

Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Illinois Attorney General

Antitrust Bureau

100 W. Randolph Street

Chicago, IL 60601

Telephone: (312) 814-1004

Fax: (312) 814-4209

Email: bharrop@atg.state.il.us
jchervin@atg.state.il.us

Attorney for the Sate of Illinois
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Respectfully submitted,
Office of the Indiana Attorney General

TAMARA WEAVER
Deputy Attorney General

PHILIP RIZZO
Deputy Attorney General

JUSTIN G. HAZLETT

Section Chief, Consumer Protection
Division

302 West Washington St., 5th Floor
IGCS -5th Floor

Indianapolis, IN 46204

Tel: (317) 234-7122
Fax: (317) 233-4393

ATTORNEYS FOR THE
STATE OF INDIANA
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ATTORNEYS FOR THE
STATE OF IOWA

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of lowa

Max M. Miller

Assistant Attorney General

Consumer Protection Division
Hoover Office Building-Second Floor
1305 East Walnut Street

Des Moines, IA 50319

Tel: (515) 281-5926

Fax: (515) 281-6771
Max.Miller@ag.iowa.gov

ATTORNEYS FOR THE
STATE OF IOWA
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF KANSAS
DEREK SCHMIDT
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Lynette R. Bakker

Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Kansas Attorney General
120 S.W. 10th Avenue, 2nd Floor
Topeka, KS 66612-1597

Telephone: (785) 368-8451

Fax: (785) 291-3699

Email: lynette.bakker@ag.ks.gov
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DANIEL CAMERON
Attorney General of Kentucky

Jonathan Farmer

Assistant Attorneys General

Office of the Attorney General of Kentucky
1024 Capital Center Drive, Suite 200
Frankfort, KY 40601

Tel: 502-696-5300

Fax: 502-573-8317
Jonathan.Farmer@ky.gov

ATTORNEYS FOR THE STATE OF KENTUCKY
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FOR PLAINTIFF
STATE OF LOUISIANA
JEFF LANDRY
Attorney General

State of Louisiana

STACIE L. DEBLIEUX

LA Bar # 29142

Assistant Attorney General

Public Protection Division

1885 North Third St.

Baton Rouge, LA 70802

Tel: (225) 326-6400

Fax: (225) 326-6499

Email: deblieuxs@ag.louisiana.gov
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AARON M. FREY
Attorney General of Maine

Christina Moylan

Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General of Maine
6 State House Station

Augusta, ME 04333

Tel: 207-626-8838

Fax: 207-624-7730
christina.moylan@maine.gov

ATTORNEYS FOR THE
STATE OF MAINE
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BRIAN E. FROSH
MARYLAND ATTORNEY GENERAL

John R. Tennis
Assistant Attorney General
Chief, Antitrust Division

Schonette J. Walker

Assistant Attorney General
Deputy Chief, Antitrust Division
Office of the Attorney General
200 St. Paul Place, 19" Floor
Baltimore, Maryland 21202

Tel. # (410) 576-6470

Fax # (410) 576-7830
jtennis@oag.state.md.us
swalker@oag.state.md.us

Attorneys for the State of Maryland
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FOR PLAINTIFF COMMONWEALTH
OF MASSACHUSETTS

MAURA HEALEY

ATTORNEY GENERAL

William T. Matlack (MA BBO No. 552109)
Assistant Attorney General

Chief, Antitrust Division

Michael B. MacKenzie (MA BBO No. 683305)
Assistant Attorney General

Deputy Chief, Antitrust Division

Daniel H. Leff (MA BBO No. 689302)
Assistant Attorney General

Antitrust Division

One Ashburton Place

Boston, MA 02108

Tel: (617) 727-2200

Fax: (617) 722-0184 (fax)
William.Matlack@mass.gov
Michael.Mackenzie(@mass.gov
Daniel.Leff(@mass.gov
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FOR PLAINTIFF
STATE OF MICHIGAN
DANA NESSEL
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Carl Hammaker

Assistant Attorney General

Corporate Oversight Division

Michigan Department of Attorney General
G. Mennen Williams Building, 6th Floor
525 W. Ottawa Street

Lansing, Michigan 48933
hammakerc@michigan.gov

Telephone: (517) 335-7632

Fax: (517) 335-6755
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FOR PLAINTIFF
STATE OF MINNESOTA

KEITH ELLISON
ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. CANADAY
Deputy Attorney General

JASON PLEGGENKUHLE
ELIZABETH ODETTE
JOSEPH C. MEYER
Assistant Attorneys General

Office of the Minnesota Attorney General
Suite 1400

445 Minnesota Street

St. Paul, MN 55101

Telephone: (651) 757-1433

Fax: (651) 296-9663

Email: Joseph.Meyer@ag.state.mn.us
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LYNN FITCH, ATTORNEY GENERAL
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

By: Crystal Utley Secoy, MSBN 102132
Special Assistant Attorney General

Consumer Protection Division
Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 22947
Jackson, Mississippi 39225
Telephone: 601-359-4213
Fax: 601-359-4231

Email: cutle@ago.state.ms.us
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF MISSOURI

ERIC S. SCHMITT
Attorney General

Michael Schwalbert, E.D. MO Bar No. 63229MO
Assistant Attorney General

815 Olive Street, Suite 200

Saint Louis, Missouri 63101

Tel: (314) 340-7888

Fax: (314) 340-7957
Michael.Schwalbert@ago.mo.gov

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF
STATE OF MISSOURI
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STATE OF MONTANA
TIMOTHY C. FOX
Attorney General

MARK MATTIOLI

Chief, Consumer Protection
CHUCK MUNSON
Assistant Attorney General

MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
OFFICE OF CONSUMER PROTECTION
555 Fuller Avenue

P.O. Box 200151

Helena, MT 59620-0151

(406) 444-4500

FAX: (406) 442-1894

cmunson@mt.gov
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF NEBRASKA,
DOUGLAS J. PETERSON,
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Shereece Dendy-Sanders

Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Nebraska Attorney General
2115 State Capitol

Lincoln, NE 68509

Tel: 402-471-9305

Fax: 402-471-4725
shereece.dendy-sanders(@nebraska.gov
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF NEVADA

AARON D. FORD
Nevada Attorney General

ERNEST D. FIGUEROA
Consumer Advocate

Lucas J. Tucker

Senior Deputy Attorney General
Office of the Nevada Attorney General
Bureau of Consumer Protection

8945 West Russell Road., Suite 204
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148

Nevada Bar No. 10252
LTucker@ag.nv.gov

Marie W.L. Martin

Senior Deputy Attorney General
Office of the Nevada Attorney General
Bureau of Consumer Protection

100 N. Carson Street

Carson City, NV 89701

Nevada Bar No. 07808
MMartin@ag.nv.gov
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FOR THE PLAINTIFF

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

By its attorney,

Gordon J. MacDonald

Attorney General of New Hampshire

Gregory M. Albert, NH Bar #20058
Assistant Attorney General

Consumer Protection and Antitrust Bureau
NH Department of Justice

33 Capitol Street

Concord, NH 03301
Gregory.Albert@doj.nh.gov

(603) 271-1196
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GURBIR S. GREWAL
Attorney General of New Jersey

Robert N. Holup

Deputy Attorney General
State of New Jersey

Office of the Attorney General
Division of Law

124 Halsey Street — 5th Floor
Newark, New Jersey 07102
Tel: (973) 648-7819

Fax: (973) 648-4887
Robert.Holup@law.njoag.gov

ATTORNEYS FOR THE
STATE OF NEW JERSEY
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF NEW MEXICO
HECTOR BALDERAS
ATTORNEY GENERAL

P. Cholla Khoury

Nicholas M. Sydow
Assistant Attorneys General
P.O. Drawer 1508

Santa Fe, NM 87504-1508
Telephone: (505) 490-4060
Fax: (505) 490-4881

Email: ckhoury@nmag.gov
nsydow(@nmag.gov
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Respectfully submitted,

LETITIA JAMES
Attorney General of the State of New York

CHRISTOPHER D’ANGELO
Chief Deputy Attorney General
Economic Justice Division

ELINOR HOFFMANN
Acting Chief, Antitrust Bureau

ROBERT L. HUBBARD
AMBER WESSELS-YEN
BEATRIZ MARQUES
Assistant Attorneys General

28 Liberty, 20" Floor

New York, New York 10005
Tel: (212) 416-8267

Fax: (212) 416-6015

ATTORNEYS FOR THE
STATE OF NEW YORK
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FOR PLAINTIFF
STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA

Respectfully submitted,

JOSHUA H. STEIN
Attorney General of North Carolina

Kimberley A. D'Arruda
Special Deputy Attorney General
kdarruda@ncdoj.gov

Jessica V. Sutton
Assistant Attorney General
1sutton2(@ncdoj.gov

North Carolina Dept. of Justice
Consumer Protection Division
114 West Edenton Street
Raleigh, NC 27603
Telephone: (919) 716-6000
Fax: (919) 716-6050
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STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA
Wayne Stenehjem
Attorney General

Parrell D. Grossman, ND ID 04684
Assistant Attorney General
Director, Consumer Protection &
Antitrust Division

Office of Attorney General
Gateway Professional Center
1050 E Interstate Ave, Ste 200
Bismarck, ND 58503--5574
Telephone (701) 328-5570
Facsimile (701) 328-5568
pgrossman(@nd.gov

Attorneys for the Sate of North Dakota
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FOR THE COMMONWEALTH OF THE
NORTHERN MARIANA ISLANDS
EDWARD E. MANIBUSAN
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Lillian A. Tenorio

Deputy Attorney General

Abbi Novotny

Assistant Attorney General

Office of the Attorney General

Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands
2" Floor Hon. Juan A. Sablan Memorial Building
Caller Box 10007, Capital Hill

Saipan, MP 96950

Tel: 670-234-7529

Fax: 670-665-2349

deputy AG@cnmioag.org

abbi_novotny@cnmioag.org
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Respectfully submitted,

DAVE YOST
Attorney General of Ohio

Jennifer Pratt

Chief, Antitrust Section

Beth A. Finnerty

Assistant Section Chief, Antitrust Section
Edward J. Olszewski

Principal Assistant Attorney General
Office of the Ohio Attorney General
Antitrust Section

150E.Gay St., 22nd Floor

Columbus, OH 43215

Tel: (614) 466-4328

Fax: (614) 995-0269
edward.olszewski@ohioattorneygeneral.gov

ATTORNEYS FOR THE
STATE OF OHIO

579



FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF OKLAHOMA
MIKE HUNTER
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Caleb J. Smith, OBA No. 33613
Assistant Attorney General

Consumer Protection Unit

Oklahoma Office of the Attorney General
313 NE 21st St

Oklahoma City, OK 73105

Tel. (405) 522-1014

Fax (405) 522-0085
Caleb.Smith@oag.ok.gov

580



STATE OF OREGON

ELLEN F. ROSENBLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

TIM D. NORD, OSB 882800
Special Counsel

Civil Enforcement Division
Oregon Department of Justice
1162 Court Street NE

Salem, OR 97301-4096

Tel: (503) 934-4400

Fax: (503) 373-7067
tim.d.nord(@doj.state.or.us

CHERYL F. HIEMSTRA, OSB 133857
Assistant Attorney General

Civil Enforcement Division

Oregon Department of Justice

1162 Court Street NE

Salem, OR 97301-4096

Tel: (503) 934-4400

Fax: (503) 373-7067
cheryl.hiemstra@doj.state.or.us
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COMMONWEALTH OF
PENNSYLVANIA
Office of the Attorney General

JOSH SHAPIRO
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Tracy W. Wertz
Chief Deputy Attorney General
Aantitrust Section

Joseph S. Betsko
Senior Deputy Attorney General
Antitrust Section

Abigail U. Wood

Stephen M. Scannell (pro hac vice pending)
Deputy Attorneys General

Antitrust Section

Pennsylvania Office of Attorney General
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Phone: 717-787-4530

Fax: 717-787-1190
twertz@attorneygeneral.gov
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ATTORNEYS FOR THE
COMMONWEALTH
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FOR PLAINTIFF COMMONWEALTH OF
PUERTO RICO

DENNISE N. LONGO QUINONES
Attorney General

Johan M. Rosa Rodriguez

Attorney

PR Bar No. 16819

P.O. Box 9020192

San Juan, Puerto Rico 00902-0192
Tel: (787) 721-2900, ext. 2600, 2601
Fax: (787) 721-3223
jorosa(@justicia.pr.gov
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FOR PLAINTIFF STATE OF RHODE ISLAND

PETER F. NERONHA
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Julia C. Wyman (#9017)

Special Assistant Attorney General
R.I. Office of Attorney General
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